# SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTS AS SENSOR, LUMINESCENT MARKER AND REDUCING AGENT

Thesis submitted to the university of Calicut in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of

#### **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

in Chemistry under the Faculty of Sciences

by

## ANSI V.A.

Under the guidance of **Dr. Renuka N.K** 



DEPARTMENT OF CHEMISTRY UNIVERSITY OF CALICUT KERALA-673635 MARCH-2021

### CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the thesis entitled "SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTS AS SENSOR, LUMINESCENT MARKER AND REDUCING AGENT"submitted by Ansi.V.A to the University of Calicut for the award for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry under the faculty of Science, is an authentic record of research work carried out at the Department of Chemistry, University of Calicut under my guidance and supervision. The contents of the thesis have been checked for plagiarism using the software 'Urkund' and similarity index falls under permissible limit. I further certify that the content of this thesis has not been submitted elsewhere for the award of any Degree/ Diploma.

Calicut University

**Dr. Renuka N. K** (Supervising Teacher)

## DECLARATION

I, Ansi. V.A, hereby declare that the thesis/dissertation entitled "SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTS AS SENSOR, LUMINESCENT MARKER AND REDUCING AGENT" submitted to University of Calicut isan authentic record of research work done by me under the supervision of Dr. Renuka N.K., Associate professor, Department of Chemistry, University of Calicut and no part of this work has been presented previously for the award of any Degree/ Diploma in any other University or institution.

Calicut University

ANSI V.A

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to put on record my sincere gratitude to a number of people, whose continuous support and encouragement helped me a lot to complete my doctoral dissertation.

*First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my Research Supervisor, Dr. Renuka N.K, Associate Professor, Department of chemistry, University of Calicut for the intellectual guidance and valuable advices she had given throughout my research period. Despite her busy schedules, she always made herself available for discussing experimental observations and also for clarifying my doubts. I adore her immensely for the timely advice, scholarly inputs, and meticulous scrutiny during the time of research and thesis writing. I'm extremely grateful to my guide for being a patient listener and also for responding promptly to all my queries. I shall be forever obliged for her guidance, patience and continuous encouragement.* 

I would like to thank Dr. A.I Yahya, Head of the Department Of Chemistry, University of Calicut and former HODs, Dr. P. Raveendran, Dr. K. Muraleedharan and Dr. V.M Abdul Mujeeb for providing necessary facilities for my work. My sincere gratitude goes to all the faculty members of this department for their support. I'm also sincerely grateful to Dr.Sindhu, Head of department of Nano-science and Technology, University of Calicut for giving permission me to conduct various characterisation analyses in their department. I' would like to thank Jyothilakshmi, research scholar Department of nano-science and technology, University of Calicut for helping me to conduct various characterization analysis. I would like to mention the name of professor D. Bahulayan, Senior Scientist, Energy Research Institute at Nanyang Technological University (ERI@N), Singapore, my teacher, with immense gratitude. I'm extremely thankful for his valuable academic suggestions and also respect him a lot for his unparalleled benevolentness. It is a great pleasure to acknowledge the expeditious service received from the librarian, instrument technician and the present and former office staffs of our department.

Without the financial support provided by kerala government through post metric E-grantz scholarship for my research work, this work would not have been possible. I'm extremely grateful to the funding authority.

I'm extremely grateful to Prof. P.Raveendran, Dept. of Chemistry, University of Calicut, Prof. Aji A. Anappara, Dept. of Physics, NIT-Calicut and Prof. K.Muraleedharan, Dept. of Chemistry, University of Calicut for their valuable suggestions and support during the research work. I extend my gratitude to CSIF –University of Calicut, NIIST-Trivandrum, STIC- CUSAT, Centre for Nanosciences, Amrita Institute of Medical Sciences, Kochi and NIT Calicut for providing the necessary characterization facilities for my work.

I'm extremely thankful to the members of my research team, A.K. Akhila, Varsha Raveendran P.T, Anjali. C, Nidhisha V and Amrutha T.P, for those motivating discussions, boundless love and especially for all the fun we have had in the last four years of research life. Words fall too short when it comes to mention my love and affection to Anjali.C, my little sister. It is also a great pleasure to acknowledge the enthusiastic support and valuable suggestions given to me by my seniors, Dr. T. Divya, Dr. M.P. Nikhila, Dr. Anju Mohan and Dr. Arsha Kusumam T.V. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all the researchers and M.Phil students for all your care and constant support during my research period.

Even the most beautiful words fall short when I'm trying to describe my affection towards my bosom friends Dr. Anju Ajayan and Nadira P.P. They simply transformed those stressed moments of research in to most beautiful pages of my life filled with everlasting memories of bliss, care and trust. I express my heartfelt affection to Dr. Safna Hussain (Department of Physics), an amazing person carved with innocence and extreme intelligence. Thank you Safnatha for making those research days most beautiful and I'm extremely grateful for your academic instructions and those interesting scientific discussions. I would like to extend my thanks to Jinitha T.V, Soufeena P.P, Anupama R. Prasad, Deepak Joshy, Lijin Rajan, Anjitha T, Roopashree R, Dipin T, Siva and Ritu for all your support and help during the research period. I express my immense love and affection to Thasleena panakkal who always bestowed positive radiance to me with her inherent innocence and care.

I would like to reserve in memory lane my post graduation days at Sree Kerala Varma College, Thrissur, kerala, where I met true friends and most affectionate teachers in my life. I'm gratefully remembering my teachers Dr. V.Indira, Dr. V.S. Eswari, Dr. T.D. Sobha, Dr. K.M. Geetha and Dr. P.V. Divya for their keen interest and continuous support in my academic life.

Words fall short to express my love and affection towards my family, especially to my 'AMMA', to whom I'm deeply indebted. She gave me immense support, warmth and strength to chase all my dreams. Thank you my father for always standing by my side and also for placing your trust and confidence in my ability from the very first day we met. I would like to extend my love and affection to my little brothers kannan and unni for their support and care. Without the eternal affection and pampering from my family, this task would not have been completed like this.

I sincerely thank each and every person with open arms for giving me the opportunities and experiences that have made me who I am.

Above all, praises and thanks to the god, for his mercy and boundless blessing upon me throughout my research period. No words can sum up my gratitude and love towards the almighty that always holds my hand and cares me like a child during each moments of my life.

ANSI V.A

Incredibly Indebted To.....

"LORD KRISHNA" - My Mentor & Best friend"

#### PREFACE

The surprising entry of carbon dots, bright luminescent nano carbon has revolutionized the traditional paradigm regarding the black material, carbon. Carbon dots, quasi-spherical carbon particles with diameter below 10 nm, are grabbing immense attention in the scientific world. Owing to their intriguing features including intense fluorescence, excitation tunability, low-toxicity, commendable photo and thermal stability and easy functionalisation, carbon dots has bloomed in every branch of applied sciences. Aforementioned features of carbon dots tunes them as most potent competitive to conventional organic fluorescent dyes and heavy metal based quantum dots in various fields including sensing, imaging, photo-catalysis, drug delivery, fabrication of opto-electronic devices etc.

But, unfortunately most of the conventional synthesis techniques to carbon dots involves the usage of toxic materials, demands some cumbersome post-chemical treatments for ensuring the purity of the product and also requires the assistance of expensive instrumentation facilities. These widely practiced methods to carbon dots were definitely believed to raise some threatening issues related to global energy conservation and environmentally benign developments. Hence, designing of an entirely facile, environmentally benign, costeffective strategy for the bulk production of carbon dots, one of the protagonists of carbon nano science, is having great deal of research interest. Gradually, scientists used to overcome these demerits associated with conventionally practiced synthesis protocols by the judicious implementation of core principles of green chemistry while designing the synthesis route. Hence, realizing the pulse of recent research interest, we have decided to focus our area of interest in to the development of fluorescent carbon dots from different naturally available precursors, upholding almost all the core-concepts of green and sustainable development.

Herein, we have chosen commercially available table sugar as the raw material for the fabrication of fluorescent carbon dots, considerably cheaper and non-toxic precursor. Very facile synthesis strategy was adopted with consumption of minimum amount of time and energy. Thus obtained carbon dot was found to possess diameter below 4 nm and also exhibit bright cyan colour fluorescence emission. Table sugar derived carbon dots were adequately characterized by various techniques and subjected for several interesting applications.

#### Present thesis consists of 7 chapters

First chapter provides a general introduction to the present work. After a detailed introduction to carbon family, this chapter mainly emphasize the details regarding surprising invention of fluorescent carbon nano dots, various synthesis methodologies, several applications and their inherent physico-chemical characteristics. Along with exhaustive review of literature, this section also provides details regarding the motivation/inspiration for conducting the present research work. Chapter 2 provides details regarding the experimental methods. Fundamental features of adopted characterization techniques including High-Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy(HRTEM) Analysis, X-Ray Diffraction (XRD) analysis, Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) analysis, Energy Dispersive X-ray analysis (EDX), X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) analysis, Fourier Transform Infra-Red (FT-IR) spectroscopy, Raman spectroscopy analysis Zeta potential analysis, Dynamic light scattering analysis, Ultra Violet-Visible absorbance spectroscopy, Fluorescence spectroscopy and Fluorescence Decay ( Lifeime measurement) are also discussed in second chapter. Chapter 3 comprises detailed discussion on the results of the aforementioned characterization analysis and thereby providing the physico-chemical features of obtained carbon dot.

Chapter 4 presents the utilization of carbon dot as a promising fluorescent marker, when mixed with naturally available gum, Gum accacia as a binder. Fluorescent markers with two different consistencies were prepared by simply altering the concentration of binder, gum accacia. Construction and practical application of the fluorescent marker for patterning and coating applications were discussed in detail. Chapter 5 discusses the sensing application of prepared carbon dots. This section is divided into two parts. First part presents the visual/naked eye sensing of toxic heavy metal, Pb<sup>2+</sup> with higher selectivity and sensitivity. This visual sensing of metal ion was enabled via selective aggregation of carbon dots. Second part of chapter 5 deals with fluorescence sensing of analytes, in which of fluorescence intensity carbon dots were selectively disturbed/quenched by the presence of external analytes. Here, we have prepared a carbon dot- Rhodamine dye FRET (Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer) unit, which could selectively detect trace amounts of extremely toxic Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions. Fluorescence intensity of carbon dots was also found to be quenched with the introduction of very small amounts of a set of Nitro Aromatic Compounds (NACs) having nitrobenzene parental frame work. This sensing trend was further verified with the aid of some computational analytical techniques including Global reactive descriptors and donor acceptor mapping (DAM).

Sixth chapter discusses the utilization of carbon dot as a promising green reducing agent. Reducing ability of the carbon dot was employed for effortless extraction of bulk metallic silver from silver salt solution as well as for the instantaneous preparation of gold nano particles from chloroauric acid. Seventh chapter summarizes the major findings and highlights of the present work and also outlines the scope of future aspect.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	Page No.
PREFACE	i-iv
CHAPTER-1	1-115
INTRODUCTION	
1.1 CARBON-Historical Importance	1
1.2 Allotropes of Carbon	3
1.2.1Extension to carbon nano allotropes	7
1.3 Carbon quantum dots -The surprise entry of bright fluorescent nano sized carbon	11
1.3.1 Serendipity- Building block of scientific inventions	12
1.3.2 Preliminary Identification of fluorescent carbon - Electrophoretic purification of Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes (SWCNTs)	17
1.3.3 Different kinds of fluorescent carbon nanodots	22
1.4 Carbon Dots – <i>Features</i>	
1.4.1 Plausible structure of fluorescent CDs	29
1.4.2 Synthesis methods of CDs	33
1.4.3 Physico-chemical features of CDs	42
1.4.4 Brief discussion on possible origin of photoluminescence	60
1.4.5 Applications of CDs	79
1.5 Motivation for the present work	88
1.6 Outline of the present study	91
1.7 References	95

CHAPTER-2	117-138
EXPERIMENTAL	
2.1 Materials Used	117
2.2 Experimental Details	117
2.3 Synthesis of Table sugar Derived Carbon Dots	123
2.4 Plausible Mechanistic route to the formation of Table sugar derived Carbon Dots (TSCDs) -Maillard Reaction	
2.5 Experimental Techniques	130
2.5.1 Structural Characterization of Carbon Dots	130
2.5.2 Optical Characterization of Carbon Dots	135
2.6 Concluding Remarks	138
CHAPTER-3	139-153
CHARACTERIZATION OF CARBON DOT	
3.1 Introduction	139
3.2 High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HR-TEM) Analysis	139
3.3 X-Ray Diffraction (XRD)Analysis	
3.4 Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) Analysis	
3.5 Energy Dispersive X-Ray (EDX) Analysis	
3.6 X-ray Photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) Analysis	142
3.7 Fourier Transform Infra-Red (FTIR) spectroscopy Analysis	143
3.8 Raman spectroscopy Analysis 144	
3.9 Zeta potential Measurement	
3.10 Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)Analysis	
3.11 UV-Visible absorbance spectroscopy Analysis	
3.12 Fluorescence spectroscopy Analysis 14	
3.13 Fluorescence lifeime Measurement	

3.14 Summary and Highlights	149
3.15 References	152
CHAPTER-4	155-170
TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOT-GUM ARABIC HYBRID AS FLUORESCENT MARKER	
4.1Introduction	155
4.2 Fluorescent carbon dot as colorant/ pigment in luminescent marker	159
4.3 Introduction of a novel natural binder/carrier, GUM accacia (Gum arabic) for luminescent marker	160
4.4 Synthesis of Anti-forgery/Anti-counterfeiting Agents from Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic Combination - Photo- luminescent INK and GEL	163
4.5 Practical application of the prepared luminescent markers	165
4.6 Summary and Highlights	166
4.7 References	168
CHAPTER-5	171-248
TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTS FOR SENSING APPLICATIONS	
5.1 Introduction	171
5.2 Sensors	172
5.3 References	184
PART A- Carbon Dot Based Naked Eye Sensor	
Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot - A Naked Eye Sensor for Toxic Pb <sup>2+</sup> Ions	
5.4Introduction and Relevance of Pb <sup>2+</sup> Sensing	186
5.4.1 Results and Discussion	189
5.4.2 Summary and Highlights	199
5.5 References	201
PART B- Carbon Dot Based Optical Sensors	

(I) TSCD-Rhodamine dye array for FRET based sensing of Hg <sup>2+</sup> ion	
5.6 Introduction and Relevance of Hg <sup>2+</sup> Sensing	204
5.6.1 Results and Discussion	208
5.6.2 Summary and Highlights	219
(II) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot-Sensor for Nitro Aromatic Compounds	
5.7 Introduction and Relevance of Nitro Aromatic Compound Sensing.	221
5.7.1 Results and Discussion	224
5.7.2 Computational Investigation on Structure- Activity Relationship in NACS sensing	231
5.7.3 Analysis of Computational Results	235
5.7.4 Summary and Highlights	239
5.8 References	242
CHAPTER-6	244-274
CHAPTER-6 TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTAS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT	244-274
CHAPTER-6 TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTAS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT 6.1Introduction	<b>244-274</b> 249
CHAPTER-6 TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTAS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT 6.1Introduction 6.1.1 Usage of Alternative Non-Toxic/ Less Hazardous Reagents During Chemical Synthesis	244-274 249 252
CHAPTER-6 TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTAS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT 6.1Introduction 6.1.1 Usage of Alternative Non-Toxic/ Less Hazardous Reagents During Chemical Synthesis 6.2 References	244-274 249 252 259
CHAPTER-6 TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTAS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT 6.1 Introduction 6.1.1 Usage of Alternative Non-Toxic/ Less Hazardous Reagents During Chemical Synthesis 6.2 References (I) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Extraction of Bulk Silver	244-274 249 252 259
CHAPTER-6 TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTAS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT 6.1 Introduction 6.1.1 Usage of Alternative Non-Toxic/ Less Hazardous Reagents During Chemical Synthesis 6.2 References (I) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Extraction of Bulk Silver 6.3 Introduction	244-274 249 252 259 262
CHAPTER-6 TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTAS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT 6.1 Introduction 6.1.1 Usage of Alternative Non-Toxic/ Less Hazardous Reagents During Chemical Synthesis 6.2 References (I) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Extraction of Bulk Silver 6.3 Introduction 6.3.1 Experimental	244-274 249 252 259 262 264
CHAPTER-6 TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTAS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT 6.1 Introduction 6.1.1 Usage of Alternative Non-Toxic/ Less Hazardous Reagents During Chemical Synthesis 6.2 References (1) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Extraction of Bulk Silver 6.3 Introduction 6.3.1 Experimental 6.3.2 Summary and Highlights	244-274 249 252 259 262 264 267
CHAPTER-6 TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTAS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT 6.1 Introduction 6.1.1 Usage of Alternative Non-Toxic/ Less Hazardous Reagents During Chemical Synthesis 6.2 References (I) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Extraction of Bulk Silver 6.3 Introduction 6.3.1 Experimental 6.3.2 Summary and Highlights (II) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Instantaneous Synthesis of Gold Nano Particles	244-274 249 252 259 262 264 267

6.4.1 Experimental	269
6.4.2 Summary and Highlights	272
6.5 References	274
CHAPTER -7	275-284
SUMMARY,HIGHLIGHTS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES OF THE WORK	
7.1 Summary of the Present Research Work	275
7.2 Major Highlights of Present Work	278
7.3 Sugar Derived Fluorescent Carbon Dots – Scope and Future outlook	279

## LIST OF TABLES

Table No.	Title	Page No.
1.1	Time scale values of basic electronic transitions of a photo-excited electron.	51
5.1	Spiked recovery calculation for real-water samples using TSCD solution	197
5.2	Comparison of TSCDs over some established Pb <sup>2+</sup> sensors.	198
5.3	Comparison of carbon dot- dye unit over few established $Hg^{2+}$ sensing tools	214
5.4	Global reactive descriptors (eV) of studied compounds	236
7.1	Observations of various reaction schemes adopted for synthesising carbon dot solutions by altering reaction parameters/ synthesis strategy.	282

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure No.	Title	Page No.
1.1	Various allotropes of carbon	11
1.2	Primary identification of Carbon dots	21
1.3	Classification of various fluorescent nano dots structures	28
1.4	Plausible General Structural Framework of Fluorescent CDs.	33
1.5	Schematic representation of Top-Down and Bottom-Up techniques	41
1.6	Bio- compatibility of CDs	45
1.7	Jablonski diagram describing photoluminescence of molecules	47
1.8	General optical response of CDs under excitation at 360 nm	55
1.9	Excitation dependant fluorescence emission of CDs	
1.10	Illustrating the concept of Quantum Confinement Effect:	62
1.11	Role of surface functional groups in determining fluorescence emission of CDs	67
1.12	Fluorescence emission profile of CDs based on the extent of surface oxidation	70
1.13	Diagrammatic presentation comprising the major sources of luminescence of CDs	73
1.14	Dual photo-electronic action of carbon dot when coupled with $TiO_2$ semiconductor	78
1.15	Different properties of Carbon dots	79
1.16	Different Applications of Fluorescent CDs	88
2.1	Microwave reactor (Anton Paar monowave-300)	122

2.2	Schematic representation of microwave assisted synthesis of fluorescent carbon nano dots from table sugar	
2.3	Digital image of Ultra-centrifugation chamber	
2.4	Schematic representation of Maillard Reaction	127
2.5	Schematic representation of reaction pathway to Table sugar derived carbon dots (TS-CDs).	
3.1	HRTEM and Histogram profile of TS-CDs	139
3.2	XRD pattern of TS-CDs	140
3.3	AFM image of TS-CDs.	141
3.4	Elemental analysis of sample	142
3.5	XPS profiles (a) C1S spectrum and (b) O1S spectrum of TS-CDs.	142
3.6	FTIR spectrum of TS-CDs	144
3.7	Raman spectral profile of TS-CDs.	144
3.8	Zeta potential curve of TS-CDs.	145
3.9	Particle size analysis of TSCDs	146
3.10	UV-Visible absorbance curve of TS-CDs	147
3.11	Fluorescence emission curve of TS-CDs	148
3.12	Fluorescence decay profile of the sample.	148
4.1	Examples of various issues regarding the forgery/duplication of documents	156
4.2	Statistics showing the extent of forgery crimes all over the world	156
4.3	Extraction of Gum Accacia	161
4.4	Schematic representation of synthesis of photo- luminescent markers	164
4.5	Patterning application of fluorescent ink	166
4.6	Coating application of fluorescent gel	166
5.1	Statistical profile of publications related to carbon dots	172
5.2	Schematic depiction of basic principle of fluorescent sensors	174

5.3	Different types of analytes monitored by fluorescent sensors.	175
5.4	Adverse effects of Pb <sup>2+</sup> ions in human body	187
5.5	Visual aggregation of TSCD units with the addition of Pb $^{2+}$ ions	190
5.6	Investigation of Selectivity and sensitivity of the TS-CD solution	191
5.7	Characterisation of precipitate and filtrate	193
5.8	FTIR spectrum showing direct involvement of carboxylate groups in the aggregation process.	194
5.9	Image of Turbidimeter used for quantification of $Pb^{2+}$ ions	195
5.10	Quantification of Pb <sup>2+</sup> ion using Turbidimetric analysis	196
5.11	Adverse effects of Hg <sup>2+</sup> ions	206
5.12	Fluorescence spectra demonstrating Hg <sup>2+</sup> sensing action of carbon dot-Rhodamine FRET unit	208
5.13	Schematic representation of possible interactive modes of carbon dot-Dye unit.	209
5.14	Overlapping between fluorescence emission curve of donor and absorbance curve of acceptor	210
5.15	Confirmation of acceptor role of Rhodamine dye and donor role of carbon dot solution in the FRET pair	211
5.16	Illustration of absence of FRET between honey derived carbon dot and dye	212
5.17	Fluorescence sensing of Hg <sup>2+</sup> ions by carbon dot-dye FRET unit	213
5.18	Selective and sensitive monitoring of Hg <sup>2+</sup> ion	215
5.19	Illustration of metal ion induced hindrance in FRET between carbon dot and Rhodamine dye	217
5.20	Illustration of specific interaction of Hg <sup>2+</sup> ions with the surface oxygen functionalities of carbon dot	218
5.21	Fluorescence emission profile of FRET unit towards real water samples	219

5.22	Toxic effects of various Nitro Aromatic Compounds in human body	
5.23	Fluorescence quenching of carbon dot upon the addition of different Nitro Aromatic compounds (NACs)	
5.24	Detection limit corresponding to various analytes	227
5.25	Schematic representation showing plausible mechanism involved in NACs sensing using carbon dot	
5.26	Illustration of selective and interference free monitoring of NACs by TSCDs.	
5.27	Optimized geometries of NACs.	235
5.28	Donor-Acceptor Map (DAM) plot demonstrating the electron donor and acceptor ability of all the tested NACs.	
5.29	Activity order of NACs combining the value of global descriptive parameters and the DAM analysis results.	
6.1	Core concepts of Green Chemistry	
6.2	Statistical representation of widely used green reducing/capping agents	
6.3	Digital images of silver salt solution after treating with TSCDs at different time interval	
6.4	Digital images confirming the crucial role of TSCDs for the reduction of Ag (I) to Ag (0); metallic silver deposition.	
6.5	Schematic representation of TSCDs assisted gold nanoparticle (AU-NPs) synthesis.	
6.6	Characterization results of prepared gold nano particles	270
6.7	Demonstration of catalytic activity of the prepared gold nanoparticles	272

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CD(s)	Carbon Dot(s)
CQD(s)	Carbon Quantum Dot(s)
GQD(s)	Graphene Quantum Dot(s)
CNT(s)	Carbon Nano tube(s)
QCE	Quantum Confinement effect
TS-CD(s)	Table sugar derived Carbon Dot(s)
HR-TEM	High-Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy
XKD	X-Ray Diffraction
AFM	Atomic Force Microscopy
EDX	Energy Dispersive X-ray
XPS	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy
FT-IR	Fourier Transform Infra-Red
DLS	Dynamic light scattering
UV-Vis	Ultra Violet-Visible
IFE	Inner filter effect
PET	Photo electron transfer
EPA	Environment protection Agency
ICH	International Conference on Harmonization
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GA	Gum accacia/Gum Arabic
PL	Photo-Luminescent

LOD	Limit of detection
ppm	parts per million
Ppb	Parts per billion
Ppt	Parts per trillion
HEG	Highly Exfoliated Graphite
FRET	Fluorescence resonance energy transfer
NB	Nitro Benzene
4-NA	4-Nitro Aniline
4-NP	4-Nitro phenol
<i>4-NT</i>	4-Nitro toluene
4-CNB	4-Chloro nitrobenzene
4-NBA	4-nitro benzoic acid
4-NBAl	4-nitro benzaldehyde
NAC(s)	Nitro Aromatic Compound(s)
DAM	Donor Acceptor Map
Au-NP(s)	Gold nano particle(s)
4-AP	4-Amino phenol

# **Chapter 1** INTRODUCTION

1.1	CARBON-Historical Importance
1.2	Allotropes of carbon
1.2.1	Extension to carbon nano allotropes
1.3	Carbon quantum dots -The surprise entry of bright fluorescent nano sized carbon
1.3.1	Serendipity- Building block of scientific inventions
1.3.2	Preliminary Identification of fluorescent carbon - Electrophoretic purification of Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes (SWCNTs)
1.3.3	Different kinds of fluorescent carbon nanodots
14	Carbon Dots - Features
1.4.1	Plausible structure of fluorescent CDs
1.4.2	Synthesis methods of CDs
1.4.3	Physico-chemical features of CDs
1.4.4	Brief discussion on possible origin of photoluminescence
1.4.5	Applications of CDs.
1.5	Motivation for the present work
1.6	Outline of the present study
1.7	References

This chapter provides general introduction to the carbon family as well as the surprising invention of a new member, fluorescent carbon dots (CDs). Details on inherent physico-chemical features, various synthesis methodologies along with several important applications of carbon dots are also provided here. In brief, this section outlines the wide acceptance of the material in the nano-world and also simply narrates the motivation/inspiration for conducting the present research work.

### **1.1 CARBON - Historical Importance**

Carbon, the most promising tool for next-generation tech materials, was acknowledged as an element in the second half of the 18<sup>th</sup> century. In 1789, A.L. Lavoisier proposed the name ""carbon" for the material, inspired from the Latin word "carbo" meaning "charcoal". In French the name is "charbone" and in German language "Kohlenstoff" which literally means "coal-stuff". Carbon is placed in the periodic table with atomic symbol 'C' as element number 6 (Atomic number=6) with electronic configuration  $1s^2 2s^2 2px^1 2py^1$ . It exists in solid phase at room temperature, identified as the 6<sup>th</sup> most profuse element in the universe.Succeeding to the element oxygen, Carbon constitutes the major portion of human body [1]. It is observed that about 18 percent of human body weight is ascribed to this wonder element carbon. Dealing with the solar system, carbon is counted as the 4<sup>th</sup> most abundant element in it. Elemental carbon has got atomic weight of 12.01 (average mass) units, density 2.26 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. Carbon has got an astounding ability for making bonds with one another as well as a wide range of other elements in different hybridization states (sp, sp<sup>2</sup> and  $sp^3$ ), that is crucial for the existence of life on earth.

The discovery of this incredible element is marked nowhere in history. Primitive humans never mark the sole identification and purification of carbon like the majority of the elements in periodic table. Before 1 million years ago, ancient life frequently included this wonder black material as soot and cinder during their daily tasks. For them, whatever blacksubstance remains after a casual burning of any organic matter was counted as un-clean carbon. The element was very familiar among common men form olden time in the form of "charcoal", the global resource of fuel. Charcoal plays a decisive role in several important processes including Smelting of different metals from their ores, metal casting assisted with melting process of the smelted metals, forging of iron and steel (non meltable), glass and advanced ceramic objects manufacturing etc. All these processes are believed to be inevitable for moulding the economic sustainability and maintaining the cultural harmony.

Activated charcoal is another class of carbon which includes finely grounded charcoal, potent enough to remove pollutants from liquid samples in to which it is added. When charcoal is subjected to so call 'activation' and heating, it is found to be able to purify contaminated solution (water and oil) by removing its unwanted colour and odour. Carbon has three naturally occurring isotopes C-12, C-13 and C-14, among which the later is radio-active by nature. In addition to these three natural isotopes, it has also got five artificial radio-active isotopes. C-14 isotope is a much celebrated radio-active agent by archaeologists, used to date once- living materials and relics. Atomic carbon forms various allotropes, simply by the rearrangements of bonded carbon atoms in different configuration, for stabilizing its short lived structure [1-6]. This unique feature makes carbon imperative and leaves this 'carbon family' as a perpetual stuff to study and explore.

## 1.2 Allotropes of carbon

Carbon constitutes an astonishing collection of allotropes with every doable dimension. Aforesaid collection of allotropes includes amorphous carbon, diamond (3D), graphite (3D), fullerenes (0D), carbon nanotubes (1D) and graphene (2D). Along with these prominent allotropes, this broadest chemical family is abundantly blessed with several other significant nano-allotropes such as nano diamonds (0D), single walled nano horns (1D), graphene nano ribbons(2D), onion like carbon spheres (0D).

## (I) Amorphous carbon

Highly reactive and free standing allotrope of carbon, lacking any crystalline structure is collectively termed as amorphous carbon. Coal, carbon/lamp-black and soot comprise the series. This class of materials lacks long range atomic arrangements. They are characterised with short range pattern of atomic positions in it. Amorphous forms of carbon mainly found their applications in the production of black colour inks, paints, synthetic petrol, stove polishers, water gas, rubber tires, gramophone records and typewriter ribbons. They are extensively used in engines, furnaces and gas mask.

### (II) Diamond-3D allotrope

This allotrope of carbon is the hardest natural mineral known, with perfect crystalline arrangement. Diamond is the three dimensional metastable allotrope of carbon, where sp<sup>3</sup> hybridised carbon atoms are arranged tetrahedrally in a face cantered cubical structure. The name

'Diamond' is a combination of two greek words meaning "seethrough" and "invincible."The superlative properties of diamond can be accredited to the covalent bonding between the individual carbon atoms. Owing to the commendable hardness, diamond is widely used as an excellent abrasive in various industrial applications including polishing, grinding and cutting of hard materials like glass and metals. Diamond also possesses higher light dispersion ability which tunes this carbon allotrope as the most alluring and expensive jewel stone.

### (III) Graphite-3D allotrope

Graphite, very soft and flexible carbon allotrope, consists of sp<sup>2</sup> hybridised carbon atoms packed up in a honey comb like lattice. It is the most stable allotrope of carbon. Graphite occurs naturally in metamorphic rocks. It is often used in the manufacture of lead pencils. Scientists proposed the name 'Graphite' from greek word 'grafo' meaning 'to-write', indicating 'pencils lead'. Unlike diamond, graphite conducts electricity due to the delocalization of  $\pi$  bond electrons present above and below the planes of the carbon atoms. These electrons are highly mobile in nature and hence graphite behaves as a good conductor. However, the electricity is only conducted along the plane of the layers. Graphite widely found its application as lubricant as well as in the fabrication of high temperature bearing crucibles, as it does not melt upon heating. This well-known allotrope of carbon is commonly used as a neutron moderator within nuclear reactors. They also found their applications in the fabrication of black-paint, explosive materials and television set cathode ray tubes etc.
### (IV) Fullerenes-0D allotrope

Fullerenes are the zero-dimensional allotrope of carbon having a soccer-ball-shaped geometry. They basically consist of hollow spheres, tubes, ellipsoid with the general formula  $C_{2n}$  (n=30-40), whose identification grabbed the Nobel Prize in chemistry in 1996. They are named after an American architect, Buckminster Fuller who designed the well known geodesic domes, greatly resembling to the allotrope arrangement. Fullerenes are prepared by passing high voltage current through graphite in an inert atmosphere. The most common fullerene is  $C_{60}$ , consisting of twenty hexagons and twelve pentagons of carbon atoms fused together in the form of a spherical ball. Spherical fullerenes are also called Buckminster fullerene/buckyballs. Generally, fullerenes are structurally similar to graphite. Fullerenes find applications in the field of material science, electronics and nano technology. This interesting allotrope of carbon progressively finds its place in the field of medical research for attaching drug molecules. Fullerenes can also result molecule-by-molecule incorporation for achieving effective delivery of medicines to the targeted body sites.

#### (V) Carbon nanotube-1D allotrope

Carbon nano tube (CNT) is a renowned allotrope of carbon with its cylindrical nano structure, invented after the efforts of Lijima. They have been synthesised with length to diameter ratio of up to 132,000,000:1, much larger than for any other material. For this, carbon sheets are rolled at specific angles resulting in the formation of Carbon nano tubes. They can be single walled or multi walled by

structure. These nano tubes are composed entirely of sp<sup>2</sup> hybridised carbon atoms. CNTs are the strongest and stiffest material ever known in terms of tensile strength and elastic modulus respectively. They are found to be almost 100 times stronger than steel, though they have light weight feature which is only one-sixth of that of steel. Hence they can be used as additives to any materials to reinforce their strength. CNTs are also believed to be better conductors of heat and electricity than the well-known metal copper. Due to the unusual properties of carbon nano tubes such as high thermal conductivity, mechanical strength, and commendable magnetic property, these structures have been widely utilised in the field of nano technology, electronics, optics etc.

#### (VI) Graphene-2D allotrope

Graphene, the legendary material raised so far in the scientific community, is a hexagonal array of carbon atoms with one atom thickness. The term "graphene" is first referred in 1987 to describe single sheets of graphite. This allotrope holds an elegant position amongst all discovered materials owing to its exciting properties and enormous applications. World acknowledged scientists Andre Geim and kostya Novoselov by Nobel Prize for the year 2010 (physics) for their consummate contributions in the field of graphene. This monolayer hexagonal carbon is counted as the thinnest material reported till date. Though graphene is ultra-light and too flexible as rubber, surprisingly it was found to be potent enough to compete with a series of materials in terms of its strength. This single sheet of

graphene can be converted in to other allotropes of carbon with entirely different dimensionalities via effortless physical actions such as folding (fullerene -0D), rolling (carbon nanotube- 1D) and stacking (graphite-3D). The much celebrated graphene family includes three important members, graphite oxide, graphene oxide and reduced graphene oxide, the materials evolved during the synthesis of graphene. All these three forms strictly differ in the number of layers and the levels of oxidation of carbon atom. Graphene is the purest form of carbon; it has got commendably large theoretical specific area 2360  $m^2/g$ , extremely high Young's modulus (~1.0 TPa), great optical transmittance (97.7%), high intrinsic mobility (200,000 cm<sup>2</sup> v<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and unbeatable thermal conductivity ( $\sim 5000 \text{Wm}^{-1}\text{K}^{-1}$ ). Graphene and its composites find applications in energy storage, sensors, light emitting diodes, super-capacitors, solar cellsenvironmental applications, transistors etc.

# 1.2.1 Extension to carbon nano allotropes

Carbon family possesses a vast collection of interesting nano carbon forms which should be counted as an extension to the aforementioned main members of carbon family. The identification of following nano forms of carbon was less revelatory compared to the prominent allotropes (CNTs, fullerene, graphene etc.). But it is believed to be quite note-worthy to mention about their names and whereabouts at this context, as it further demonstrates the amazing capability of carbon to form distinctive nano-structures which are matchless while comparing with the nano structures of other classes reported so far.

## (I) Nano diamonds

Nano sized crystalline allotrope of carbon with sp<sup>3</sup> hybridization having diamondoid topology was widely recognized as nano diamond. They possess diameters greater than 2 nm, and not exceed 20 nm in size. Nano structures of this class having diameters greater than 20 nm act exactly as bulk diamonds. Lower limit of diameter of nano diamond is not prescribed yet. Nano diamonds are usually obtained through abrasion of microdiamonds or through processes like jet milling. They were found to be non- dispersible in nature. Detailed investigation on their structural frame works reveals that about fifteen percent of carbon atoms are situated at the nano diamond surfaces. They were found to be involved in bond formation with hydrogen/other atoms, thereby ensuring more stabilization to the structure. Nano diamond possesses features of organic molecules rather than bulk diamond. Depending upon the chemical conditions adopted for the purification process, various organic functional groups will be deposited over the nano diamond surfaces. Nano diamonds widely found their applications in photo-detectors, Raman lasers, micro lenses, quantum information, communication technologies etc,.

#### (II) Onion-like carbon spheres

Onion-like carbon structures possess various giant fullerenes, concentric graphenic shell, which encircles a series of gradually smaller fullerenes. These multi shell spherical hollow allotrope of carbon were first discovered by Ugarte from a mixture of CNTs after prolonged irradiation of strong electron beam to it. This nano form of carbon with interesting construction is the least studied member in the carbon family tree. Compared to the other nano-allotropes of carbon, Onion-like carbon structures are found to possess greater capability for energy storage applications. Thus, these allotropes may have decisive role in the construction of super capacitors and efficient electrodes.

#### (III) Single Walled Nano Horns

Nanohorns, another interesting class of carbon nano-allotrope, are the tubule or cone-like constructions made by mono graphenic layer. During 1999, the scientist Lijima met this structure while conducting detailed investigation on carbon nano tube structure as well as its formation mechanism. It was reported that the structure of single walled nano horns strongly resembles that of dahlia flower, as they appears as collectively large spherical aggregates with 80-100 nm diameter size. Among this collective aggregation of spheres, individual nano horns can be identified. These individual nano horns possess diameters about 1-2 nm at their tips and almost 4- 5nm diameters around the base of cone structure. They usually have 0.4 nm distance between adjacent walls of each single walled nano horns, there occurs different varieties of nano horn aggregates which mimic buds and seeds in all aspects.

#### (IV) Graphene nano ribbons

Graphene nano ribbons are thin strips of graphene single layer, formed by the 'chemical unzipping' of conventional 1 dimensional carbon nano tubes. They are currently grabbing much research attention as they can be re-framed as a potent alternative of graphene. Combined action of strong oxidizing agents such as potassium permanganate and sulphuric acid results in successive unfolding of individual graphitic layers of nanotubes. This unfolding leads to the formation of thin graphene nano ribbons decorated with excess amount of oxygen containing functional groups such as carboxyl, carbonyl, hydroxyl groups at the corners and the entire surfaces. This 1 Dimensional carbon nano form consists of  $sp^2$  hybridized carbon atoms. As the oxidized sites were marked with disruption of aromatic frame work, graphene nano ribbons exhibit very poor electrical conductivity. They have been widely used as efficient contrast agents for photo/thermo acoustic imaging and also for tomography imaging. Nano ribbons as well as their corresponding oxidized equivalents are successfully employed as potent nano-fillers to reinforce the mechanical features of polymeric nano hybrids. Based on their edge termination, graphene nano ribbons are classified in to three; zigzag nanoribbons (i), chiral nanoribbons (ii) and armchair nanoribbons (iii). Theoreticians utilized graphene nanoribbons as an appropriate model tool to probe its interesting magnetic nature and also to recognize each parameter that decides the magnetic features of pristine graphene and its derivatives.

For the last few decades, researchers mainly focus on this prolific nontoxic element, carbon, and the wide spectrum of its family members. Countless efforts by these research communities make the carbon vocabulary affluent.



Figure 1.1 : Various allotropes of carbon

# **1.3** Carbon quantum dots -The surprise entry of bright fluorescent nano sized carbon

As carbon has got a wide spectrum of allotropes with promising applications in various fields of science and technologies, it always upholds the supreme rank among the elements with the inestimable designation, "Carbon - king of the elements"[2]. Pathways of carbon research were strictly focussed on the peerless features of the element including higher surface area, mechanical strength, thermal conductivity and commendable electronic properties. Till the early stages of 20<sup>th</sup> century, the scientific scenarios were in such a way that the entire possibilities for the utilization of properties of this element

are strictly restricted to the aforementioned class. Due to its black colour and reluctance to aqueous dispersibility, it was rather far beyond imaginations / expectations to correlate the word "carbon" with the alluring world of "colour and light"-optics.

It was in 2004, contradictory to the formal scientific paradigms and observations, there occurred the accidental birth of a bright fluorescent carbon while conducting a routine laborious practice, which were finally termed as carbon quantum dots [7]. This serendipitous identification of fluorescent carbon has become a ground breaking discovery as it triggered a great deal of research efforts and left the entire scientific world restless for probing deeper in to their origin and structure.

#### 1.3.1 Serendipity- Building block of scientific inventions

Though majority of the scientific inventions happened as an outcome of painstaking zealous goal oriented laborious experiments, it has to be admitted that a great deal of incredible innovations in the world were always accompanied with "luckily happened accidents" when somebody found out something that they weren't in search of. The most important fact about this kind of surprising incidents was, none of these "unexpected" observations would have been the world changing invention, if they take place without the presence of such brilliant research minds/brain, capable enough to recognize their implications. Hence, it should be admitted that basic inquisitiveness and observation skill are the indispensable precursors to scientific inventions. It was reported in literature that most of the researchers discarded numerous findings and ideas as they were belonging to the "unsought" category [8]. This strong competition between 'sought' versus 'unsought' forces the research community to leave certain novel observations as worthless which may perhaps become major groundbreaking discovery that the entire world was longing for several decades. Detailed analysis of several un-anticipated findings has revolutionised the entire world as most of them were essential for the well-being of layman life. History provides most suitable pieces of aforementioned evidences for illustrating the fact [https://www.sciencealert.com/these-eighteen-accidental-scientificdiscoveries-changed-the-world].

In 1895, Wilhelm Roentogen, German physicist, while working with a cathode ray tube and a crystal, noticed that though the cathode ray tube was covered, it produces a bright glow on the chemical coated screen placed in front of the apparatus in that dark room. He was enthusiastic with this particular observation and started to do several experiments using the rays that caused this particular glow under different scientific circumstances. For better understanding of this finding, he duplicated the whole experimental set-up by blocking the pathway between ray tube and screen by placing several materials within the space. He collected several data to correlate with the observations. Finally, he found out the fact that irrespective of the material placed between the light source and screen, the glow remains unaltered. Surprisingly he noticed that while

placing his own hand in front of the tube, he could clearly see the image of bones of his hands on the screen. This is further termed as a medical miracle as it is offering clear photographs of human bones without undergoing any kind of surgery which could serve as most anticipated boon in the field of medical science. Roentogen was recognized with Nobel Prize in 1901 (first Nobel prize in physics) for this invention of X-rays.

\* One of the most popular Nobel Prize winning inventions, penicillin, was also born from such a "by-chance" observation. The well known Scotish biologist Alexander Fleming was busy with the preparation of paper discussing biological actions of several harmful bacteria. As a part of this study, he had placed a number of pertidishes in his lab in which staphylococcus bacteria colonies were grown. After few days of vacation he visited his lab and found out something intriguing in the pertidish, which he has forgotten to cover with a lid. The petridish that left uncovered possessed a green mold over the bacterial colony. This green mold was identified as a collection of "pennicillium notatum", which was considered as a contaminant for the preserved colony of staphylococcus bacteria. The action of this green mold appeared over the uncovered petridish was something interesting, the harmful colonies of staphylococcus bacteria wasn't growing around this green mold. This observation provoked his research mind and he duplicated the entire experimental setup with and without the green mold for further confirming the authenticity of this

particular observation. After undergoing detailed scientific analysis he strengthened his hypothesis that the green mold of penicillium notatum is secreting an 'antibacterial' substance capable enough to kill/destruct the vast collection of toxic staphylococcus bacteria. He extracted this peniccillium mold and subjected to various prolonged scientific assays, and finally he named the first modern antibiotic as "penicillin" in 1928. This antibiotic has saved the lives of million from the vicious face of world wars. He received the most prestigious recognition from the scientific word, Nobel Prize in 1945 for his imperative contribution to the field of medicine, and thereby saving mankind.

\* An engineer at Roythean Corporation, Percy Spencer, who was engaged in radar based projects and experiments discovered the presence of a strong heat energy source which could melt any substance placed at the premises of the experimental arrangement. During his radar assisted experiments, surprisingly it was noted that a chocolate bar placed in his pocket was melted so quickly while he was operating the vacuum tube apparatus. This unexpected observation made him restless and he was continuously engaged in experiments with the same vacuum tube to probe much deeper in to the cause. After this detailed investigations, he concluded that the heat which is able to melt all those nearby substances was coming from microwave energy. Finally Spencer filed patent for the

15

'first micro-wave" source, which further revolutionized the energy concept of scientific world.

- Safety glasses that are widely used in safety goggles and car wind shields were also originated from such an un-expected observation. A French scientist, Benedictus accidently dropped a flask made out of glass which is filled with cellulose nitrate solution, a kind of liquid plastic. Definitely, the glass was broken and the liquid has evaporated. Surprisingly, the broken glass pieces were never got shattered. The glass pieces remains in place and they maintained the exact shape of the container. Upon detailed study the scientist found out that, perhaps the plastic coating inside the glass flask (container) had prevented the glass pieces from shattering and helped them to stay together even after breaking, leading to the concept of safety glasses.
- In this similar manner, history had seen numerous un-expected incidents that pave way to adorable innovations, which are capable enough to change the world. The discovery of excellent adhesive-'superglue', heat resistant and non-corrosive 'Teflon materials', mouldable clay for making profitable toys - 'playdoh', Successful implantation of first 'pacemaker', the artificial sweetener- 'Saccharin', origin of the most significant reaction process-'Radio activity' etc., belong to this interesting category.

In brief, it is clearly evident that such unforeseen discoveries are of considerable importance in the progression of science and technology. These kinds of unsought, yet vital observations met with scheduled practices, often provide strong foundation for essential academic leaps of understanding. In literature, it was better summarized by the legendary writer Lawrence Block, who discusses this conspicuous idea in very simple words as follows [8].

# "One aspect of serendipity to bear in mind is that you have to be looking for something in order to find something else" (Block 2004).

World of carbon research has also met this type of serendipity in the year 2004. Unexpected evolution of a small portion of bright light emitting material along with the expected bulk product has astonished the researchers, as they were dealing with the member of dark community – carbon.

# 1.3.2 Preliminary Identification of fluorescent carbon -Electrophoretic purification of Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes (SWCNTs)

In 2004, Xiaoyou Xu, Robert Ray, Yunlong Gu, Harry J. Ploehn, Latha Gearheart, Kyle Raker and Walter A. Scrivens, a group of researchers in the Departments of Chemistry, Bio-chemistry and Chemical Engineering from the University of South Carolina and Presbyterian College- south Carolina were attempting the perfect purification of single walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) obtained through different synthesis techniques [7]. SWNTs obtained through arc-discharge

method are found to have more crude soot than that from vapourdeposition and laser ablation techniques. Owing to the excess quantities of impurities, arc-discharged soot were subjected to series of purification techniques including oxidative cutting, micro-filtration process etc. Arc-discharged SWCNTs were found to be characterized by unique structures of graphitic sheets. Hence, they were found to be strongly resistant towards oxidative purification process due to the strong oxidative stability of graphitic layers within the CNT structure. Micro-filtration also stood as an ineffective purification technique, as the excess amounts of particles in the crude soot quickly block the pores of filters. Hence, the existence of graphitic sheets within the SWCNTs made the purification of arc-discharged soot more complicated.

Xu and co-workers successfully overcome this issue regarding the effective purification of arc-discharged SWCNT soot, by conducting gel-electrophoresis of the crude soot. It was reported in literature that single walled nano-tubes may undergo migrations towards electrodes and the thus obtained sample containing nanotubes can be separated using capillary electrophoresis. But unfortunately the experimental techniques failed to do such a preparative electrophoresis purification of SWCNTs. Hence, this research team took an innovative effort for the purification of SWCNTs obtained through arc-discharge method, by conducting preparative electrophoresis of crude soot using agarose gel and glass bead columns. This gel-based electrophoresis proceeds through sieve effects of individual components of the analyte

sample get fractionated according to their different migration abilities upon the application of particular electric field towards the crude soot.

For the preparation of charged CNTs, the arc-discharged soot of SWCNTs were treated with nitric acid (3.3 Normal) followed by the extraction with aqueous sodium hydroxide solution having pH 8.4. Thus obtained aqueous extract is the crude suspension of SWCNTs, as it contains majority of the formed SWNTs and other soluble impurities that may be present within the arc-discharged SWCNT structures (30 Wt %). Further characterization confirms the fact that the sediment left after consecutive washes of crude suspension of SWCNTs possesses large amounts of graphitic sheets and bulk carbonaceous aggregates. This crude SWCNT suspension was subjected to the conventional gelelectrophoresis using 1% agarose gel slab by applying 600 Volts maintaining the reaction temperature at 55°C inside the unit. It was surprisingly observed that the crude SWCNT suspension was separated into three distinct classes of nanomaterials: (i) collection of long nanotubes which did not pierce the gel matrix, (ii) slowly moving dark bands corresponding to the collection of short tubular carbon and (iii) quickly moving multi-coloured bands indicating the mixture of highly fluorescent carbon nano particles. The Electrophoretic profile of crude sample under UV light illumination (365nm excitation) is displayed as well A in Figure 1.2. Well B represents the mixture of multi-colour emitting fluorescent carbon nano materials. It is further separated in to another three discrete bands showing three different coloured emissions upon 365 nm excitation of UV light. The digital image

displaying the aforementioned multicoloured emission by the three distinct bands of fluorescent nano carbon is provided below as Figure 1.2 (ii). Well C corresponding to mixture of short tubular carbon is further fractionated into two distinct classes of nanomaterials moving with two different electrophoretic mobility as wells D and E. As mentioned previously, the remaining set of long tubes of carbon agglomerates that are unable to penetrate the gel matrix was further subjected to mild acid assisted treatment for ensuring the purity of the crude soot. The long nanotube agglomerates were chopped in to nanotubes of desired size via harsh oxidative cutting. Thus obtained material was found to be able to penetrate the gel matrix when it was run on the gel. Well F of Figure 1.2 (i) denotes this chopped short carbon nanotubes. A small fraction of fluorescent carbon material was produced during the chopping process. Thus isolated fluorescent nano materials were further subjected to various characterization techniques for confirming the formation of homogenous carbon nano particles. FT- IR spectral data show the presence of carboxyl functionalities within the carbon nano particle.

In the year 2000, four years earlier to this unexpected discovery, Riggs and co-workers identified strong luminescent CNTs while dispersing and cutting down the polymer bound CNTs in homogenous organic solvents [30]. Regardless of this early identification by Riggs team, the aforementioned gel-electrophoretic purification by Xu et al. in 2004 was recognized as the serendipitous invention of fluorescent carbon nano dots, as they were able to perform successful isolation, detection and analysis of bright emitting multicoloured fluorescent carbon nano materials for the first time.



Figure 1.2 : Primary identification of Carbon dots; (i) Electrophoretic profile of SWCNT suspension in 1% agarose gel matrix under UV light of 365 nm wavelength; Well A- Crude suspension of SWNTs, Well B- Bright emitting fluorescent carbon materials, Well C- collection of short tubular carbon, Wells D & E – further separation of Well C and Well F- Chopped SWNTs. (ii) Digital image of the three different fractions of bright fluorescent carbon materials (well B of Figure i)

This unintentional birth of an elegant material, comprising a wide range of bright colours, tempted the researchers for executing conscientious efforts for recreating the formation of this light emitting carbon (fluorescent). This in turn offered a vast platform for probing out the hidden mechanistic route for their formation, and also detailed evaluation of its structure and features. From its surprising evolution on 2004, a series of sincere endeavours were reported in literature for making the picture of this "fascinating material" more evident , by formulating certain scientifically acceptable mechanism to explain its formation and properties. In spite of these meticulous researches, the scientific world still lacks an exact mechanism for explaining the evolution of such a colour emitting carbon material and satisfactory explanations to define its excellent fluorescent nature. This debatable circumstance regarding the existence, detailed structure and properties of this fluorescent carbon can be attributed to the words of great science philosopher Emmanuel Kant, who wrote "Accidental observations, made in obedience to no previously thought-out plan, can never be made to yield a necessary law, which reason alone is concerned to discover . . ." (Kant 1929/1965) while referring to classic experimental discoveries in Kant's vision of science [8].

#### 1.3.3 Different kinds of fluorescent carbon nanodots

Though there occurs a continuous leap in the synthesis of different types of fluorescent carbon nano particles, scientific community strictly lacks a general nomenclature which is capable enough to provide an indisputable understanding about their structure and features. As mentioned previously, during the first identification of fluorescent carbon by Xu et al, they coined the name "carbon quantum dot" without giving any satisfactory scientific evidences/clarifications to be called as "quantum dots"[7,9]. For them, any bright emitting particle in nano range might term as "quantum dot", no matter whether they possess quantum confinement or not. The title "quantum dot" was first used by the scientist Mark Reed, to define semiconductor nano materials with quantum confinement effect; size less than Bohr exciton radius / particles within a few nanometer range [10]. Excitons of these semiconductor nano particles were strictly confined to quantized energy levels, thereby named as semiconductor quantum

dots (SQDs). Owing to the similarities of the particles with semiconductor quantum dots in its fluorescence and nano scale dimensions, Xu and co-workers simply called the obtained luminescent by-product as "carbon quantum dots". Generally, all carbon nano particle surfaces contain a considerable percentage of oxygen atoms, making them water soluble and tunes them highly bio-compatible and less toxic. Though semiconductor quantum dots have received huge amounts of attention and practical applications, they were associated with certain drawbacks related to environmental and health issues. Majority of the semiconductor quantum dots were highly toxic and they tend to aggregate upon storage and release noxious heavy metal ions from the core to the exterior. This demerit was soon after overcome with the introduction of non-heavy metal based semiconductor quantum dots such as Zns, ZnO, ZnSe etc., This situation enhances the demand ofcarbon-based nano dots, as they offer environmentally benign and user-friendly fluorescence.

This intense urge for non-toxic fluorescent nano dots creates an exponential increase in the number of such "carbon quantum dots" in literature [11-22]. As earlier, scientists never probed deeper in to these materials to collect any scientific information regarding the structure and particle orientations to frame a universally acceptable theory to explain the mechanism and existence. Hence, it has to be admitted that majority of the fluorescent nano carbons were improperly labelled as "Quantum dots". This lack of precision about the description should be overcome by getting clear picture about both the concepts; "Quantum" and "dots". For this, one has to be well aware of the characteristics of

carbon dots including orientation of carbon atoms, structural patterncrystalline/amorphous, and also the dimensionality. Based on this, the wide collection of carbonaceous fluorescent nano dots can be simply classified into three main categories, as detailed below.

**Carbon Quantum Dots (CODs):** Fluorescent quasi-spherical carbon nano particles with well defined crystalline structure and quantum confinement can be termed as "carbon quantum dots". As carbon dots having crystalline arrangement, carbon quantum are nanostructures with perfect crystalline orientation are the most eligible precursors for them [21]. Majority of the researchers utilized carbon nano tube, the carbon nano material with perfect crystalline arrangement, as the excellent precursor to carbon quantum dots. Higher temperature assisted pyrolysis of bulk organic molecules can also yield CQDs. Being a carbon based material, CQD surface is abundantly decorated with oxygen containing functional groups. This makes them highly vulnerable towards functionalisation with several organic molecules and hetero atom insertions. The aforesaid surface functionalisation will enhance the properties of pristine CQD structure, thereby creating surface defects or excess amount of surface functional groups. Presence of these types of surface defects, impurities, functional groups etc, is counted as trap states of this material. The spherical nano carbon strictly follows "quantum confinement effect" akin to that of semiconductor quantum dots. But, unlike the case of the later, surface traps buried within the structure of former also plays a vital role in deciding the photo-luminescence mechanism along with the quantum confinement effect. Upon light irradiation, the aforesaid

photo-excited surface in entrapment of trap states result electrons/holes, followed by consequent recombination of these charge carriers leading to emission of radiation with lower energy / higher wavelength. Hence, the resulting fluorescence is not form a sole source. The synergistic action of carbon core, inherent quantization effect, as well as surface trap states are serving as the photoluminescence origin of carbon quantum dots [23,24]. CODs are characterized by comparatively broad fluorescence emission bands. They exhibit excitation dependant fluorescence emission. For them, continuous increment in the excitation wavelength results gradual shifting of fluorescence emission curve to higher wavelength, with successive reduction in its intensity. This excitation dependent fluorescence emission is an interesting observation, as semiconductor quantum dots, exhibit fixed emission curve irrespective of the excitation wavelength changes [21].

**Carbon nanodots (C-dot, CDs):** These are amorphous carbon structures having quasi-spherical morphology with particle size between 2 to 10 nm [21]. Carbon nanodots completely lack "Quantum confinement". Any organic material upon carbonization will yield carbon nanodots. They always exhibit wide fluorescence emission band, and emission curve of this material shifts gradually to the higher wavelengths while successively increasing the excitation wavelength. All carbon nanodots are hydrophilic and environmentally benign by nature. Researchers usually abbreviated this material as "C-dot", "CDs" and sometimes as C-nano clusters. As they are having nanometer diameter, they deserve the label "dots". But we cannot use

the word "quantum" to describe these materials, as they were devoid of quantum confinement effect. Due to the absence of quantization of excitons, their photo-luminescence emission cannot be connected with the general fluorescence mechanisms including collective excitonic effect and quantum confinement effect. It was found out that the fluorescence of these carbon nanodots arises to the superposition of assembled individual fluorophore units/emitters situated on the surface [25]. If the abovementioned individual emitter units were blocked/ attached with external agents including metal ions, organic molecules, bio-molecules etc., the inherent fluorescence intensity of the system will be suppressed/ quenched.

Graphene Quantum Dots (GQDs):  $\pi$  conjugated single sheets of carbon in nano scale dimensions with well defined quantum confinement effect are termed as graphene quantum dots. In simple words, they are disk of graphene having size in the range of 2 to 20 nm [21]. This laminar carbon quantum dots were identified in 2006, immediately after the appearance of the interesting class of fluorescent carbon nano dots. Graphene quantum dots are abbreviated as 'GQDs'. GQDs were generally synthesised from graphene based materials. Majority of the research works yield graphene quantum dots through oxidative cutting of carbonaceous materials including graphite, carbon fibres and carbon nanotubes via modified Hummer's method, oxygen plasma treatment, hydrothermal methods, organic synthesis using tiny fragments of molecules as precursors and electrochemical methods [26]. Graphene quantum dots possess an intact graphene structure as

their carbon cores are decorated well with oxygen bearing functionalities. The formation of GQDs, miniaturization of graphene, induces band gaps to the well exploited carbon structure 'graphene'. This is due to its innate quantum confinement effect, which further highlights the credibility of this invention. The aforementioned structural band gap created within the graphene core of GQDs serves as the intrinsic photoluminescence emission centre. As GODs are considered to be zero-dimensional graphene with non-zero band gap, the inherent light emitting feature of this nano material can be attributed to the conjugated  $\pi$  states of their core structure. Similar to the case of CODs, along with the quantum confinement effect of excitons, there exist other vital fluorescent centres within the GQD structure. Light irradiation of GQDs results in charge carrier excitations, followed by the radiative recombination of excited electron/hole pairs within the conjugated  $\pi$  / sp<sup>2</sup> states of its graphene core. Simultaneous to this intrinsic core-state emission, the surface defects as well as the surface functionalities together contribute towards the bright emission of GQDs [27-29]. Graphene quantum dots possess wide spectrum of applications including construction of bright light emitting diodes, solar cells, bio-sensors and molecular sensors, photo-detector manufacturing and organic photovoltaic diode fabrication etc.

As GQDs possess much lighter atoms than that of metal based quantum structures, they possess comparably low dielectric constant and very weak spin-orbit coupling. Regardless of these features, GQDs are marked with admirable charge carrier interactions, and thereby possess discrete electronic levels with strictly defined spin multiplicity. This leads to the creation of comparatively larger sized energy bands within GQD structure than that of conventional semiconductor quantum dots of similar size. Literature also shows that the absorption of a single photon results excess amount of exciton generation within GQDs [28,29,18]. This enhanced carrier-carrier interactions will gradually increase the number of carrier excitons, which further improves the efficacy of photo-excited carriers. Similar to CQDS, GQDs also possess comparatively broad emission bands with excitation wavelength dependant fluorescence emission curves [21].



*Figure 1.3: Classification of various fluorescent nano dots structures* The basic differences between carbon dots and semiconductor quantum dots are summarized in Figure 1.3 [21].

#### 1.4 Carbon dots- Features

As mentioned earlier, the comprehensive term "carbon nanodots" (CDs) is widely used for describing all fluorescent quasi-spherical carbon structures with diameter below 10 nm which lacks any necessary scientific proof of quantum confinement effects. Owing to their exciting features, CDs grabbed immense attention in scientific world. Majority of the research works are focused towards the fabrication of bright emitting CDs from various precursors adopting different synthesis routes [15,20,22]. This immensely growing interest produced numerous publications emphasizing the fabrication of CDs with significantly improved/tailored features, which tune these tiny carbon fragments as the multidisciplinary explored material during recent years. Fascinating fluorescence shown by the CDs makes them strong competitor for the commercially available organic fluorescent dyes and conventional semiconductor quantum dots. But, in contrast to metal based quantum dots and organic dyes, CDs possess a series of credible attributes including non-toxicity, good bio-compatibility, water solubility, temperature resistant non-blinking fluorescence and cost effective simple synthetic methods etc. [20,31, 32]. All these factors make them superior in position compared to those aforementioned conventional fluorescent analogies.

#### 1.4.1 Plausible structure of fluorescent CDs

The diversity of precursors used, methods adopted and post-chemical treatments make the precise determination of chemical structure of CDs is almost ambiguous. Generally, the structure of CDs is believed

to be composed of a carbogenic core hosting several functional groups, mainly of oxygen bearing groups, including carboxyl, carbonyl and epoxyl functionalities. As the core structure and the surface shells are relatively prone to the synthesis routes and the reaction parameters, aforesaid diversity leads to entirely different intrinsic architecture for CDs. This in-turn makes a qualitative comparison of different CDs practically impossible [18,23,25,33]. Regardless of this confusion, there are some interesting efforts in literature which involve systematic classification of the most probable core structures and morphologies of CDs [21,34]. In general, the core structure of CDs are evaluated with the aid of certain characterization tools including High-Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HRTEM), X-ray Diffraction analysis (XRD), Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) and Raman spectroscopy, whereas the connected surface groups were mainly analysed via Fourier-Transform Infra Red spectroscopy (FTIR spectroscopy) and X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS).

Literature presents some vague detailing related to the possible core structures of CDs, as follows. Hu and colleagues assigned a diamond like orientation for the core structure of CDs, based on the SAED pattern and ring radius ratio [35]. Some works reports sp<sup>2</sup> hybridized graphitic core domains with sp<sup>3</sup> defects. Valid inferences from the lattice spacing data from XRD analysis, C1s XPS details, Raman spectral profiles as well as the FTIR spectral bands clearly confirm this observation [36-42].Thermal decomposition of ammonium citrate salts yields blue emitting CDs, whose XRD pattern displays two broad peaks that are superimposed (one at 0.35 nm and the other at 0.49 nm), demonstrating defective carbon frame work [43]. For them, the core of CDs possesses carbonized components with highly disordered structural format comprising both aromatic as well as aliphatic moieties. This structural pattern strongly resembles the graphite oxide structure or interrelated networks of carbogenic materials including coal, lignite and humic contents.

Numerous reports were there in literature, suggesting extraordinary amorphous core structure for CDs via meticulous analysis of their XRD pattern and Raman spectral profiles [44-49,19].In addition, Liu and co-workers provided HR-TEM images of corresponding CDs, which lacks apparent lattice fringe patterns for illustrating the aforesaid amorphous nature [44].

Some authors report the presence of  $sp^2$  graphitic clusters within the oxygen containing amorphous carbon matrix of CDs, which is further scientifically backed by the HR-TEM images and Raman spectrum with more evident D and G bands (slightly different from pure amorphous carbon)[50-54]. They also point out the fact that the presence of more evident D band as well as the absence of 2D peak was solid enough to ensure the formation of partially graphitized  $sp^2$  clusters (other than the pure graphite form) embedded within the amorphous core [50]. Hence, these works classify CDs as a multicrystalline/amorphous carbon form bearing considerable quantity of  $sp^2$  clusters. For Zhu and group, the HRTEM image analysis was adequate enough to confirm the formation of amorphous particles lacking any distinct lattice fringes. This observation was further

illustrated using XRD pattern having distinct bands around  $25^{\circ}$  indicating highly disordered carbon frame with lattice spacing ~0.34 nm [51]. They also confirmed the presence of sp<sup>3</sup> aliphatic carbons and sp<sup>2</sup> clusters within the hydrothermally synthesied CDs by analysing <sup>13</sup>C NMR signals located around 30 ppm-45 ppm and 100 ppm- 185 ppm, respectively.

As mentioned earlier, the sp<sup>2</sup>-sp<sup>3</sup> mixed core was believed to be decorated with certain functional groups ranging from small groups to longer molecular chains, which is generally termed as surface functionalities. Owing to the lack of any kind of systematic awareness on the formation mechanism of such CDs structure, the Predictability of their chemical compositions still remains debatable. Irrespective of the enthusiastic efforts for unveiling the core structure details of CDs, attempts for identifying and classifying their surface structure was seldom reported. In 2017, an interesting investigation was done by Aji and co-worker which shed insight in to the surface moiety attached into the core structure of tannic acid derived CDs (acid catalyzed ester hydrolysis of tannic acid) [55]. Through this study, these authors portray a plausible formation mechanism for this CDs, which ends up with the formation of partially graphitized  $sp^2$  (cluster) core domains decorated with ellagic acid derivatives. This chemical structure was believed to be formed during the synthesis, which proceeds through the depolymerisation of precursor (tannic acid). The depolymerisation leads to the closure of two tannic acid moieties, that makes ellagic acid derivative .They also illustrate the presence of ellagic acid derivative

by the systematic analysis of Electro spray ionization mass spectroscopy (ESI-MS) signals, FTIR bands and XPS peaks of the CDs. As this work suggests, comprehensive understanding on the formation mechanism of the obtained CDs is inevitable for identifying the attached surface moieties, which may further help to predict the underlying fluorescence mechanism. Hence, based on careful analysis of the aforementioned class of experimental observations, one can definitely suggest a plausible architecture (general) for CDs that comprising a  $sp^2$  domain core decorated with oxygen rich functionalities (Figure 1.4).



Figure 1.4 : Plausible General Structural Framework of Fluorescent CDs.

#### 1.4.2 Synthesis methods of CDs

From the time of its first identification itself, these fluorescent carbon nano particles have gained remarkable attention among the research community, which subsequently resulted in enormous amount of efforts for their successful fabrication. Generally, the available synthesis pathways for CDs are classified into two categories: (i) Top-down approach and (ii) Bottom-up approach.

#### (a) Top-down synthesis approach for CDs

In simple words, Top-down synthesis techniques can be described as the process of nano-cutting, which involves dispersion/ destruction of macrostructures of carbon into desired nano dimensions via different chemical processes. Commonly, large carbon structures with sp<sup>2</sup> hybridization that lack efficient energy gaps/band gaps to exhibit fluorescence feature, were selected as the starting materials for the topdown processes. The precursors with aforesaid requirements include carbon nano tubes (CNTs) [7, 56] candle soot [57], carbon rods [58] carbon black [59] carbon fibres [60] and graphite powder [61]. These non-fluorescent bulk carbon structures were made fluorescent, by finetuning the surface chemistry and the size of the precursors. For this, the bulk precursor materials were subjected to various chemical and physical processes. Chemical methods include acid treatments, electrochemical methods, metal-graphite intercalation and oxidation processes [61]. Physical methods involve laser ablation, arc-discharge, ultra-sound assisted sonication etc. [61-66]

#### Laser Ablation Method

In Laser ablation technique, precursor is subjected to intense laser pulse irradiation creating higher temperature-pressure thermodynamic environment within the surface. This will lead to rapid heating of target material, which subsequently crystallizes to nanoparticles of desired dimension after transforming (vaporizes) through plasma state. [67-70]. The first report on laser ablation mediated synthesis of fluorescent CDs was presented by sun et al., [9], who used laser beams from Nd:YAG (1064 nm, 10 Hz) source maintaining argon atmosphere under 900°C and pressure of 75 kPa. Being one of the most efficient synthesis route to CDs, numerous scientists have adopted this laser assisted ablation process which ensures good aqueous dispersibility, narrow size distribution as well as fine fluorescence features. In 2009, Hu and co-workers demonstrated that the proper choice of organic solvent used during the laser operation would vary the surface state/ functionalities of CDs. thereby enabling fine-tuning of its luminescence properties [35]. Later in 2011, Li and group used laser ablation technique by altering the organic solvents in which the used carbonaceous target was dispersed, yielding CDs with interesting features including visible luminescence with tunable emission [71]. Despite the credibility and effectiveness of this method, the complicated operation and higher expense limit the wide usage of laser ablation synthesis of CDs.

#### Arc Discharge Method

As mentioned in the previous section, these fluorescent carbon particles were first identified by Xu and group quite unexpectedly during the Electrophoretic arc discharge purification of multi-walled carbon nano tubes (MWCNTs) [7]. The experimental observations were discussed in detail in the previous section. Various research groups have tried the arc discharge method, which yielded CDs attached with majority of hydrophilic functionalities which exhibit excellent water solubility [72]. Authors also reported that the arc-discharge synthesis of CDs ensures better reorganization of carbon atoms that decomposed from the macro/bulk precursor structure in the anodic electrode. During this process the carbon vapour assembles to form CDs in the cathode electrode [73,74]. Such arc discharge treatments were carried out inside a sealed reactor marinating very high temperature ambience (~ 4000 K) so as to produce high energy plasma for driving the entire reaction process. Bottini and group prepared bright fluorescent CDs via arc discharge treatment of pristine and oxidized SWCNTs, exhibiting violet-blue emission and blue to green emission respectively [75].

#### **Electrochemical Method**

In electrochemical synthesis methods, bulk carbon structures including CNTs, carbon fibres, graphite etc., are commonly used as the precursor (electrode) in presence of appropriate electrolyte solution. Electrochemistry assisted fabrication is considered as one of the widely practised synthesis techniques to achieve ultrapure CDs. This is the most facile and convenient route to CDs, which can be performed under ambient temperature-pressure environment [76-79]. Zhou and group first reported an electrochemical avenue for the fabrication of blue luminescent CDs from multi-walled CNTs using tetra-butyl ammonium perchlorate solution as the electrolyte [80]. Later, Zheng and group produced water soluble CDs with tunable luminescence using graphite as the electrode material maintaining neutral pH with phosphate buffer [65]. Thus obtained CDs were found to be a promising candidate for bio-imaging applications. Crystalline CDs which can act as an efficient photocatalyst were prepared by Li and coworkers via electrochemical treatment of graphite [58]. These CDs were found to exhibit size tunable up-conversion luminescence, a noteworthy photoluminescence behaviour. In 2015, Hou and colleagues fabricated bright blue emitting CDs by electrochemical treatment (carbonization) of urea and sodium.citrate in de-ionized water [81]. These blue emitting CDs find their application as an efficient optical sensor for toxic mercury ions with commendable selectivity and sensitivity. Though, electrochemical methods were strongly believed to construct highly efficient electrocatalytic materials, CDs processed through one-pot electrochemical treatments of bulk carbon structures seldom found their application as efficient electro-catalysts.

# Acidic Oxidation

Researchers mainly adopt acid treatments/ acidic oxidation method for exfoliating and further decomposing large carbon structures into luminescent carbon particles with nano-scale size. Along with the production of carbon nanoparticles, this method further ensures the simultaneous introduction of numerous hydrophilic groups (mainly carboxyl / hydroxyl) over the surface. This in-turn increases the aqueous solubility as well as luminescence features of the synthesised CDs [5,82-85]. Owing to their surface modifications and commendable aqueous stability, CDs obtained from such acidic oxidation processes were found to act as potent electro-catalyst [85]. In addition, Kim et al fabricated promising near-infra red emitting CDs via acidic oxidation treatment of tire soot, which found their application as efficient in-vitro and in-vivo bio-imaging tool [86].

# (b) Bottom-Up synthesis Approach for CDs.

Bottom-up synthesis of CDs involves simple polymerization or carbonization of various small molecules via different chemical reactions yielding small clusters of reacting species which finally burst out into nanoparticles of desired dimensions (below 10 nm). In brief, bottom-up methodologies generally involve carbonization/pyrolysis of carbohydrates, followed by organic synthesis of molecular species and self-assembling of several aromatic (polycyclic) hydrocarbon compounds. Contrary to the top-down synthesis methodologies, bottom-up methods do not demand any specific requirement for the precursors. Any carbonaceous material can be tuned in to bright emitting CDs via bottom-up route. Owing to this flexibility, bottom-up methods were considered as the most effective synthesis strategy for the large scale production of fluorescent CDs [87,88].

# Solvothermal Method

Solvent mediated synthesis of carbon nano dots are generally termed as solvothermal route. Hydrothermal synthesis methods usually involve the chemical processing of carbon nano particles in aqueous environment (in presence of solvents) under superheated conditions, i.e., greater than 100°C in sealed reaction containers/ vessels. This superheated condition imparts some favourable changes to the physical and chemical properties of water. Temperature between 150°C to 300°C (subcritical region) makes water more favourable for the dissolution of organic compounds [89,90]. Hydrothermal method generally involves comparatively simple experimental set-up. Majority of the hydrothermal reactions yield highly fluorescent carbon nano particles with commendably high quantum yield and almost uniform size distribution [91-94]. In brief, a typical hydrothermal approach involves dissolution of small organic moieties or polymeric materials in water or common organic solvents. This will subsequently lead to the formation of appropriate precursor, that assembles together to produce carbon seeding cores, which finally mature in to CDs of dimension below 10 nm [79]. One-pot hydrothermal synthesis strategy was first introduced by Zhang and group, which yielded CDs with 2 nm average particle size with quantum yield around 6.79 % from ascorbic acid in ethanol (solvent) medium [95]. In 2013, Zhu and coworkers fabricated highly fluorescent CDs from citric acid and ethylene diamine via hydrothermal route with considerably high production yield and was found to be potent biosensor, for tracing out ferric ion ( $Fe^{3+}$ ) in body cells [51].Full colour emitting CDs with controllable luminescence were synthesised by Hola and group via hydrothermal route, which exhibit tunable emission profile in accordance with alteration in the graphitic nitrogen content [96]. Recently, Lu and colleagues proved that hydrothermal condensation of bio-molecules with higher carbon and nitrogen content results in effective fine tuning of inner structures of CDs [97].

# **Micro-Wave treatment**

Being one of the most established green alternative energy source, utilization of micro-wave radiation for the fabrication of CDs is grabbing considerable amount of attention. In addition to the eco-friendliness or green nature, commendable time-saving efficiency, excellent reaction rate/ faster reaction and energy saving efficiency increases the credibility of this synthesis method. Generally, microwave assisted reactions involve simple carbonization of tiny organic molecules via microwave irradiation/heating for very short time period leading to the formation of carbon nano structures with size below 10 nm. First report on microwave synthesis of CDs with fine electrochemiluminescence features was made by Zhu and co-workers in 2009, using carbohydrates as the starting material [98]. Followed by this, numerous synthesis efforts were reported in this direction, yielding CDs with promising applications in various fields [99-104].

# **Pyrolysis Method**

Pyrolysis is considered as one of the facile reaction routes to luminescent CDs, utilizing several organic compounds as the starting material under very high temperature conditions in strongly acidic/alkaline medium. Guo and colleagues presented a very facile route to fluorescent CDs, which involves one-pot pyrolysis of human hair (keratin). Thus obtained CDs were able to serve as a potent sensing tool for one of the most noxious heavy metal ion, Hg<sup>2+</sup> with commendable selectivity and sensitivity. [105]. Similarly, another group developed promising fluorescent sensing tool for biologically
relevant ion, Fe<sup>3+</sup>, through simple pyrolysis of guanidinium chloride and citric acid. These Nitrogen doped CDs found their application in fields including metal sensing as well as bio-imaging and therapeutic purposes [106].



Figure 1.5: Schematic representation of Top-Down and Bottom-Up techniques to fluorescent CDs (a), List of various Top-down and Bottom-up synthesis methods commonly used to produce CDs (b).

#### 1.4.3 Physico-chemical features of CDs

In spite of the extensive exploration in the field of fluorescent carbon nano dots, the systematic investigation, design and control of the precise structure still remains incomplete. This intricacy in defining the structural aspects along with the wide diversity of CDs makes the quantitative elucidation of their physiochemical properties more difficult. Nano-sized fluorescent carbon particles can be considered as the superposition of carbonaceous core (bulk) and numerous surface states, joined together in different proportions. Among the common features of CDs, few of them including toxicity, and photo-stability are primarily dictated by the carbon core. Some other properties such as dispersibility and luminescence intensities were exclusively derived from attached surface functional groups. It was suggested that majority of physico-chemical features were determined by the combined action of bulk and surface functional groups [107,108]. Due to their very small size as well as the high aspect ratio, this collective effect of core and attached surface functionalities enables the understanding of the exact origins of physico-chemical features of CDs challenging. It was already established that the starting materials do have a decisive role in determining the specific functionalities enables on the carbonaceous core structure of CDs. Thus, carbon dots synthesised from different precursors via different reaction procedures possess entirely different physico-chemical features. Owing to the existence of diversified classes of CDs, a comprehensive understanding about their fundamental structure- physicochemical property relationship is very

important. The following section of this dissertation is entirely devoted for the meticulous discussion on their decisive features.

#### (I) Low- toxicity, Bio-compatibility and water solubility

These fluorescent nanomaterials possess numerous unique features which make CDs as a potent nano-probe in the field of science and engineering. One of the most interesting property associated with CDs are their commendable environmental friendly nature, whereas the conventionally used fluorescent probes such as organic dyes and semiconductor quantum dots are highly toxic and environment deteriorating. The inherent hazardous nature of metal based quantum dots can be connected with toxic elements including cadmium, lead and some rare earth metals present within their structure. Commercially available fluorescent organic dyes are considered as the major pollutant in industrial waste water. They were found to be extremely lethal, mutagenic and to some extent were reported to be highly carcinogenic towards several aquatic organisms and living body cells. It was scientifically proven that the light enhanced reactions within the widely used xanthene dyes may result acute proliferations of body tissues of vital organs. This will subsequently destruct the functioning of concerned body part. Contrary to these conventional fluorescent entities, the new entry, CDs are marked with commendable environmentally benign nature as they are composed of inherently nontoxic element "carbon". This admirable non-toxic nature as well as its bio-compatibility pave way to tremendous progression in engineering bright emitting CDs based bio-probes with considerably high stability.

Apart from the aforementioned bio-compatible nature, carbon nanodots are characterised by excellent water solubility, which further enhances the biological sustainability of CDs. This can be ascribed to the oxygen bearing functional groups, either derived from the starting material or produced during the synthesis procedure [109, 110]. Hence, these fluorescent carbon structures can serves as fundamental building blocks for developing diagnostic tools for monitoring living body cells and organisms (both in-vivo and in-vitro analysis). Several works were conducted on evaluating the cytotoxicity of bare CDs and doped CDs. Sun and co-workers that the arc-discharge derived CDs after 12 hr reflexing with nitric acid appeared to be non-toxic to living body tissues while conducting cytotoxicity assay. Most of the biological assay confirms that the cell viability of living body tissues of both humans and animals were do not affected by even under relatively higher concentration of bare CDs. This is achieved due to the combined effect of non-toxicity, bio-compatibility and water solubility of CDs. The commendable eco-friendliness of CDs was further substantiated by numerous research works in literature. In 2018, H. Li and colleagues developed extremely bio-compatible and non-toxic carbon dots which are able to enhance the growth of rice plants along with boosting its disease resistance capacity [111]. Owing to their inherent excellent hydrophilicity, these CDs increase the water absorption ability of rice plant seeds thereby accelerate the seed germination as well as ensure elongation of plant roots. According to this report, these graphite derived carbon dots enhance the plant life by providing increased diseases resistance capacity to the rice plant. This

is due to the augmentation of thionin (Os06g32600) gene expression by means of insertion into the DNA grooves. All together these CDs offer enhanced plant growth rate and better yield [figure 1.6].



Figure 1.6: Bio- compatibility of CDs; Bio-compatible CDs boosting the growth rate of rice plants by accelerating the seed germination, root elongation and enhancing their disease resistance capacity thereby ensuring better yield.

### (II) Optical features of CDs

The most intriguing feature that sets the position of CDs as the extensively explored carbon nano material, photoluminescence, remains as a hot area to debate. Researchers constantly put their efforts for unravelling the formation mechanism of CDs which may subsequently resolve the mystery regarding the understanding of the exact root cause of its photo-physical features. Meticulous investigation regarding the photo-physical properties of various CDs participation of three different strongly suggests the photoluminescence mechanisms as "plausible fluorescence origins". This includes (i) Quantum confinement effect, (ii) surface state effect and (iii) molecular fluorescence.

The 'photo-luminescence' can be defined in simple words as "the process of emission of light by system as a result of excitation using a collection of photons". In general, electron from the lowest energy level (ground state) of the system will be transported to higher energy level (excited state) utilizing the energy absorbed from the incident radiation source, upon excitation with an energy source.

The excited electron dissipates its stored energy in different manner, and finally returns to the lower energy ground level via two different modes of transition. This excited electron can either returns to the ground level by emitting radiation of definite energy (Radiative return) or it may return to the ground state without emitting any radiation (Non-radiative return). The former, transition of electron into the ground energy state with radiative emission always counts for the observed photo-luminescence of a particular system. Generally, nonradiative transitions to the lower energy levels do not play any role in the photo-luminescence behaviour. It accompanies the radiative transition upon photon-excitation due to the action of phonons that are converted into lattice vibrations which transfer energy as heat. For an efficient photo-luminescent material, radiative transitions should dominate over the transition of excited electron to the lower level without radiation emission.

The term photo-luminescence generally involves both fluorescence and phosphorescence, which can only differentiated based on electronic states of excited energy levels. To get a more precise understanding on the fate of photo-excited electron and the mechanistic route to luminescence emission, we have to use an energy state diagram, jablonski diagram. It is named after a polish academic, Aleksander Jablonski, who dedicated his entire life for the study about molecular absorbance and the process of light emission[112].





Generally, jablonski diagram arranges electronic levels in terms of energy and spin multiplicity; singlet ground state as  $S_0$ , singlet first state as  $S_1$ , singlet second state as  $S_2$ , triplet first state as  $T_1$  etc. It was established that each electronic energy levels of the fluorophore possess numerous vibrational energy levels (displayed in Figure 1.7). In a typical jablonski diagram, electronic transitions between each energy states upon absorption of light of definite energy are represented using vertical arrows. These arrows indicate the direction of electron movement which is commendably instantaneous in nature.

There is a thumb rule that both absorption and emission occur from the lowest vibrational energy levels of molecules of each electronic states (n=0). This is because at the room temperature the available thermal energy is not capable enough to considerably populate the vibrational levels of higher energy (n=1). Usually, it was observed that in accordance with the absorbed energy from the incident photon, the fluorophore will move in to higher order vibrational levels of electronic states either S<sub>1</sub> or S<sub>2</sub>. As evident from the Figure, the excited electron staying at higher energy state dissipates its stored energy in the form of several electronic relaxation processes between the electronic energy levels. The excited fluorophore may undergo nonradiative transition from a vibrational level of a particular electronic state towards another vibrational level of electronic state of lower order of same multiplicity (say, S2 to S1 non-radiative transition). This aforementioned non-radiative electronic transition is generally termed as internal conversion (IC), indicated as dotted lines in the jablonski diagram. Internal conversion arises due to the strong overlap between the electronic and vibrational energy levels. It was observed that as the energy of the system increases, the manifold of electronic energy states and vibrational energy states become closer. This in turn enhances the degree of possibility for the electronic movement between the strongly overlapped energy bands. The time scale for this internal conversion was found to be  $10^{-14}$  to  $10^{-11}$  s.

The photo-excited electron can release the stored energy through a radiative emission process from higher electronic level to lower electronic level of the same multiplicity, fluorescence, a slow process characterized with time scale around  $10^{-9}$  to  $10^{-7}$  s. Electron staying at higher energy states most often dissipates the energy via non-radiative relaxation processes including internal conversion. But, majority of the excited electrons residing at first excited states generally prefer fluorescence transitions to the energy states of ground electronic level. For the first excited electronic state, fluorescence may compete with other non-radiative electronic transitions. Though, internal conversion is much faster than fluorescence, generally the former seems to be less efficient for dissipating energy for an electron staying at  $S_1$  level. Vibrational and electronic bands of S<sub>1</sub> level possess larger energy separation than that of higher energy electronic levels  $(S_2, S_3 \text{ etc.})$ , where manifolds of vibrational levels closely overlap with the electronic levels. Hence, larger energy gap between the electronic and vibrational levels most often prefer radiative emission process, fluorescence rather than the non-radiative emission internal conversion for transitions from  $S_1$  to  $S_0$ . For fluorescence, energy associated with the emitted photon will be exactly same as the difference in energy between the electronic states of transition. But for electrons at higher electronic energy levels, some of the absorbed energy definitely lose through few non-radiative processes such as internal conversion during its transition to S<sub>1</sub> level. Hence, fluorescent photons always possess lower energy than that of exciting/incident photons. Owing to the presence of strongly overlapped numerous vibrational levels, which can couple with the aforesaid electronic transition, the observed fluorescence emission is usually arranged over a range of wavelengths.

The excited electron can proceed through the slowest electronic transition in the jablonski diagram, defined as inter system crossing (ISC). It is denoted using the horizontal dotted arrow directing from one column to the other. As the name indicates, this particular transition involves the movement of excited electron between two different systems designated with different electronic arrangements. Different from the aforementioned electronic transitions, internal conversion(IC) and fluorescence, this inter system crossing (ISC) undergoes spin conversion from singlet excited states to triplet first state  $(T_1)$ . This transition between two electronic states of different spin multiplicity is a kind of forbidden transition by selection rules. Hence, this may subsequently become weakly allowed electronic transition via incorporating vibrational factors with electronic selection rule. Due to this fact, rate constants associated with triplet emissions were found to be very smaller in magnitude than that of emissions conserving spin multiplicity (singlet to singlet transitions). Electron residing at the excited triplet level dissipates the stored energy by a radiative process while travelling to the ground level singlet state, phosphorescence. Phosphorescence was found to be generally shifted in to lower energy/longer wavelengths compared to fluorescence. It was noted that majority of the fluid solutions never exhibit phosphorescence, as there occurs a struggle between this radiative triplet emission with non-radiative deactivation/ quenching processes at room temperature. According to the selection rules, faster transitions were found to be more likely to happen than that of electronic movements with slower rate constants. Hence, time scales associated

with each possible electronic transition within the excited fluorophore system play a crucial role in determining the feasibility of concerned transition. General time scale values related with fundamental radiative and non-radiative transition processes are tabulated in table 1.1. Time scale values illustrate the fact that, the photo-excited electron more likely dissipates its energy via the spin conserving radiative transition, fluorescence, than that of triplet to singlet radiative transition, phosphorescence.

Transition	Type of Transition	Time scale (s)
Absorption	Radiative	10-15
Internal Conversion	Non-Radiative	10 <sup>-14</sup> to 10 <sup>-11</sup>
Fluorescence	Radiative	10 <sup>-9</sup> to 10 <sup>-7</sup>
Inter System Crossing	Non-Radiative	10 <sup>-8</sup> to 10 <sup>-3</sup>
Phosphorescence	Radiative	10 <sup>-4</sup> to 10 <sup>-1</sup>

Table 1.1 : Time scale values of basic electronic transitions of a photoexcited electron.

## Photoluminescence lifetime (τ)

Photoluminescence lifetime of a fluorophore reveals the average time duration that an excited molecule spends at the excited energy levels of the system for interacting with the environments prior to the its subsequent return to ground state. Lifeime can be expressed using the following equation,

$$\tau = \frac{1}{\Gamma + K_{nr}}$$

$$\tau = photoluminescence lifeime$$

$$\Gamma = Rate of radiative decay$$

$$K_{nr} = Rate of non-radiative decay$$

If all the probable non-radiative decays were restricted,  $K_{nr=0}$ , lifeime of the fluorophore can be termed as natural lifeime ( $\tau_n$ ).

$$\tau_n = \frac{1}{\Gamma}$$

#### Photoluminescence Quantum yield ( $\Phi$ )

For a fluorophore unit, one of the most important quantities that is used to characterize its fluorescence efficacy is its quantum yield. In simple words, photoluminescence quantum yield denotes the relative ratio of number of emitted photons to the number of absorbed photons.

Quantum yield, 
$$\Phi = \frac{\text{Number of emitted photons}}{\text{Number of absorbed photons}} = \frac{NE}{NA}$$

Generally, quantum yield serves as a significant index for deciding the practical applicability of the fluorophore unit as photo-devices, as it provides exact picture about the fluorescence efficiency of the system. Quantum yield gives direct indication about the luminescence intensity of the system, greater the Q.Y value of a fluorophore, brighter will be its emission. Surface functional groups present in the carbon dot structure plays a decisive role in determining its quantum yield. On examining the previous works, it can be stated that appropriate surface modifications can enhance the fluorescence intensity, and thereby the quantum yield of the system [32,113,114]. For example, for most of the CDs prepared from precursors possessing excess amount of electron withdrawing functionalities including carboxylic and epoxy groups, corresponding fluorescence quantum yield will be relatively low. This is due to the presence of electron withdrawing groups on the surface of CDs, which strongly reduces the electron density [115]. When this electron withdrawing groups were converted in to electron donating functionalities including hydroxyl group via surface engineering, electron density over the CDs surface will increase. This will in turn enhances the photoluminescence quantum yield of the system and consequently results brighter emission [116]. Along with this surface group conversion, hetero atom doping also serves as an efficient approach for enhancing the features of CDs, especially the Quantum Yield. It was noted that, Nitrogen, Sulphur co-doped CDs with orange emission prepared by Y.Zeng etal., and Sulphur doped highly fluorescent carbon dots synthesised by Q.Xu and co-workers are exhibiting very high quantum yield, greater than 65%. This hetero atom insertion results in considerable alteration in electronic arrangements and band gap of CDs. This results in drastic enhancement in the photo luminescent events of the excited

fluorophore, thereby achieving commendably high quantum yield [117,118]. Recently, researchers could fabricate CDs with very high Quantum yield value greater than 80% [119].

Generally, quantum yield of fluorescent sample is calculated in accordance with the following equation (1). Quantum yield calculations of fluorescent samples are always conducted with the aid of a standard fluorescent solution as reference. Quinine sulphate and Rhodamine dye solutions were commonly used as reference.

$$\mathbf{Q}_{s} = \mathbf{Q}_{R} \frac{\mathbf{I}_{s}}{\mathbf{I}_{R}} \frac{\mathbf{A}_{R}}{\mathbf{A}_{s}} \frac{\mathbf{\hat{H}}}{\mathbf{\hat{H}}_{R}} \times 100$$

Qs	:	Quantum yield of sample	
Qr	:	Quantum yield of reference	
Is	:	Integrated emission intensity of sample	
I <sub>R</sub>	:	Integrated emission intensity of reference	
As	:	Optical density of sample	
A <sub>R</sub>	:	Optical density of reference	
ns	:	Refractive index of sample	
n <sub>R</sub>	:	Refractive index of reference	

Basically, irrespective of the diversified synthesis routes and starting materials, CDs exhibit broad spectrum of absorbance maxima in the ultra-violet region between 220-300 nm which can be connected with  $\pi$ 

-  $\pi^*$  electronic transitions corresponding to -C=C- bonds (carbon frame work of core). Along with this absorbance maximum, there will be a small tail extending to the proximity of visible region, denoting the n - $\pi^*$  transitions of -C=O groups within CD structure [11,120].



Figure 1.8 : General optical response of CDs under excitation at 360 nm; (a) UV-Visible absorbance spectra (red line) and photo-luminescence emission spectra (black line), (b) typical excitation (red line) and emission curves (blue line) of CDs.

Chemical and mechanical alterations including doping, surface functionalisation and size/ defect site controlling may cause slight shift in the aforesaid optical trend (positions of absorbance curve). These modifications strongly influence the electronic nature of bare CDs, thereby resulting in significant alterations in the  $\pi$ - $\pi$ \* energy states [121]. It was found that the surface defects/surface traps present within the CDs structure are responsible for the broad nature of its absorption spectral curves [122]. If the surface functional groups of CDs are substituted with hetero atom (nitrogen, sulphur and phosphorus) bearing organic groups, significant variations within the energy gap (HOMO-LUMO energy levels will be resulted. This will definitely cause considerable shifts of band maxima in the UV-visible absorbance spectra.

Different from the UV absorbance spectra, photo-luminescence emission curve will vary in accordance with the starting materials and synthesis methods. Fluorescence emission maxima may shift either to the lower wavelength or to the higher wavelength, even with minute changes in the reaction parameters. These fluorescent CDs possess commendable resistance towards photo-bleaching. Majority of the CDs so far synthesised CDs withstand prolonged irradiation of UV rays without any remarkable reduction in their photo-luminescence intensity (3 to 5 hrs). This interesting feature of CDs further highlights the credibility of this non-toxic fluorescent carbon over the conventional fluorescent organic dyes which were reported to be highly susceptible towards photo-bleaching. Typical luminescence emission spectra of CDs cover wide range of wavelengths. Majority of the emission curves are situated in the blue-green wavelength region (450-520 nm). Optimal emission at longer wavelength region beyond 550 nm is exhibited by small fraction of synthesised CDs under excitation at 350 nm. This excitation and emission photoluminescence curves of CDs displayed below as Figure 1.8(b).

Few CDs were found to possess an interesting behaviour, upconversion luminescence. This is found to be highly desirable for a fluorophore entity to render itself as a potent candidate for a wide spectrum of applications in fields including energy harvesting, light display devices, bio-imaging and medical therapy etc,.[43,123,124]. Fundamentally, up-conversion photoluminescence is considered as a non-linear effect in which manifolds of excitation photons with lower energy results emission of higher energy photons. Due to this interesting feature, the emission maxima of CDs will be situated at shorter wavelength region even under excitation at longer wavelength. CDs with this up-conversion luminescence property were marked with inherent capacity to penetrate deeper in to body tissues without resulting any harmful effects to living cells. Owing to this aforesaid ability, many CDs successfully find their role in sensing of several body tissues including HeLa cells [20,22,125]. Recently, hydrothermal treatment of citric acid yielded bright emitting CDs with up-conversion fluorescence feature .Photoluminescence emission curve of these CDs appears at UV-visible range upon excitation with near infrared (NIR) wavelength [126].

# Tunable photoluminescence – Excitation dependant fluorescence emission

One of the most interesting observations about CDs is the tunable fluorescence emission, the continuous shifting of emission curves upon gradual change in excitation wavelength. This tunability in fluorescence emission maxima serves as the unique feature of carbon nano dots, which render them potent candidates in various fields of analytical chemistry [34,20,22,127].The digital image showing the aforesaid excitation wavelength dependent multicolour fluorescence emission of carbon nano dots is displayed in Figure 1.9. CDs could exhibit fluorescence emission over a wide range of wavelength, across the entire visible spectral region, covering blue to red with the gradual increment in the excitation wavelength. As evident from the bottom panel of Figure, gradual increment in excitation wavelength results continuous shift in the position of emission peaks, though the intensity was found to be gradually reducing upon increase in the excitation wavelength. This is due to the decreased optical absorption in visible spectral range under this condition.



Figure 1.9 : Excitation dependent fluorescence emission of CDs; Digital photographs showing multicolour fluorescence emission by CDs in accordance with gradual change in excitation wavelength ( excitation wavelengths corresponding to each emission is labelled in the image) (a). Typical photoluminescence spectra of CDs displaying excitation wavelength dependent fluorescence emission (excitation wavelength is labelled in the inset) (b).

Though tunable photoluminescence emission serves as the most intriguing feature of CDs, researchers still do not have a scientifically acceptable explanation about its origin and mechanism. Based on detailed literature survey, majority of the authors suggest it is the structural "inhomogeneity" of CDs derived from different precursors via extremely different reaction conditions, that is responsible for the excitation dependant emission behaviour. This wide range of diversity existing in the structural pattern of CDs brings several disorders, which play a decisive role in tunable fluorescence emission, that the other conventional fluorescent analogies lack. Even though researchers suggest the observed structural heterogeneity (disorder/ defect) as the core reason for the excitation dependant fluorescence emission, indisputable explanations and evidences for corroborating this proposal are still lacking. This is mainly because of the ambiguity regarding the exact structure and the underlying photoluminescence mechanism of CDs. On one hand, scientists still fails to design a synthesis procedure yielding CDs having adequate homogeneous structural features including narrow and uniform size distribution and precise formula of chemical composition. On the other hand, the exact root cause of the observed fluorescence still remains a hot topic for debate, which makes the efforts for explaining the tunable fluorescence more challenging. This fact strongly demands systematic and highly focused attempts to specifically pinpoint the structural features that necessitate detailed tuning for obtaining CDs with spectroscopically uniform optical properties. Though there are more than thousand publications discussing the excitation dependent fluorescence emission of CDs, none of the studies suggest a widely acceptable conclusion. Majority of the attempts produce highly contrast observations and justifications regarding the tunable emission of CDs [34]. Hence, scientific explanation and systematic controlling of tunable fluorescence emission of CDs over the wide range of visible spectrum remains as a great irony in literature. On the ground of fundamental concepts on photoluminescence emission, this fluorescence tunability is believed to be arising from the emission form various electronic states with single excitation, where each electronic state possesses different emission behaviour. This aforementioned statement is just a hypothesis, which requires intense experimental efforts and systematic approaches for proving the authenticity.

## 1.4.4 Brief discussion on possible origin of photoluminescence

Despite the intense research regarding CDs, the precise mechanism or root cause for their observed fluorescence still remains a topic of debate. Wide range of diversity among the precursors used, synthesis methods adopted and post-synthetic treatments tunes the system as the most intricate one. This will impart different optical features to the system. This complexity regarding the structural aspects and the optical features restrict the formulation of a unanimous fluorescence mechanism in CDs. Hence, the origin of unique photoluminescence of these nano particles still remains mysterious. As mentioned in the previous section, the currently suggested root causes of fluorescence include (i) Quantum confinement effect/ core state emission (ii) surface state emission and (iii) Molecular fluorescence.

## (I) Quantum Confinement Effect

It was already established that, when the size of a particle approaches smaller dimensions, below exciton Bohr radius, quasi-continuous electronic level adjacent to Fermi energy level shifts into the discrete levels of energy. This may leads to the strictly confined motion of carriers, thereby exhibiting size dependent optical and electronic features, the Quantum Confinement Effect (QCE). Hence, being a quasi spherical nano material with very small size of the order < 10 nm, the unique emission process by carbon quantum dots can be indisputably connected with the aforesaid QCE associated with the extensively conjugated carbon core. Several research works were there in the literature, endorsing this size dependant optical features/ quantum confinement as the major root cause for fluorescence of CDs [58,60,128,129].

Some of the reports suggest that, it was the graphene like structural orientation of carbon quantum dots, which is solely responsible for this intrinsic fluorescence emission related with the extensively conjugated  $\pi$  domain of carbon core. This tiny carbon form exhibits interesting optical and electronic properties extremely different from the bulk counterparts. Generally, bulk graphene is never expected to exhibit any kind of luminescence behaviour because of their zero optical band gap [130]. But the energy of excitons in graphene strictly follows scaling laws corresponding to considerable alterations in size. Hence, conversion of graphene fragments into few nanometre scale will results zero-dimensional quantum confined system. This aforesaid size reduction imparts non-zero band gap to the graphene structure, thereby facilitating size-dependant optical features, which are extremely different from their bulk analogies. As mentioned earlier, owing to their zero dimensionality and conjugated core structure connected with light constituent elements, several investigations on fluorescence mechanism of CDs strongly emphasize on this QCE.

Normally, this size dependent / band-gap dependent energy relaxation dynamics of zero-dimensional nano carbon can be depicted as shown

in Figure 1.10. As evident from the Figure, decrease in particle size brings more confined orientation of excitons which consequently enhances the recombination energy (increase in energy gap). Hence, based on QCE, size reduction tunes emission into lower wavelength region/ higher energy region. As the Figure suggests, gradual decrease in the size of nanoparticle shifts the emission from higher wavelength region (red) to lower wavelength region (blue).



Figure 1.10: Illustrating the concept of Quantum Confinement Effect: (a) as the nanoparticle becomes smaller in size, more confined will be the orientation of electron-hole pair (excitons) (b) Further spatial confinement of excitons by the size reduction increases the recombination energy, thereby the energy gap.

Literature witnessed lot of evidences for the occurrence of QCE within the system. Kim and group investigated the influence of carbon dot's size on their optical features by conducting fluorescence and absorbance measurements of a series of CDs with different sizes, ranging from 5 nm to 35 nm having different morphologies [131]. Their studies revealed the fact that the absorption peak energy of CDs decreases with increase in their size and corroborates the occurrence of OCE. Li and co-workers further states the aforesaid size-dependent fluorescence emission through their research work involving optical studies of different sized CDs (1.2 to 4 nm) separated via column chromatography technique [58]. In this work, the smallest CDs having size ~ 1.2 nm exhibit ultraviolet light emission, CDs with intermediate size, i.e., between 1.2 to 3 nm emit visible light and the larger CDs ( greater than 3.5 nm) results near-infra red emission. This observation indicates the band gap reduction upon enlargement of particle. In addition, numerous works are there in literature demonstrating the size dependant absorbance and emission profiles of CDs [122,131]. These bunches of works presenting multi-colour emission by different sized CDs having identical chemical composition tentatively recommend the QCE as one of the major causative of observed fluorescence feature of CDs.

Despite this suggestion, various experimental evidences substantiating the influence of several extrinsic factors (surface functional groups, surface defects/ charge traps, extent of functionalisation) on the emission of CDs [9,128,132] strongly recommend another probable mechanistic route for the observed luminescence feature of these nano materials. Furthermore, studies by Wen and group as well as the recent observations made by Sciortino and co-workers [133,134] reveal that upon size reduction, CDs exhibit noticeable red-shift in the electronic transition energy, strictly offending the concept of QCE. Hence, for better understanding of the fluorescence behaviour of CDs, along with the intrinsic energy states, the vital role of extrinsic factors in determining their optical properties should be considered

#### (II) Surface State Emission

As stated above, majority of the research works demonstrated that the fluorescence emission feature of CDs could be appreciably fine-tuned by altering their surface states. Since the invention of these fluorescent nano carbon fragments in 2004, the most widely accepted origin of their luminescence was connected to their unique surface features. This was further endorsed by numerous research works in the absence of valid convincing experimental proofs [22,34]. According to this concept,  $sp^2$  domain core of the system serves as the receptor/ antenna of incident photon and then transfers the absorbed photons to the surface of CDs. This will initiate surface mediated emission processes, involving the contribution of surface functionalities, surface defects/ extent of surface oxidation. The significant role of surface functional groups was successfully manifested through several literature reports. This includes reports on surface passivation mediated fluorescence intensity enhancement, pH dependant emission behaviour, solvent controlled luminescence and the strong influence of extent of surface oxidation in determining the emission efficiency, thereby the quantum yield [22, 32, 34].

## Role of surface functional groups in determining fluorescence emission of CDs

Various studies on surface mediated luminescence tuning suggests the possible interference of core state derived QCE by surface oriented factors such as traps/defects/chemical conversions of functional groups/insertion of hetero atoms [34,36]. In such cases, the so-called surface traps serve as the effective centre for radiative/non-radiative recombination of excitons, thereby causing photo-luminescence. Despite the intense research regarding the surface oriented exciton transitions of CDs, fundamental awareness on the nature of surface traps/defects and the extent of contribution from each surface moiety towards the shifting of emission wavelengths still remains rather unclear. Surface functional groups present on CDs play decisive role in determining surface energy level as well as the level gap. During the early periods of first identification of CDs, a group of researchers provided experimental evidences confirming the significant role of surface passivation for tuning the emission process. This was done by Sun and colleagues, who submitted proofs claiming appreciable enhancement in fluorescence quantum yield by surface passivation using the chemical agent, PEG-1500N [9]. Later, works by Bourlinos et al and Yang and colleagues scientifically back-up this aforesaid observation evidences through solid showing improved photoluminescence features assisted by surface modifications/ passivation [43, 135]. Wang and colleagues demonstrated that the fluorescence emission wavelength can be effectively fine-tuned by proper alteration of surface functional groups [136]. They manifested

that the fluorescence centres were evenly distributed over certain special edge states (especially carbonyls). As the aforesaid functional groups strongly influence the emission behaviour, the proper engineering of CDs surface eventually tunes their fluorescence profile. Research work byTetsuka et al. showed that CDs decorated with nitrogen (N) atoms bearing functional groups obtained via dehydration reactions and nucleophilic substitutions possess tunable energy gap/band gap spanning from 1.30 to 2.23 eV. This will subsequently result in wide range tunable multi-colour emission from blue to red. It can be attributed to the orbital resonance of N moieties with CDs [137]. The inevitable role of surface functional groups on deciding the fluorescence pattern of CDs was well demonstrated by Zheng and coworkers. They report that the presence of a reducing agent could shift the emission wavelength as well as the fluorescence efficiency [138]. As evident from Figure 1.11 (a), feeble green emission by original CDs shifts in to bright blue emission upon chemical treatment using the reducing agent, Sodium borohydride. According to this report, quantum yield of original CDs increases from 2 to 24% upon the reduction process, strictly confirming their surface controlled luminescence feature. The significant role of surface functional groups was further established through the repeated cyclic shifting of emission maximum wavelengths of CDs between green (~ 520 nm) to blue (~ 450 nm) region upon consecutive switching of reduction and oxidation processes. Immediately after this work, Zhu et al. further illustrated the crucial role of surface oxidation process on deciding the fluorescence emission colour and intensity [139]. Similar to the action of oxidationreduction treatments, presence of nitrogen containing functional moieties also results effective surface passivation, providing enhanced photo-luminescence features [140].Theoretical evidence illustrating the significant role of Nitrogen bearing surface groups for determining the emission characteristics of CDs were provided by Jin and group in 2013. They investigated the dramatic influence of  $-NH_2$  groups causing red-shift of luminescence emission. As evident from Figure 1.11 (b) gradual increment in the number of  $-NH_2$  group results continuous decrease in the band gap, thereby red-shift of luminescence wavelength [141].



Figure 1.11: Role of surface functional groups in determining fluorescence emission of CDs; (a) Pictorial representation of reduction induced shifting of luminescence emission colour, inset: original CDs with green emission (left) and blue emission by reduced CDs (right).(b) Graphical representation indicating relationship between number of -NH2 groups and band gap of CDs.

Moreover, research work by Hu and colleagues provided effective experimental proofs illustrating the surface functional group controlled fluorescence features of CDs. Results of this work corroborate well with theoretical calculations [142]. Through this report they demonstrated the fact that the insertion of functional groups like oxygen into the surface structure of CDs introduces several electronic levels/states within the bandgap. This will leads to red-shifted emission with low quantum yield. Reduction induced blue-shift and oxidation induced red-shift by CDs were also successfully presented by the authors using sodium borohydride and ortho-phosphoric acid as reducing and oxidizing agents respectively. A group of scientists ascribed the red-shifting of fluorescence emission to the presence of electron withdrawing surface groups, especially -COO<sup>(-)</sup> groups. Such systems are generally marked with decreased electron density and comparatively low quantum efficiency [ 37]. In addition to this observation, the fluorescence efficiency/ quantum yield of CDs was found to be almost doubled via simple chemical surface modification involving conversion of electron withdrawing groups into electron donating groups. This observation further illustrates dramatic influence of chemical characteristics of surface functionalities for designing luminescence profile of CDs [116].

#### Influence of degree of surface oxidation

Many studies are there in literature, that emphasises the finding that the luminescence feature of CDs was exclusively determined by the extent/degree of surface oxidation [22,45,122]. These works suggests that the number of surface traps/defects will increase with increase in the degree of surface oxidation. This will enhance the entrapping of excitons and subsequently ends up with red-shifted emission while recombination of these trapped excitons [122]. Xu et al., presented TEM images of two different CDs having variable degrees of oxidation, as evidence to illustrate the crucial role of surface oxygen content in deciding the structural pattern and carbon core design. The report demonstrates that this may subsequently leads to extremely different photo-luminescence characteristics for CDs [143]. This oxidation controlled red-shifting of luminescence emission was further cited by several authors. Xiong and group reports that the blue emitting single CDs exhibits multi-colour emission spanning around greenyellow-orange to red colour region while gradually increasing the degree of surface oxidation [22, 122, 142,144]. According to an interesting work by Hu and colleagues, the oxygen species incorporated via surface oxidation process is closely related to the alignment of energy levels or band gaps of the system. These reports also suggest that the increase in the amount of surface oxygen content/ degree of surface oxidation tremendously reduce the band gap of CDs, thereby causing red-shifting of luminescence emission [142]. Research work by Bao and group strongly supports this observation, in which they synthesised two different CDs with variable oxygen content adopting electrochemical procedures. They noted blue colour emission for the one with lower degree of oxidation whereas the highly oxidized CDs have green colour fluorescence [122]. Schematic presentation of fluorescence emission profile of CDs related to the degree of surface oxidation is provided in Figure 1.12.



Figure 1.12 : Fluorescence emission profile of CDs based on the extent of surface oxidation.(a) schematic representation indicating reduction of band gap of CDs with increasing oxygen content,(b) digital images showing multicolour emission upon gradual increment in the degree of surface oxidation.

In addition to these findings, there are some recent works proposing the synergistic action of carbon core oriented QCE and surface state emission for determining the fluorescence behaviour of CDs [36,145]. Systematic investigation on the contribution of structural orientation and surface characteristics was done with the aid of several advanced characterisation tools like time-correlated single photon counting measurements. These attempts revealed that fluorescence features of some CDs could be adjusted by fine-tuning the size of carbon core (QCE) as well as by the chemical conversion of surface groups (alterations to the alignment and number of surface traps). Currently, Liu and group presented a series of full colour emitting CDs obtained via hydrothermal process followed by column chromatographic purification. These CDs were found to exhibit red-shifted fluorescence emission, which can be strongly attributed to the synergistic action of increment in particle size and extent of surface oxidation/ modification [146].

#### (III) Molecular Fluorescence

In addition to the aforementioned reasons of luminescence, current research works propose an alternative suggestion for the observed fluorescence behaviour, molecular fluorescence. This is believed to be arising from simple organic molecules existing in the reaction mixture as an impurity/ side-product or may found to be connected with the dot structure itself as an undesired part of the product [147,148]. Along with this, some research groups attribute the dual emission profiles of the CDs to the aggregates of number of molecular chromophores [149,150]. Some other reports even declare the crucial role of freely existing molecules that are diffused in the solution for determining their fluorescence characteristics [151].

Quantum of research works published recently claims that the small luminescent molecular derivatives produced alongside with the synthesis process, i.e., during the carbonization of precursors both in the aqueous medium and organic solvents , were able to serve as the major source of the observed fluorescence of CDs [22].As a strong supporting experimental evidence, one can present the interesting research work done by song and co-workers, discussing the fabrication of two types of blue emitting CDs, one with excitation dependant emission characteristic and the other with non-tunable fluorescence emission profile [24]. According to this report, excitation dependant luminescence activity of former set of CDs can be ascribed to the sizedependant luminescence mechanism involving the core structure of CDs, QCE. The non-tunable fluorescence emission was fully devoted towards the presence of organic molecules in the medium either existing as free molecules or firmly connected to the CDs surface.

Investigation on emission behaviour of CDs obtained from citric acid as well as the Nitrogen containing precursors suggests that the incomplete carbonization/ partial decomposition of precursors definitely ends up with the production of some inherently fluorescent molecular fragments such as 2-pyridone derivative [147,152] including citrazinic acid [148, 150, 153] which further alters the core structure under higher temperature conditions[24,154,155]. According to the established results, these luminescent by-products (citrazinic acid) conventionally exhibit blue emission around 420-440 nm [156], which is perfectly merged with the expected emission range of blue emitting CDs. Hence, it was found to be very difficult to discriminate the emission by the molecular fluorophore from the emission exerted by the dot structure itself. The only striking difference was the emission by such by-products (chromophore molecules) found to be entirely independent of excitation wavelength alterations, whereas the CDs when excited under lower energies, exhibit strongly tunable emission characteristics [24]. Righetto and co-workers clearly demonstrated the

free molecule oriented luminescence emission process with the aid of advanced characterization techniques including time-resolved electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy and fluorescence correlation spectroscopy [151]. Schneider and group provided experimental evidence demonstrating the existence of single chromophore unit in two different ways; one set of molecules attached to the surface and the remaining set as free molecules in the solution medium, as the detailed analysis depicts bi-exponential decay kinetics for the CDs emission peak at 430 nm [156].



Figure 1.13 Diagrammatic presentation comprising the major sources of luminescence of CDs.

#### **Concluding Remarks**

As mentioned previously, wide range of diversity among the structure and synthesis methods of CDs hinder the predictability of exact structure, fluorescence mechanism and thereby their particular photophysical features. With these, we wind up the discussion on the current understanding on possible fluorescence origins of CDs. This area still remains as a hot topic for debate due to the lack of comprehensive methods for the fabrication of CDs with desired structural pattern and functional orientations.

#### Surface passivation/modification induced fluorescence enhancement

Since the time of discovery, it was observed that bare surface structure of CDs was very much prone to external impurities/contaminants, which may render them defenceless and consequently reduce their photoluminescence efficiency. In addition, presence of dangling bonds, radicals as well as non-radiative centres may also result in fading of optoelectronic characteristics of bare CDs. Hence, researchers spend their time for introducing a protection layer over the surface of CDs, for ensuring long term stability and enhanced fluorescence features. Insertion of such passivating layers result in the formation of an insulating capping shield, ensuring protection from adhesion of contaminants / impurities. This will bring remarkable enhancement in the photoluminescence quantum yield and photo-stability of CDs. Scientists generally chose the surface passivating agents in such a way that they should not bear any visible/near-UV chromophore units so that the surface introduced protecting agents will not interfere with the emission profile of CDs. Commonly used surface passivating agents were polymers.

Surface passivation was first reported in 2006, in which usage of diamine-terminated oligomeric poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG1500N) as surface protecting agent yielded water soluble CDs with remarkably

high quantum yield and commendable photostability for several hour [32]. Followed by this, several similar attempts were made frequently by the researchers, for passivating the surface layers of CDs using chemical agents including Polyethyleneglycol(PEG), polyethylenimine (PEI) [157], PEG 1500N [44,61,135,158], PEG 200N [98,159], PEG 600N[160],PEG 2000N [161], poly-(propionylethylenimine*co*ethylenimine) (PPEI-EI) [17] and PEG 4000N [162], 1hexadecylamine [163] and 4,7,10-trioxa-1,13-tridecanediamine [61, 82]. Lu et al, presented credible enhancement of quantum yield of CDs (electrochemical exfoliation of graphite electrodes) by means of passivation using ionic liquid[64].

Along with the surface passivation process, the optoelectronic features of CDs were also found to be strictly fine-tuned by the modification of surface functionalities. This can be achieved by chemical conversions using acid treatments/ addition of reducing agents/ alkali treatments/ pyrolysis/insertion of chemical groups / oxidation processes etc [43,57,164]. This process of tailoring functional features of CDs is generally termed as surface functionalisation and assures improved optical characteristics including higher quantum yield, commendable photo and thermal stability and fluorescence intensity. Hence, surface functionalisation tunes them as potent candidates in the field of sensing, bio-medical diagnosis, photo-catalytic devices, energy structure and mechanical property engineering [36].

#### Photo induced redox property- Carbon dots as electron donor/acceptor

In addition to the interesting features discussed so-far, CDs could also act as excellent redox agents. This feature of CDs can be ascribed to the spontaneous charge separation that occurs within the structure upon light irradiation. There are numerous reports in the literature, exploiting the aforesaid photo-induced electron donor as well as electron acceptor character of carbon dots [58,165-167].CDs when subjected to light irradiation, the charge carriers (electrons and holes) will be generated within the system. These carriers will be transferred to the species introduced externally to the system, the analytes. This results in quenched fluorescence intensity of CDs when combined with electron-donating/electron-accepting molecules. The first report on such a photo-excited electron donating/accepting carbon dot was by X.wang and group in 2009. They presented electron donating action of CDs by discussing the efficient quenching of its fluorescence intensity while interacting with strong electron acceptors like 4-nitrotoluene and 2, 4-dinitrotoluene. At the same time, they also reported sensitive fluorescence quenching with the introduction of electron donors like N,N-diethyl-aniline (DEA), illustrating the electron accepting nature of CDs. In the absence of a precise scientific photoluminescence mechanism, authors propose an assumption that the introduction of such an electron donor/acceptor analyte molecule may induce strong disruption to the radiative recombination on the functionalized surface of CDs. This will definitely fade its fluorescence efficiency, resulting selective and sensitive quenching of their luminescence intensity [168]. This dual role of CDs enhances the scope of their applicability in wide
spectrum of areas including photo harvesting studies, light driven instruments, photocatalytic units when coupled with potent semiconductor surfaces for hydrogen evolution and pollution abatement [169,170].

As this unique feature tunes CDs as a promising candidate in various light energy conversion processes, researchers invest more time for probing the fundamental cause of this redox behaviour, which is still at its infancy. It was found that the dynamics of this interaction between the quencher and the CDs cannot be monitored with standard spectral tools, as they are in the order of picoseconds or less. Therefore, detailed investigation on the underlying mechanism of this electrondonor acceptor interaction between the CDs and the analytes strictly demands the aid of ultrafast spectroscopic techniques. As the usage of such ultrafast studies was still rare in the field, it restricts the progress of this investigation. Fortunately, some ultrafast spectral techniques are being used for analysing the precise mechanism of such interactions, recently. which is believed to shed light into the underlying physical and chemical interactions between the molecules. Xie and co-workers designed carbon dot sensitized TiO2 which can act as an excellent photo-catalytic device as well as a good photo-sensitizer, owing to commendable accepting their electron and donating nature ,respectively[171]. As displayed in Figure 1.14 (a), carbon dots (pictured as yellow seeds) accept charge carriers originated from photo excited TiO<sub>2</sub> surface, which slows down/suppress charge carrier recombination. This will enhance the rate of chemical processes within the hybrid and tunes it as an excellent photo-catalytic device. Authors

also discuss the electron donor action of carbon dots (Figure 1.14 b), in which carbon dots successfully transfer the photo-excited electrons to the coupled  $TiO_2$  surface, thereby extending the catalytic performance of the composite in the entire visible region.



Figure 1.14: Dual photo-electronic action of carbon dot (yellow seeds) when coupled with TiO2 semiconductor (blue block); (a) CDs as an electron acceptor (electron sink) from the TiO2 surface enhancing the catalytic activity of semiconductor material, (b) CDs as an electron donorgenerating a cascade of electrons from Lowest Un-occupied Molecular Orbital(LUMO) of carbon dot to the semiconductor surface.

Most of the reports relate the observed electron donor/acceptor capacity of CDs with their redox potential, which is strongly determined by the core and surface structure [134, 171,172]. For a better understanding of their redox property, and thereby designing photo-catalytic/optoelectronic devices with better performances, Barman and co-workers conducted an experiment using CDs–Nickel (II) Phthalocyanine Conjugates. Through the report, they propose a suggestion that the electron donor and acceptor behaviour of CDs can be compared with the performance of n-type and p-type doping respectively [173]. According to them, the flow of electron from CD surface to the analyte can be related to the chemical environment of phosphorus doping (n-type doping), whereas electron accepting CDs can be equated with boron doped environment (p-type doping). In addition, Rigodanza and group demonstrated the vital role of surface functionalities of CDs in controlling the redox potential. They tailored the surface of bottom-up synthesized CDs with different kind of quinones and demonstrate the promising electron transfer behaviour of CDs under different surface environments [172].



Figure 1.15: Different properties of Carbon nanodots

## 1.4.5 Applications of CDs.

Intriguing features of CDs render them one of the most potent candidates for wide range of applications in various fields, including optical sensors, bio-imaging, disease therapy, patterning/ luminescent

markers , food safety, energy conversion and photocatalysis [20,22,175].

## **Optical Sensors**

Fluorescence, the most interesting feature of CDs was found to be extremely inclined towards small alterations of surrounding environments. This will result in noticeable changes in their luminescence intensity, i.e., quenched/enhanced intensity. This aforesaid change in their luminescence emission intensity in presence of external analytes is used for tracing the presence of corresponding analyte. In this manner CDs could serve as an efficient sensing / quantification tool towards a set of analytes. This externally introduced analyte, which is capable enough to cause significant fluorescence intensity alterations, includes metal ions, bio-molecules, explosives, parameters including pH of the medium, temperature, humidity content etc. Majority of the CDs based sensing tools exhibit extraordinary selectivity and sensitivity towards the corresponding analyte.

#### **CDs based Metal ion Sensors**

Fluorescence intensities of CDs were effectively disturbed, more frequently quenched, by the addition of several electron acceptors, thereby tracing out quantitative tracing of metal ions in solution. Owing to the extreme lethal nature, quantitative tracing of  $Hg^{2+}$  ions is having considerable attention among the researchers. Literature presents a large number of interesting efforts for designing promising  $Hg^{2+}$  sensors marked with commendable selectivity and detection

range [175-179]. Lu and group synthesised fluorescent CDs from grape peels adopting hydrothermal method, offering effective detection of minute quantity of toxic  $Hg^{2+}$  ions with detection limit 0.23 nM. Practical applicability of the system was confirmed in mercury contaminated river water sample, with excellent reproducibility of results [176]. Polyethylene glycol derived CDs also exhibit ultrasensitive tracing of toxic  $Hg^{2+}$  ions with commendable detection range, 1 femto molar [177]. In addition to  $Hg^{2+}$  ions, researchers also designed various sensing devices to trace the presence of other relevant ions including  $Fe^{3+}$ ,  $Cu^{2+}$ ,  $Al^{3+}$ ,  $Pb^{2+}$ ,  $Ag^+$  and  $Zn^{2+}$ [20,22,34,174,175].

#### CDs based anion and small molecule sensors.

Along with the fabrication of metal ion sensor, researchers also put their efforts for developing efficient sensors for tracing the presence of various anions and small molecules. Different from the mechanism of metal ion /cation detection proceeding through quenching of their fluorescence intensity, anion/ small molecule sensing involves the restoration/regaining of the reduced intensity of a quenched system, realised using some other agent. In 2014, Zong and colleagues conducted an experimental demonstration showcasing the aforesaid sensing mechanism, in which the quenched luminescence of silica derived CDs-Cu<sup>2+</sup> unit successfully regained by the addition of Lcysteine, a small bio-molecule [180]. In this work, typical CDs structure express specific binding affinity towards Cu<sup>2+</sup> ions leading to reduction considerable in their luminescence intensity. The

introduction of bio-molecule, L-cysteine to this CDs/Cu<sup>2+</sup> system selectively displaces the attached Cu<sup>2+</sup> ion from the CDs surface, thereby restoring the luminescence intensity of the system. Hence, this single system can serve as effective sensing device for both Cu<sup>2+</sup> and L-cysteine with excellent selectivity and detection limit of 2.3 ×  $10^{-8}$ mol/L and 3.4 ×  $10^{-10}$ mol/L respectively. Similarly, Du and group designed CDs for tracing iodide ion and Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions, in which iodide ion replacing the attached Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions from the CDs surface [181].

#### **CDs as Bio-sensor**

Fluorescence intensity of CDs was best utilized by several researchers for the detection of various bio-molecules including ascorbic acid, glucose, enzyme (e.g. Thioredoxin Reductase -TrxR), dopamine, Intracellular Lysine, guanosine 3'-diphosphate-5'-diphosphate (ppGpp) and DNA [22,175]. It was by Bai and group, the very first fabrication of an excellent bio-molecule sensor was reported in 2011, which detect DNA while joining ct-DNA in solution. This system was found to exhibit detection limit of  $1.0 \times 10-6$  mol/L (linear ranging from  $3.0 \times 10$ -6mol/L to  $8.0 \times 10$ -5 mol/L) [182].Later, Xu and colleagues developed an efficient system for detecting thrombin, an important protein via formation of sandwich like structure marked with extraordinary specificity towards thrombin and possess commendable sensitivity. [183]. Aforementioned sensor exhibits detection limit 1 nM (nano Mol), highly appreciable while comparing with the results of previous works in this direction.

#### CDs as Photo-catalyst.

As the absorption range of conventional photo-catalytic materials including TiO<sub>2</sub> and ZnO is restricted to the ultraviolet light region, full advantage of visible spectrum is beyond the scope for several practical applications. Hence, design of nanomaterial platforms with commendable stability and excellent visible light composite catalytic efficiency is having considerable amount of attention for the abatement of environmental problems and energy issues [20,34,174,]. Generally, utilization of CDs based photocatalytic systems can be classified in to two. First category involves the application of CDs based systems as photo-sensitizer. In this, light energy irradiation causes shifting of photo-generated charge carriers (electrons) towards the semiconductor unit (absorbance of which is strictly restricted to UV region in the absence of CDs), which is coupled with the CDs system, thus offering catalytic activity extending throughout the visible light region. Second category involves the utilization of CDs based photo-catalytic materials as excellent charge carrier acceptors when coupled with photo-excited semiconductor materials. This will results in retarded or suppressed recombination of charge carriers (electron-holes), thereby offering more possibility for the occurrence of chemical reactions within the composite which in turn enhances the rate of photo-catalytic performance [58,167,165,171]. In addition to the CDs- semiconductor hybrid systems, some authors report simple or raw CDs with abundantly functionalized surface for applications involving water splitting/ CO<sub>2</sub> conversion [169]. In this work, Cao and group successfully conducted the CO<sub>2</sub> reduction/ release of H<sub>2</sub> molecules via

water splitting using highly functionalized CDs blended with platinum or gold shell, highly efficient in photon harvesting. In 2007, Chen and group successfully devised a TiO<sub>2</sub>-CDs composite. This system offers wide spectrum of visible light absorption/solar energy source utilization, thereby enhance the optical features of titania, the most widely used photocatalyst [184]. In addition, several efforts were there in literature that improve the photo-response of semiconductor photocatalysts by coupling with fluorescent CDs. These hybrids possess promising applications including organic pollution abatement, water splitting/ hydrogen production, energy saving purposes etc,.[34,174,185].

## CDs based optical devices-LEDs

Fluorescent CDs also widely find their application in electronic sector. Fabrication of various promising light emitting devices are reported in literature [20,34,]. Guo and team developed a series of CDs with multicolor emitting feature, conducting thermal pyrolysis of polystyrene microspheres decorated with epoxyl groups [186]. In this work, CDs produce blue colour emission when they are processed under 200° C, whereas pyrolysis at 300 and 400°C yields orange and white emitting CDs respectively, when exciting under single wavelength UV radiation. These CDs were marked with highly commendable quantum yield (greater than 47%), combined with noteworthy optical features, which strictly tune them as LEDs exhibiting the aforesaid emission properties. Then, white light emission was reported by Wang's group using CDs derived from citric acid using

octadecene coupled with surface passivator,1-cetylamine [187].Recently, J. Joseph and A.A Anappara have fabricated white emitting LEDs via esterification followed by polymerisation of the precursors, EDTA and ethyleneglycol in  $H_3PO_{4s}$  medium. This system exhibited broad range of emission under single wavelength excitation, which was ascribed to the presence of various functionalities and emissive traps on the surface of CDs [188].

#### CDs as medium for patterning and printing applications

Several conventional nano-materials were utilized for the designing of efficient luminescent inks and patterning agents for anti-counterfeiting applications [189, 190]. Being less toxic, highly stable and easily obtainable, fluorescent CDs could effectively replace these afore said nano-materials for various anti-forgery applications and patterning. CDs was effectively utilized for several security purposes, mainly in anti-counterfeiting of valuable documents including bank notes, legal files, electronic components and various branded products of important companies. Luminescent CDs were also successfully utilized for the fabrication of fluorescent markers and ink, which can be served as an effective medium for information communication. They are mainly utilized for secret data encryption of paramilitary and defence sector, thereby ensuring the safety of the whole nation. Numerous works are there in literature, discussing the significant role of CDs for fingerprint sensing and various criminal investigations. Visibly unclear latent fingerprints were found to be more evident with the introduction of these fluorescent entities [191]. The first report on such latent

fingerprint enhancement visualisation by CDs was made by Kelarakis and team, with the aid of CDs grinded with silica nano particle [192]. Y. Fang et al presented large scale preparation of bright fluorescent green emissive hollow CDs through facile method, exhibiting excellent printing and patterning ability when applied to water mark ink [189]. Songnan and colleagues developed highly promising fluorescent labels via facile and economic synthesis route. These systems were able to replace conventional inks / markers and offer permanent patterning and printing applications. This further forecast the significant role of the synthesised CDs in anti-counterfeiting applications of valuable assets, data encryption and secret information storage and other security applications. [193]. An interesting work was done by Wang's group, involving plasma induced fabrication of fluorescent CDs from egg yolk, which can be utilized for silk-screen printing of variety highly stable multi colour patterns [190].

# CDs medium for Bio-imaging and Drug delivery applications

Owing to the excellent bio-compatibility, low-toxicity, photo-stability and aqueous dispersibility, fluorescent CDs are extensively used as potent candidates in medicinal and health sector [20, 22, 34, 174, 175]. It was clearly established that, fluorescent CDs can be effectively utilized for tracing/detecting and imaging of living body cells, via conducting in vitro and in vivo clinical studies. These fluorescent systems effectively differentiate normal healthy cells from affected/ diseased body cells. Being the emerging fluorescent two-photon candidate, CDs could provide efficient mapping/ imaging of deep body tissues with the aid of confocal microscopy technique [194]. Fu and colleagues designed excellent fluorescent probe from arginine for in vitro cytotoxicity assays on various body cells including MCF-7, N1H3T3 and HeLa cells with extra ordinary cell viability, above 90% [195]. In addition, numerous works were reported in literature, discussing the in vitro and in vivo mapping of different living cell lines using fluorescent CDs probes [ 20,22,174 ]. Other than this bioimaging application, CDs also serve as efficient carriers of drugs to the concerned body parts. Singh et al., demonstrated that fluorescent CDs can serve as excellent drug carrier, which successfully interacted with single stranded DNA phosphoramidate linkage enriched with cytosine and then considerable variation in electrostatic interaction with DNA results successful release of drug. Most of the works concluded that, unlike the conventional nanomaterials used for drug carrier applications, it was the emissive character associated with CDs that serves as the sole factor for tuning them as super drug carrier. They enable effective tracing/ placing of drugs in normal cell lines as well as affected/ abnormal cell lines. A group of researchers reported that modified CDs can effectively release cancer drugs (optimal cell environment) and then show its activities in the concerned affected area of cell lines. Curcumin- ionic liquid based CDs assembly was designed by Shu and group, which can serve as a promising anticancer drug with extraordinary drug carrier capacity. This system was marked with commendable cell-penetration ability along with excellent drug-loading power. The study revealed the interesting observation that the aforesaid combination of CDs and curcumin exhibits about 70 % drug loading power and cell viability approximately 87.5 % towards HeLa cell lines [196].



Figure 1.16 : Different Applications of Fluorescent CDs

# **1.5 Motivation for the present work.**

Owing to the intriguing (electrical/thermal/surface/mechanical/optical) features, common allotropes as well as the conjugated nano forms of carbon, more precisely graphene, carbon nano tubes, fullerenes and most recently carbon nano dots are grabbing considerable amount of attention. Though, conventional synthesis routes adopted for the fabrication of these nano carbons brought several promising components to the broad spectrum of nano-technology and engineering, unfortunately majority of these methods were found to be highly expensive and tedious. Most of them demand cumbersome post-chemical treatments for ensuring the purity of the product and frequently requires the usage of toxic chemicals as the precursor as well as the un-wanted side products. Hence, these conventional approaches to nano-carbons definitely raise threatening issues

pertaining to global energy conservation and environmentally benign developments. Thus, while considering the increasing demand of these materials, there is an intense urge for the bulk production of the aforesaid carbon structures with extreme purity through entirely facile, environmentally benign and cost-effective strategy. The current scientific scenario strongly insists the incorporation of the core concepts of "green chemistry" while designing the synthesis procedure. Implementation of green chemistry concepts ensures complete protection and benefit to the world economy, population, and the planets. This attempt facilitates the practice of creative and novel methods to reduce/eliminate hazardous materials during the designing, synthesis and applications of chemical products. Green chemistry assisted reactions offers energy conservation as well as efficient replacement of toxic chemicals with suitable bio-compatible natural materials.

Among the promising nano-carbon members, fluorescent carbon nano dots (CDs), the potent alternatives to conventional semiconductor quantum dots, are grabbing the top-notch rank in scientific world. As mentioned earlier, most of the conventional routes to CDs including laser ablation, electrochemical methods, arc-discharge, electro-beam lithography, hydrothermal method and solvothermal methods, have certain disadvantageous in several aspects. Many of these approaches are marked with expensive synthesis route, increased energy requirements, usage of toxic precursors and solvents, as well as tedious post-chemical treatments for the separation and purification procedures. These demerits encountered while attempting the conventionally practiced synthesis protocols are gradually overcome by the judicious implementation of core principles of green chemistry during the designing of CDs. On this ground, usage of hazardous and expensive chemical precursors is successfully replaced by extremely environment friendly and inexpensive substitute, bio-mass. Numerous efforts were reported in the literature, which fruitfully converts cheaply available biological wastes, fruits, vegetables, leaves, fishes, meat, paper, several food materials etc., into highly efficient CDs having commendable fluorescence nature. Along with the suggestion of green raw materials, greener solvents which are non-toxic and highly economical were also prescribed and utilized for ensuring the maximum perpetuation of 'safer- cheaper- easier' motto for upholding economic and sustainable production.

In addition to the selection of greener raw materials and cheaper solvents, the concept of sustainability and global energy concern also should be extended to the matter of 'synthetic techniques'. It was noted that, majority of conventional hydrothermal and solvothermal reactions progress by maintaining comparatively higher temperatures for longer durations for the completion. Besides, the most traditional production strategies, electro chemical synthesis and electron-beam lithography techniques consume commendably higher amount of electrical energy for the fabrication of CDs with desired features. The method strongly conflicts the energy conservation and cost-effective policies of green concepts. Consequently, for maintaining the aforesaid energy sustainable synthetic techniques, one should frame a reaction route to CDs, which necessitate low temperature, as well as time requirements. Literature reports several such attempts to highly fluorescent CDs, which meet the soul of sustainable development by completely preserving the core concepts of 'Green chemistry'.

Scientific world has witnessed zealous efforts for fulfilling all the norms of sustainability by successfully suggesting potent green raw materials, safer solvents and sustainable synthesis techniques confirming the effective maintenance of global energy and monetary detailing various safety. The articles aspects of bio-mass derived/energy conserved carbon dot synthesis are capable to provide a clear picture to realize the significance of such efforts in reducing the global energy and economic crisis at least in the science and engineering field. Observations from such green synthesis of carbon dots are appealing enough to provoke the research mind to design bright emitting CDs, upholding almost all the core-concepts of green and sustainable development.

Keeping this spark as a strong incentive, the present work is designed for developing efficient multifunctional fluorescent CDs form a cheaper non-toxic raw material, adopting very facile, cost-effective and sustainable synthesis strategy. For this, we have selected commercially available edible table sugar (sucrose) as the green precursor, which costs only about 4 paisa per gram.

## 1.6 Outline of the present study

## The entire theses is divided in to seven chapters

• **Chapter 1 :Introduction** : The present chapter as it elaborates, is a detailed introduction to the carbon family as well as the entry of a new member, fluorescent carbon dots (CDs)to the

carbon nano world is presented . This chapter also describes various synthesis methodologies and several applications of CDs, along with a detailed discussion on their inherent physico-chemical characteristics. This section was also utilized for presenting the motivation/inspiration for conducting the present research work.

- Chapter 2:Experimental : Present chapter gives detailed description on various materials and experimental aspects for the fabrication of fluorescent CDs. This section also discusses different characterization techniques employed for the research work.
- Chapter 3:Characterization of the Carbon Dot: The present chapter is fully devoted for the meticulous analysis of various characterisation results, thereby confirming the formation of bright emitting CDs with desirable properties.
- Chapter 4:Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic hybrid as a fluorescent marker: This chapter deals with the fabrication of promising luminescent markers using the present CDs by mixing with naturally available binder, gum acacia/ gum arabic. Luminescent markers with two different consistencies (Luminescent Ink and Gel) were fabricated and subjected for patterning and coating applications.
- Chapter 5: Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot For Sensing Applications: This chapter presents the utilization of bright fluorescence feature of CDs for tracing/sensing of different

significant external analytes including metal ions and organic molecules. This section is divided into two parts.

- **PART A**: Utilization of the prepared CDs for visual/naked eye monitoring of the toxic metal ion, Pb<sup>2+</sup> with higher selectivity and sensitivity.
- **Part B**: Fluorescence intensity of CDs was found to be quenched by the introduction of few analytes, thereby enabling detection of analytes including metal ion and organic molecules, through fluorimetry.
- (i) Synthesis of FRET based sensor: Fabrication of CDs- dye hybrid that offers effective sensing of toxic heavy metal ion, Hg<sup>2+</sup>. Rhodamine-B is serving as the model dye.
- (ii) Fluorescence intensity of CDs was found to be quenched with the addition of a set of Nitro Aromatic Compounds (NACs). This section also discusses structure–activity relationship of the synthesised CDs with detailed analysis using computational methods. This sensing trend was substantiated with the aid of some computational analytical techniques including Global reactive descriptors and donor acceptor mapping (DAM).
- Chapter 6:Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot As A Green Reducing Agent: This chapter presents the reducing nature of the prepared CDs.

- (*i*) The first section presents the reducing power of CDs for the extraction of metallic silver from silver nitrate solution via very facile and ingenious route.
- (ii) Second section discusses the instantaneous preparation of gold nano particles from Chloroauric acid (HAuCl<sub>4</sub>.3H<sub>2</sub>O) solution via a very facile route. The catalytic activity of as–synthesised gold nano particles is illustrated by conducting hydrogenation of 4-Nitrophenol to 4-Aminophenol.
- Chapter 7: Summary, Highlights and Future Perspectives of Work :This section summarizes the major findings of the research work and also outlines the scope of the study as well as the future perspective.



Frame work of the thesis

#### **1.7 References**

- [1] E. Frieden, The Chemical Elements of Life, Sci. Am., 227 (1972) 52–60.
- [2] A. Demming, King of the elements?, Nanotechnology., 21 (2010) 300201.
- [3] V. N. Mochalin, O. Shenderova, D. Ho, Y. Gogotsi, The properties and applications of nanodiamonds, Nat. Nanotechnol., 7 (2011) 11–23.
- [4] K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Dubonos, I. V. Grigorieva, A. A. Firsov, Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films, Science., 306 (2004) 666–669.
- [5] A. G. Nasibulin, P. V. Pikhitsa, H. Jiang, D. P. Brown, A. V. Krasheninnikov, A. S. Anisimov, P. Queipo, A. Moisala, D. Gonzalez, G. Lientschnig, A. Hassanien, S. D. Shandakov, G. Lolli, D. E. Resasco, M. Choi, D. Tománek, E. I.Kauppinen, A novel hybrid carbon material, Nat. Nanotechnol., 2 (2007) 156–161.
- [6] A. Oberlin, M. Endo, T. Koyama, Filamentous growth of carbon through benzene decomposition, J. Cryst. Growth., 32 (1976) 335– 349.
- [7] X.Xu, R.Ray, Y.Gu, H.J Ploehn, I. Gearheart, K. Raker, W.A Scrivens, electrophoretic analysis and purification of fluorescent single-walled carbon nanotube fragments, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 126 (2004) 12736–12737
- [8] M. K. Stoskopf, Observation and Cogitation: How Serendipity Provides the Building Blocks of Scientific Discovery, ILAR J., 46 (2005) 332-337.
- [9] Y.-P. Sun, B. Zhou, Y. Lin, W. Wang, K. A. S. Fernando, P. Pathak, M. J. Meziani, B. A. Harruff, X. Wang, H. Wang, P. G. Luo, H. Yang, M. E. Kose, B. Chen,L. M. Veca, S.-Y. Xie, Quantum-sized carbon dots for bright and colorful photoluminescence, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 128 (2006) 7756–7757.
- [10] S.Y. Lim, W. Shen, Z. Gao, Carbon quantum dots and their applications, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 44 (2015) 362-381.

- [11] S.N. Baker, G.A. Baker, Luminescent carbon nanodots: emergent nanolights, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 49 (2010) 6726-6744
- [12] Q.L. Zhao, Z.L. Zhang, B.H. Huang, J. Peng, M. Zhang, D.W. Pang, Facile preparation of low cytotoxicity fluorescent carbon nano crystals by electro oxidation of graphite, Chem. Commun., 41 (2008) 5116–5118.
- [13] F. Yuan, S. Li, Z. Fan, X. Meng, L. Fan, S. Yang, Shining carbon dots: synthesis and biomedical and optoelectronic applications, Nano Today.,11 (2016) 565–586
- [14] K. Hola, Y. Zhang, Y. Wang, E. P.Giannelis, R. Zboril A. L.Rogach, Carbon dots—Emerging light emitters for bioimaging, cancer therapy and optoelectronics, NanoToday., 9 (2014) 590-603
- [15] H. Ming, Z. Ma, Y. Liu, K. Pan, Y. Hang, F. wang, Z. kang, Large scale electrochemical synthesis of high quality carbon nanodots and their photocatalytic property, Dalton Trans., 41 (2012) 9526–9531.
- [16] S. Zhuo, M. Shao, S.T.Lee, Upconversion and Down conversion Fluorescent Graphene Quantum Dots: Ultrasonic Preparation and Photocatalysis, ACS Nano., 6 (2012) 1059-1064
- [17] L.Cao,X. Wang, M.J.Meziani, F. Lu, H. Wang, P.G. Luo, Y.Lin, B.A. Harruff, L.M.Veca, D. Murray, S.Y. Xie, Y.P.Sun, Carbon Dots for Multiphoton Bioimaging, *J.Am. Chem. Soc.*, 129 (2007) 11318-11319
- [18] H.Li, Z.Kang, Y.Liu, S.T.Lee, Carbon Nanodots: Synthesis, Properties and Applications, J. Mater. Chem.22 (2012)24230-24253
- [19] F.Wang, Z.Xie, H.Zhang, C.Y.Liu, G. Zhang, Highly Luminescent Organosilane-Functionalized Carbon Dots, *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, 21(2011) 1027-1031
- [20] Y.Wang, A. Hu Carbon quantum dots: synthesis, properties and applications, J. Mater. Chem. C., 2 (2014) 6921–6939
- [21] A. Cayuela, M. L. Soriano, C. Carrillo-Carrion, M. Valcarcel, Semiconductor and carbon-based fluorescent nanodots: the need for consistency, *Chem. Commun.*, 52 (2016) 1311--1326
- [22] M. L Liu, B. B Chen, C. M Li, C.Z Huang, Carbon dots: synthesis, formation mechanism, fluorescence origin and sensing applications, Green Chem.,21 (2019) 449–471

- [23] S. Zhu, Y. Song, X. Zhao, J. Shao, J. Zhang, B. Yang, The photoluminescence mechanism in carbon dots (graphene quantum dots, carbon nanodots, and polymer dots): current state and future perspective, Nano Res., 8 (2015) 355-381
- [24] Y.B. Song, S.J. Zhu, S.T. Zhang, Y. Fu, L. Wang, X.H. Zhao, B. Yang, Investigation from Chemical Structure to Photoluminescent Mechanism: A Type of Carbon Dots from the Pyrolysis of Citric Acid and an Amine, J. Mater. Chem. C.,3(2015) 5976–5984.
- [25] H. Ding, J.S Wei, P.Zhang, Z.Y Zhou, Q.Y Gao, H.M Xion, Solventcontrolled synthesis of highly luminescent carbon dots with a wide color gamut and narrowed emission peak widths, Small., 14 (2018) 1800612
- [26] S. Sarkar, D. Gandla, Y. Venkatesh, P.R. Bangal,S. Ghosh, Y.Yang, S. Misra, Graphene quantum dots from graphite by liquid exfoliation showing excitation-independent emission, fluorescence upconversion and delayed fluorescence, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.,18 (2016) 21278-21287
- [27] T. Gokus, R. R. Nair, A. Bonetti, M. Böhmler, A. Lombardo, K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, A. C. Ferrari, A. Hartschuh, Making graphene luminescent by oxygen plasma treatment, ACS Nano., 3 (2009) 3963–3968
- [28] Q. Chen, C. Shi, C. Zhang, S. Pu, R. Wang, X. Wu, X. Wang, F. Xue, D. Pan, M. Xiao, Magnetic enhancement of photoluminescence from blue-luminescent graphene quantum dots, Appl. Phys. Lett., 108 (2016) 061904
- [29] Z. Gan, H. Xu, Y. Hao, Mechanism for excitation-dependent photoluminescence from graphene quantum dots and other graphene oxide derivates: consensus, debates and challenges, Nanoscale., 8 (2016) 7794–7807.
- [30] J.E. Riggs, Z. Guo, D.L. Carroll, Y.P. Sun, Strong luminescence of solubilized carbon nanotubes. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 122 (2000) 5879-5880.
- [31] Y. Park, J. Yoo, B. Lim, W. Kwon, S.W. Rhee, Improving the functionality of carbon nanodots: doping and surface functionalisation, J. Mater. Chem. A., 4 (2016) 11582–11603.

- [32] K. Dimos, Carbon quantum dots: surface passivation and functionalization, Curr. Org. Chem. 20 (2016) 682–695.
- [33] S. Zhu, X. Zhao, Y. Song, S. Lu, B. Yang, Beyond bottom up carbon nanodots: Citric-acid derived organic molecules, Nano Today., 11 (2016) 128 -132.
- [34] A Sciortino, A Cannizzo, F Messina, Carbon nanodots: A review from the current understanding of the fundamental photophysics to the full control of the optical response, C., 4 (2018) 67
- [35] S.-L. Hu, K.-Y. Niu, J. Sun, J. Yang, N.-Q. Zhao, X.-W. Du, One step synthesis of fluorescent carbon nanoparticles by laser irradiation, J. Mater. Chem., 19 (2009) 484–488
- [36] L. Bao, C. Liu, Z.-L. Zhang and D.-W. Pang, Photoluminescence-Tunable Carbon Nanodots: Surface-State Energy-Gap Tuning, Adv. Mater., 27 (2015) 1663–1667
- [37] K. Hola, A. B. Bourlinos, O. Kozak, K. Berka, K. M. Siskova, M. Havrdova, J. Tucek, K. Safarova, M. Otyepka, E. P. Giannelis and R. Zbori, Photoluminescence effects of graphitic core size and surface functional groups in carbon dots: COO- induced red-shift emission, Carbon., 70 (2014) 279–286
- [38] H. Nie, M. Li, Q. Li, S. Liang, Y. Tan, L. Sheng, W. Shi and S. X.-A. Zhang, Carbon Dots with Continuously Tunable Full-Color Emission and Their Application in Ratiometric pH Sensing, Chem. Mater., 26 (2014) 3104–3112
- [39] H. Chen, Y. Xie, A. M. Kirillov, L. Liu, M. Yu, W. Liu, Y. Tang, A ratiometric fluorescent nanoprobe based on terbium functionalized carbon dots for highly sensitive detection of an anthrax biomarker, Chem. Commun., 51 (2015) 5036–5039.
- [40] E. J. Goh, K. S. Kim, Y. R. Kim, H. S. Jung, S. Beack, W. H. Kong, G. Scarcelli, S. H. Yun, S. K. Hahn, Bioimaging of hyaluronic acid derivatives using nanosized carbon dots, Biomacromolecules., 13 (2012) 2554–2561
- [41] J. Tang, B. Kong, H. Wu, M. Xu, Y. Wang, Y. Wang, D. Zhao, G. Zheng, Carbon nanodots featuring efficient FRET for real-time monitoring of drug delivery and two-photon imaging, Adv. Mater., 25 (2013) 6569–6574

- [42] L. Tian, D. Ghosh, W. Chen, S. Pradhan, X. Chang ,S. Chen, Nanosized Carbon Particles From Natural Gas Soot, Chem. Mater., 21 (2009) 2803–2809
- [43] A. B. Bourlinos, A. Stassinopoulos, D. Anglos, R. Zboril, M. Karakassides , E. P. Giannelis, Surface functionalized carbogenic quantum dots, Small., 4 (2008) 455–458
- [44] R. Liu, D. Wu, S. Liu, K. Koynov, W. Knoll, Q. Li, An aqueous route to multicolor photoluminescent carbon dots using silica spheres as carriers, Angew.Chem., Int. Ed., 121 (2009) 4668–4671
- [45] H. Ding, S.-B. Yu, J.-S. Wei, H.-M. Xiong, Full-Color Light-Emitting Carbon Dots with a Surface-State-Controlled Luminescence Mechanism, ACS Nano., 10 (2016) 484–491
- [46] L. Yang, W. Jiang, L. Qiu, X. Jiang, D. Zuo, D. Wang ,L. Yang, One pot synthesis of highly luminescent polyethylene glycol anchored carbon dots functionalized with a nuclear localization signal peptide for cell nucleus imaging, Nanoscale., 7 (2015) 6104–6113
- [47] I.P.-J. Lai, S. G. Harroun, S.-Y. Chena, B. Unnikrishnana,Y.-J. Li ,C.-C. Huang, Solid-state synthesis of self-functional carbon quantum dots for detection of bacteria and tumor cells, Sens. Actuators, B., 228 (2016) 465–470.
- [48] Q. Yang, L. Wei, X. Zheng ,L. Xiao, Single Particle Dynamic Imaging and Fe<sup>3+</sup> Sensing with Bright Carbon Dots Derived from Bovine Serum Albumin Proteins, Sci. Rep., 5 (2015) 17727
- [49] C. Liu, P. Zhang, X. Zhai, F. Tian, W. Li, J. Yang, Y. Liu, H. Wang, W. Wang, W. Liu, Nano-carrier for gene delivery and bioimaging based on carbon dots with PEI-passivation enhanced fluorescence, Biomaterials., 33 (2012) 3604–3613
- [50] W. Kwon, G. Lee, S. Do, T. Joo, S.-W. Rhee, Size-Controlled Soft-Template Synthesis of Carbon Nanodots toward Versatile Photoactive Materials, Small., 10 (2014) 506–513
- [51] S. Zhu, Q. Meng, L. Wang, J. Zhang, Y. Song, H. Jin,K. Zhang, H. Sun, H. Wang, B. Yang, Highly Photoluminescent Carbon Dots for Multicolor Patterning, Sensors, and Bioimaging, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 52 (2013) 3953–3957

- [52] S. Sarkar, K. Das, M. Ghosh, P. K. Das, Amino acid functionalized blue and phosphorous-doped green fluorescent carbon dots as bioimaging probe,RSC Adv., 5 (2015) 65913–65921
- [53] X. Li, S. Zhang, S. A. Kulinich, Y. Liu, H. Zeng, Engineering surface states of carbon dots to achieve controllable luminescence for solid-luminescent composites and sensitive Be<sup>2+</sup> detection, Sci. Rep.,4 (2014) 4976
- [54] W. Kwon, S. Do, J.-H. Kim, M. S. Jeong ,S.-W. Rhee, Control of Photoluminescence of Carbon Nanodots via Surface Functionalization using Para-substituted Anilines, Sci. Rep., 5 (2015) 12604
- [55] J. Joseph, A.A. Anappara, Ellagic acid-functionalized fluorescent carbon dots for ultrasensitive and selective detection of mercuric ions via quenching, J. Lumin., 192 (2017) 761–766.
- [56] D.B shinde, V.K pillai, electrochemical preparation of luminescent graphene quantum dots from multi-walled carbon nanotubes, Chem. Eur. J., 18 (2012) 12522–12528
- [57] H. Liu, T. Ye, C. Mao, Fluorescent carbon nanoparticles derived from candle soot, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 46 (**2007**) 6473–6475
- [58] H. Li, X. He, Z. Kang, H. Huang, Y. Liu, J. Liu, S. Lian, C. H. A. Tsang, X. Yang, S.-T. Lee, Water-soluble fluorescent carbon quantum dots and photocatalyst design, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 49 (2010) 4430–4434
- [59] Y. Dong, C. chen, X. Zheng L. Gao, Z. Cui, H. Yang, C. Guo, Y. Chi, C. M. Li, One-step and high yield simultaneous preparation of single- and multi-layer graphene quantum dots from CX-72 carbon black, J.Mat.Chem., 22 (2012) 8764-8766
- [60] J. Peng, W. Gao, B. K. Gupta, Z. Liu, R. Romero-aburto, L. Ge, L. Song, L. B. Alemany, X. Zhan, G. Gao, S. A. Vithayathil, B. A. Kaipparettu, A. A. Marti,T. Hayashi, J.-J. Zhu, P. M. Ajayan, Graphene quantum dots derived from carbon fibers, Nano Letters., 12 (2012) 844–849
- [61] Z.-A. Qiao, Y. Wang, Y. Gao, H. Li, T. Dai, Y. Liu, Q. Huo, Commercially activated carbon as the source for producing

multicolor photo-luminescent carbon dots by chemical oxidation, Chem. Commun., 46 (2010) 8812-8814

- [62] L. Lin, S. Zhang, Creating high yield water soluble luminescent graphene quantum dots via exfoliating and disintegrating carbon nanotubes and graphite flakes, Chem. Commun., 48 (2012) 10177–10179
- [63] H. TAO, K. YANG, Z. MA, J. WAN, Y. ZHANG, Z. KANG, Z. LIU, In vivo NIR fluorescence imaging, bio-distribution, and toxicology of photo-luminescent carbon dots produced from carbon nanotubes and graphite, Small., 8 (2012) 281–290,
- [64] J. LU, J.-X. YANG, J. WANG, A. LIM, S. WANG and K. P. LOH, One-pot synthesis of fluorescent carbon nanoribbons, nanoparticles, and graphene by the exfoliation of graphite in ionic liquids, ACS Nano., 3 (2009) 2367–2375
- [65] L. ZHENG, Y. CHI, Y. DONG, J. LIN and B. WANG, Electrochemiluminescence of water soluble carbon nano crystals released electrochemically from graphite, Journal of the American Chemical Society, 131 (2009) 4564–4565
- [66] D. PAN, J. ZHANG, Z. LI, and M. WU, Hydrothermal route for cutting graphene sheets into blue-luminescent graphene quantum dots, Adv. Mater., 22 (2010) 734–738
- [67] P.G. Kuzmin, G.A. Shafeev, V.V. Bukin, S.V. Garnov, C. Farcau, R. Carles, Silicon nanoparticles produced by femtosecond laser ablation in ethanol: size control, structural characterization, and optical properties. J. Phys. Chem. C., 114 (2010) 15266–15273.
- [68] C. Liu, Z. Zhao, R. Zhang, L. Yang, Z. Wang, J. Yang, Strong infrared laser ablation produces white-light-emitting materials via the formation of silicon and carbon dots in silica nanoparticles, J. Phys. Chem. C., 119 (2015) 8266–8272.
- [69] J. Xiao, P. Liu, C.X. Wang, G.W Yang ,External field assisted laser ablation in liquid: an efficient strategy for nano-crystal synthesis and nanostructure assembly, Prog. Mater. Sci., 87 (2017) 140–220
- [70] C. Donate-Buendia, R. Torres-Mendieta, A. Pyatenko, E. Falomir, M. Fernandez-Alonso, G. Minguez-Vega, Fabrication by laser

irradiation in a continuous flow jet of carbon quantum dots for fluorescence imaging. ACS Omega., 3 (2018) 2735–2742

- [71] X. Li, H. Wang, Y. Shimizu, A. Pyatenko, K. Kawaguchi, N. Koshizaki, Preparation of carbon quantum dots with tunable photoluminescence by rapid laser passivation in ordinary organic solvents. Chem. Commun., 47 (2011) 932–934.
- [72] S. Dey, A. Govindaraj, K. Biswas, C. N. R. Rao, Luminescence properties of boron and nitrogen doped graphene quantum dots prepared from arc-discharge-generated doped graphene samples, Chem. Phys. Lett., 595-596 (2014) 203–208
- [73] N. Arora, N.N. Sharma, Arc discharge synthesis of carbon nanotubes: comprehensive review. Diam. Relat. Mater., 50 (2014) 135–150
- [74] S. Yatom, J. Bak, A. Khrabryi, Y. Raitses, Detection of nanoparticles in carbon arc discharge with laser-induced incandescence, Carbon., 117 (2017) 154–162
- [75] M. Bottini, C. Balasubramanian, M. I. Dawson, A. Bergamaschi, S. Bellucci, and T. Mustelin, Isolation and characterization of fluorescent nanoparticles from pristine and oxidized electric arc-produced single-walled carbon nanotubes, J. Phys. Chem. B., 110 (2006) 831–836
- [76] J. Deng, Q. Lu, N. Mi, H. Li, M. Liu, M. Xu, L. Tan, Q. Xie, Y. Zhang, S. Yao Electrochemical synthesis of carbon nanodots directly from alcohols. Chem. Eur. J., 20 (2014) 4993–4999.
- [77] S. Ahirwar, S. Mallick, D. Bahadur, Electrochemical method to prepare graphene quantum dots and graphene oxide quantum dots. ACS Omega., 2 D. (2017) 8343–8353.
- [78] Z. Zhao ,Y. Xie, Enhanced electrochemical performance of carbon quantum dots-polyaniline hybrid,J. Power Sources., 337 (2017) 54– 64
- [79] S. Anwar, H. Ding, M. Xu, X. Hu, Z. Li, J. Wang, L. Liu, L. Jiang, D. Wang, C. Dong, M.Yan, Q.Wang, H.Bi, Recent advances in synthesis, optical properties, and biomedical applications of carbon dots.ACS Appl. Bio Mater. 2 (2019) 2317–2338.

- [80] J. Zhou, C. Booker, R. Li et al., An electrochemical avenue toblue luminescent nanocrystals from multiwalled carbonnanotubes (MWCNTs), JACS., 129 (2007) 744-745
- [81] Y.Hou, Q. Lu, J. Deng, H. Li, H, Y. Zhang, One-pot electro chemical synthesis of functionalized fluorescent carbon dots and their selective sensing for mercury ion, Anal. Chim. Acta., 866 (2015) 69–74.
- [82] H. Peng, J.Travas-Sejdic, Simple aqueous solution route to luminescent carbogenic dots from carbohydrates, Chem. Mater., 21 (2009) 5563–5565
- [83] J.Zhang, Y. Yuan, G. Liang, S.H. Yu, Scale-up synthesis of fragrant nitrogen-doped carbon dots from bee pollens for bioimaging and catalysis, Adv. Sci., 2 (2015) 1500002
- [84] P.Shen, Y. Xia, Synthesis-modification integration: one-step fabrication of boronic acid functionalized carbon dots for fluorescent blood sugar sensing, Anal. Chem., 86 (2014) 5323–5329
- [85] S.Yang, J. Sun, X. Li, W. Zhou, Z. Wang, P. He, G.Ding, X. Xie, Z. Kang, M. Jian, Large scale fabrication of heavy doped carbon quantum dots with tunable photoluminescence and sensitive fluorescence detection, J. Mater. Chem. A., 2 (2014) 8660–8667
- [86] H. Y. Ko, Y. W. Chang, G. Paramasivam, M. S. Jeong, S. Cho, S. Kim, In vivo imaging of tumour bearing near-infrared fluorescenceemitting carbon nanodots derived from tire soot, Chem. Commun., 49 (2013) 10290–10292
- [87] J. Shen, S. Shang, X. Chen, D. Wang, Y. Cai, Facile synthesis of fluorescence carbon dots from sweet potato for Fe<sup>3+</sup> sensing and cell imaging,Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl.,76 (2017) 856–864
- [88] M. Zhang, X. Zhao, Z. Fang, Y. Niu, J. Lou, Y. Wu, S. Zou, S. Xia, M. Sun, F. Du, Fabrication of HA/PEI functionalized carbon dots for tumor targeting, intra cellular imaging and gene delivery, RSC .Adv., 7 (2017) 3369–3375,
- [89] C. O. Kappe, D. Dallinger, S. Murphree, Practical microwave synthesis for organic chemists: Strategies, instruments, and protocols, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, (2009),doi:10.1002/9783527623907

- [90] R. A. Kellner, J.M. Mermet, M. Otto, M. Valcarcel and H. M. Widmer, Analytical chemistry: A modern approach to analytical science, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition 2004, *Chem PhysChem*, 6(11), 2435-2436, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cphc.20050</u> 0062
- [91] J. Shen, Y. Zhu, X. Yang, J. Zong, J. Zhang, C. Li, One-pot hydrothermal synthesis of graphene quantum dots surface-passivated by polyethylene glycol and their photoelectric conversion under nearinfrared light. New J. Chem., 36 (2012) 97–101.
- [92] S.Lu, L. Sui, J. Liu, S. Zhu, A. Chen, M. Jin, B. Yang, Near-infrared photo-luminescent polymer-carbon nanodots with two-photon fluorescence, Adv. Mater., 29 (2017) 1603443.
- [93] J. Liu, D. Li, K. Zhang, M. Yang, H. Sun, B. Yang, One-step hydrothermal synthesis of nitrogen-doped conjugated carbonized polymer dots with 31% efficient red emission for in vivo imaging, Small., 14 (2018) 1703919
- [94] G.Wang, G. Guo, D. Chen, Z. Liu, X. Zheng, A. Xu, S.Yang, G. Ding, Facile and highly effective synthesis of controllable lattice sulfur-doped graphene quantum dots via hydrothermal treatment of durian. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces., 10 (2018) 5750–5759
- [95] B. Zhang, C. Y. Liu, Y. Liu, A Novel One-Step Approach to Synthesize Fluorescent Carbon Nanoparticles, European Journal of Inorganic Chemistry, 28 (2010) 4411–4414
- [96] K. Hola, M. Sudolska, S. Kalytchuk, D. Nachtigallova, A.L. Rogach, M. Otyepka, Graphitic nitrogen triggers red fluorescence in carbon dot, ACS Nano., 11 (2017) 12402–12410
- [97] S. Lu, L. Sui, M. Wu, S. Zhu, X. Yong, B. Yang, Graphitic nitrogen and high-crystalline triggered strong photoluminescence and room temperature ferromagnetism in carbonized polymer dots, Adv. Sci., 6 (2019) 1801192
- [98] H. Zhu, X. Wang, Y. Li, Z. Wang, F. Yang, X. Yang, Microwave synthesis of fluorescent carbon nanoparticles with electrochemiluminescence properties, Chem. Commun., 34 (2009) 5118–5120

- [99] C. Liu, P. Zhang, F. Tian, W. Li, F. Lib, W. Liu, One-step synthesis of surface passivated carbon nanodots by microwave assisted pyrolysis for enhanced multicolor photoluminescence and bioimaging, J. Mat. Chem., 21 (2011) 13163–13167
- [100] A.M Schwenke, S.Hoeppener, U.S Schubert, Synthesis and modification of carbon nanomaterials utilizing microwave heating. Adv.Mater.,27 (2015) 4113–4141
- [101] S.Rai, B.K. Singh, P. Bhartiya, A. Singh, H. Kumar, P.K Dutta, Lignin derived reduced fluorescence carbon dots with theranostic approaches: nano-drug-carrier and bioimaging, J. Lumin. 190 (2017) 492–503
- [102] J. Feng, W.-J. Wang, X. Hai, Y.-L. Yu, J.-H. Wang, Green preparation of nitrogen-doped carbon dots derived from silkworm chrysalis for cell imaging, J. Mat. Chem B, 4 (2016) 387–393
- [103] Q. Liu, N. Zhang, H. Shi et al., One-step microwave synthesis of carbon dots for highly sensitive and selective detection of copper ions in aqueous solution, New J. Chem., 42 (2018) 3097–3101
- [104] X. Ren, W. Liang, P. Wang et al., A new approach in functionalisation of carbon nanoparticles for optoelectronically relevant carbon dots and beyond, Carbon, 141 (2019) 553–560
- [105] Y. Guo, L. Zhang, F. Cao, Y. Leng, Thermal treatment of hair for the synthesis of sustainable carbon quantum dots and the applications for sensing Hg<sup>2+</sup>,Sci. Rep., 6 (2016) 35795
- [106] M. Rong, Y. Feng, Y. Wang, X. Chen, One-pot solid-phase pyrolysis synthesis of nitrogen-doped carbon dots for Fe<sup>3+</sup> sensing and bioimaging, Sensors and Actuators B:Chemical, 245 (2017) 868–874
- [107] T.H.Kim, J.P Sirdaarta, Q.Zhang, E. Eftekhari, J.St. John, D.Kennedy, I.E Cock, Q.Li, Selective toxicity of hydroxyl-rich carbon nanodots for cancer research, Nano Res., 11 (2018) 2204– 2216
- [108] H.Huang, H. Hailiang, S.Qiao, L.Bai,M.Han,Y.Liu,Z. Kang, Carbon quantum dot/CuSx nanocompo-sites towards highly efficient lubrication and metal wear repair, Nanoscale., 7 (2015) 11321–11327

- [109] M. Nurunnabi, Z. Khatun, K.M. Huh,S.Y Park, D.Y Lee, K.J Cho,Y-K Lee, In vivo biodistribution and toxicology of carboxylated graphene quantum dots, ACS Nano., 7 (2013) 6858–6867
- [110] B. Yao, H. Huang, Y. Liu, Z. Kang, Carbon Dots: A Small Conundrum, Trends Chem., 1 (2019) 265-246, doi : 10.1016/j.trechm.2019.02.003
- [111] H. Li, J.Huang, F. Lu, Y.Liu, Y.Song, Y.Sun, J.Zhong, H.Huang, Y.Wang, S.Li, Y.Lifshitz, S-T Lee, Z.Kang, Impacts of carbon dots on rice plants: boosting the growth and improving the disease resistance. ACS Appl. Bio Mater., 1 (2018) 663–672
- [112] Aleksander Jablonski, Jablonski diagram write up available on http://chemwiki.ucdavis.edu
- [113] M. Krysmann, A. Kelarakis, P. Dallas, and E. Giannelis, Formation mechanism of carbogenic nanoparticles with dual photoluminescence emission, J.Am. Chem. Soc., 134 (2012) 747–750
- [114] S. C. Ray, A. Saha, N. R. Jana, R. Sarkar, Fluorescent carbon nanoparticles: synthesis, characterization, and bioimaging application, J. Phys. Chem. C ., 113 (2009) 18546–18551
- [115] K. P. Loh, Q. Bao, G. Eda, and M. Chhowalla, Graphene oxide as a chemically tunable platform for optical applications, Nat. Chem., 2 (2010) 1015–1024
- [116] L.-L. Li, J. Ji, R. Fei, C.Z Wang, Q.Lu, J.R Zhang, L.P Jiang, J.J Zhu., A Facile Microwave Avenue to Electrochemiluminescent Two-Color Graphene Quantum Dots, Adv. Funct. Mater., 22 (2012) 2971–2979
- [117] Y. Zeng, D. Ma, W. Wang, J.J Chen, L. Zhou, Y. Zheng, K. Yu, S.M Huang, N, S co-doped carbon dots with orange luminescence synthesized through polymerization and carbonization reaction of amino acids, APPL SURF SCI., 342 (2015) 136–143
- [118] Q. Xu, P. Pu, J. Zhao, C.Dong, C.Gao, Y.Chen, J.Chen, Y.Liu, H.Zhou, preparation of highly photoluminescent sulfur-doped carbon dots for Fe(III) detection, J. Mater. Chem. A.,3 (2015)542–546
- [119] Y. Zhuo, H. Miao, D. Zhong, S. Zhu, X. Yang, One-step synthesis of high quantum-yield and excitation-independent emission carbon dots for cell imaging, Mater. Lett., 139 (2015) 197–200

- [120] A. N. Emam, S. A. Loutfy, A. A. Mostafa, H. Awad, M. B. Mohamed, Cyto-toxicity, biocompatibility and cellular response of carbon dots-plasmonic based nanohybrids for bioimaging,RSC .Adv., 7 (2017) 23502–23514
- [121] X. Li, S. P. Lau, L. Tang, R. Ji, P. Yang, Sulphur doping: a facile approach to tune the electronic structure and optical properties of graphene quantum dots, Nanoscale., 6 (2014) 5323–5328
- [122] L. Bao, Z. L. Zhang, Z. Q. Tian, L. Zhang, C. Liu, Y. Lin, B. Qi, D.W. Pang ,Electrochemical tuning of luminescent carbon nanodots: from preparation to luminescence mechanism,Adv.Mater., 23 (2011) 5801–5806
- [123] Z.Gan, X.Wu, G.Zhou, J.Shen, P.K Chu, Is there real upconversion photoluminescence from graphene quantum dots?, Adv. Opt. Mater., 1 (2013) 554–558
- [124] S. Carrara, F. Arcudi, M.Prato, L.D Cola, Amine-rich nitrogendoped carbon nano-dots as a platform for self-enhancing electrochemiluminescence, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 56 (2017) 4757– 4761
- [125] Y. Cui, C. Zhang, L. Sun, Z. Hu, X. Liu, "Simple and efficient synthesis of strongly green fluorescent carbon dots with upconversion property for direct cell imaging," Part. Syst. Charact., 32 (2015) 542–546
- [126] S. Gogoi, R. Khan, NIR upconversion characteristics of carbon dots for selective detection of glutathione, New J Chem., 42 (2018) 6399– 6407
- [127] Y.Park, J.Yoo, B.Lim, W.Kwon,S-W. Rhee,Improving the functionality of carbon nanodots: doping and surface functionalisation, J. Mater. Chem. A., 4 (2016) 11582-11603.
- [128] S. Zhu, L. Wang, L. Bo, Y. Song, X. Zhao, G. Zhang, S. Zhang, S. Lu, J. Zhang, H. Wang, H.-B Sun, B.Yang, Investigation of photoluminescence mechanism of graphene quantum dots and evaluation of their assembly into polymer dots, Carbon., 77 (2014) 462–472.
- [129] R. Ye, C. Xiang, J. Lin, Z. Peng, K. Huang, Z. Yan ,N.P Cook, E.L.G. Samuel, C.C. Hwang, G. Ruan, G.Ceriotti , A.R. Raj ,A.A.

Martí ,J.M. Tour, Coal as an abundant source of graphene quantum dots, Nat. Commun., 4 (2013) 2943.

- [130] S. K. Cushing, M. Li, F. Huang, N. Wu, Origin of strong excitation wavelength dependent fluorescence of graphene oxide, ACS Nano., 8 (2014) 1002–1013.
- [131] S. Kim, S. W. Hwang, M.-K. Kim, D. Y. Shin, D. H. Shin, C. O. Kim, S. B. Yang, J. H.Park, E. Hwang, S.-H. ChoI, G. Ko, S. Sim, C. Sone, H. J. Choi, S. Bae, B. H. Hong, Anomalous behaviors of visible luminescence from graphene quantum dots: interplay between size and shape, ACS Nano., 6 (2012) 8203–8208.
- [132] P.Yu, X.Wen, Y.R. Toh, J. Tang, Temperature-Dependent Fluorescence in Carbon Dots, J. Phys. Chem. C., 116 (2012) 25552– 25557.
- [133] Z.H. Wen, B.Y. Yin, Excitation-independent carbon dots, from photoluminescence mechanism to single-color application, RSC Adv., 6 (2016) 27829-27835
- [134] A. Sciortino, M. Gazzetto, G. Buscarino, R. Popescu, R. Schneider, G. Giammona, D. Gerthsen, E.J. Rohwer, N. Mauro, T. Feurer, A. Cannizzo, F. Messina, Disentangling size effects and spectral inhomogeneity in carbon nanodots by ultrafast dynamical holeburning, Nanoscale., 10 (2018) 15317–15323
- [135] S.T. Yang , X. Wang , H. Wang, F.Lu ,P.G. Luo , L.Cao , M.J Meziani , J.H Liu ,Y. Liu , M.Chen, Y. Huang, Y.P Sun , Carbon Dots as Nontoxic and High-Performance Fluorescence Imaging Agents,J. Phys. Chem. C., 113 (2009) 18110–18114
- [136] L. Wang, S. J. Zhu, H. Y. Wang, S. N. Qu, Y. L. Zhang, J. H. Zhang, Q. D. Chen, H. L. Xu, W. Han, B. Yang, H. B. Sun, Common origin of green luminescence in carbon nanodots and graphene quantum dots, ACS Nano.,8 (2014) 2541–2547
- [137] H. Tetsuka, A.Nagayo, T.Fukusumi, T.Matsui, Molecularly designed, nitrogen-functionalized graphene quantum dots for optoelectronic devices. Molecularly Designed, Nitrogen-Functionalized Graphene Quantum Dots for Optoelectronic Devices, Adv. Mater., 28 (2016) 4632–463

- [138] H. Zheng, Q. Wang, L. Long, H. Zhang, X. Huang, R. Zhu, Enhancing the luminescence of carbon dots with a reduction pathway, Chem. Commun. (Camb.), 47 (2011) 10650–10652
- [139] S.J. Zhu, J.H.Zhang, S.J. Tang, C.Y. Qiao, L. Wang, H.Y. Wang, X.Liu, B. Li, Y. F. Li, W.L.Yu, Surface chemistry routes to modulate the photoluminescence of graphene quantum dots: From fluorescence mechanism to up-conversion bioimaging applications, *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, 22(2012) 4732–4740
- [140] X.Li, S.Zhang, S.A. Kulinich, Y.Liu, H.Zeng, Engineering surface states of carbon dots to achieve controllable luminescence for solidluminescent composites and sensitive Be<sup>2+</sup> detection, *Sci. Rep.*, 4 ( 2014) 4976
- [141] S.H. Jin, D. H. Kim, G. H. Jun, S. H. Hong, S. Jeon, Tuning the photoluminescence of graphene quantum dots through the charge transfer effect of functional groups, ACS Nano., 7(2013) 1239–1245
- [142] S.L.Hu, A. Trinchi, P. Atkin, I. Cole, Tunable photoluminescence across the entire visible spectrum from carbon dots excited by white light. *Angew.Chem. Int. Ed.*, *54* (2015) 2970-2974
- [143] Y. Xu, M. Wu, Y.Liu, X.Z.Feng, X.B. Yin, X.W He, Y.K.Zhang Y K., Nitrogen-doped carbon dots: a facile and general preparation method, photoluminescence investigation, and imaging applications, *Chem. Eur. J.*,19 (2013) 2276–2283
- [144] H. Liu, Z. He, L. P. Jiang, J. J. Zhu, Microwave-Assisted Synthesis of Wavelength-Tunable Photoluminescent Carbon Nanodots and Their Potential Applications, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces., 7 (2015) 4913–4920
- [145] S. J. Zhu, Y. B. Song, J. Wang, H. Wan, Y. Zhang, Y. Ning , B. Yang,Photoluminescence mechanism in graphene quantum dots: Quantum confinement effect and surface/edge state, Nano Today, 13 (2017) 10–14
- [146] Z. X. Liu, H. Y. Zou, N. Wang, T. Yang, Z. W. Peng, J. Wang, N. Li, C. Z. Huang, Photoluminescence of carbon quantum dots: coarsely adjusted by quantum confinement effects and finely by surface trap states, Sci. China: Chem., 61 (2018) 1–7

- [147] L. Shi, J.H. Yang, H.B. Zeng, Y.M. Chen, S.C. Yang, C.Wu, H. Zeng, O. Yoshihito, Q. Zhang, Carbon dots with high fluorescence quantum yield: The fluorescence originates from organic fluorophores. Nanoscale., 8 (2016) 14374–14378
- [148] W. Wang, B. Wang, H. Embrechts, C. Damm, A. Cadranel, V. Strauss, M. Distaso, V. Hinterberger, D.M. Guldi, W. Peukert, Shedding light on the effective fluorophore structure of high fluorescence quantum yield carbon nanodots, RSC Adv., 7 (2017) 24771–24780
- [149] V. Gude, A. Das, T. Chatterjee, P.K. Mandal, Molecular origin of photoluminescence of carbon dots: Aggregation-induced orange-red emission. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys., 18 (2016) 28274–28280
- [150] C.J. Reckmeier, J. Schneider, Y. Xiong, J. Häusler, P. Kasák, W. Schnick, A.L. Rogach, Aggregated Molecular Fluorophores in the Ammonothermal Synthesis of Carbon Dots. Chem. Mater., 29 (2017) 10352–10361
- [151] M. Righetto, A. Privitera, I. Fortunati, D. Mosconi, M. Zerbetto, M.L. Curri, M. Corricelli, A. Moretto, S. Agnoli, L. Franco, R. Bozio, C. Ferrante, Spectroscopic Insights into Carbon Dot Systems. J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 8 (2017) 2236–2242
- [152] A.Das, V. Gude, D. Roy, T. Chatterjee, C.K. De, P.K. Mandal, On the Molecular Origin ofPhotoluminescence of Non-blinking Carbon Dot, J. Phys. Chem. C., 121 (2017) 9634–9641
- [153] A.Sharma, T. Gadly,S. Neogy, S.K. Ghosh, M. Kumbhakar, Molecular Origin and Self-Assembly of Fluorescent Carbon Nanodots in Polar Solvents, J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 8 (2017) 1044– 1052
- [154] M.J. Krysmann, A. Kelarakis, P. Dallas, E.P. Giannelis, Formation Mechanism of Carbogenic Nanoparticles with Dual Photoluminescence Emission, J. Am. Chem. Soc, 134 (2012) 747– 750
- [155] X.Liu, H.B. Li, L. Shi, X. Meng, Y. Wang, X. Chen, H. Xu, W. Zhang, X. Fang, T. Ding, Structure and photoluminescence evolution of nanodots during pyrolysis of citric acid: From molecular nanoclusters to carbogenic nanoparticles, J. Mater. Chem. C., 5 (2017) 10302–10312

- [156] J.Schneider, C. J. Reckmeier, Y. Xiong, M.V. Seckendorff, A.S. Susha, P.Kasák, A.L. Rogach, Molecular Fluorescence in Citric Acid-Based Carbon Dots, J. Phys. Chem. C., 121 (2017) 2014–2022
- [157] A.Sachdev, I. Matai, P. Gopinath, Implications of surface passivation on physicochemical and bioimaging properties of carbon dots, *RSC Adv.*, 40 (2014) 20915-20921
- [158] Y.P.Sun, X. Wang, F.Lu, L. Cao, M.J. Meziani, P.G. Luo, L. Gu, L.M. Veca. Doped carbon nanoparticles as a new platform for highly photoluminescent dots, *J. Phys. Chem. C.*, 112 (2008) 18295-18298
- [159] H. Gonçalves, P.A.S. Jorge, J.R.A Fernandes, J.C.G. Esteves da Silva, Hg(II) sensing based on functionalized carbon dots obtained by direct laser ablation, Sens. Actuators. B.,145 (2010) 702-707
- [160] Y. Liu, C.Y. Liu, Z.Y. Zhang, Synthesis and surface photochemistry of graphitized carbon quantum dots, J. Colloid Interface Sci., 356 (2011)416-421
- [161] P. Huang, J. Lin, X. Wang, Z. Wang, C. Zhang, M. .He, Q. Wang, F. Chen, Z. Li, G.Shen, D.Cui, X. Chen, Light- triggered theranostics based onphotosensitizer-conjugated carbon dots for simultaneous enhancedfluorescence imaging and photodynamic therapy, *Adv. Mater.*, 24 (2012) 5104-5110
- [162] A.Sachde, I. Matai, S.U. Kumar, B. Bhushan, P. Dubey, P. Gopinath, A novel one-step synthesis of PEG passivated multicolour fluorescent carbondots for potential biolabeling application. RSC Adv., 3 (2013) 16958-16961
- [163] X.Zhang, Y. Zhang, Y. Wang, S. Kalytchuk, S. V.Kershaw, Y. Wang, P.Wang, T.Zhang, Y. Zhao, H. Zhang, T. Cui, Y. Wang, J.Zhao, W.W Yu, A.L. Rogach, Color-switchable electroluminescence of carbon dot light-emitting diodes, ACS Nano., 7 (2013) 11234-11241
- [164] X.D. Yang, H.J. Xiang, L. An, S.P. Yang, J.G. Liu, Targeted delivery of photoactive diazido PtIV complexes conjugated with fluorescent carbon dots.*New J. Chem.*, 2015, 39(2), 800-804
- [165] G.A.M. Hutton, B.C.M. Martindale, E. Reisner, Carbon dots as photosensitisers for solar-driven catalysis, Chem. Soc. Rev., 46 ( 2017) 6111–6123.

- [166] H. Li, R. Liu, S. Lian, Y. Liu, H. Huang, Z. Kang, Near infrared light controlled photocatalytic activity of carbon quantum dots for highly selective oxidation reaction, Nanoscale., 5 (2013) 3289–3297
- [167] H. Zhang, H.Ming, S. Lian, H. Huang, H. Li, L. Zhang, Y.; Liu, Z. Kang, S.T. Lee, Fe2O3/carbon quantum dots complex photocatalysts and their enhanced photocatalytic activity under visible light. Dalton Trans., 40 (2011) 10822–10825.
- [168] X. Wang, L. Cao, F.Lu, M. J. Meziani, H.Li, G.Qi, B. Zhou, B. A. Harruff, F. Kermarrec, Y.P Sun, Photo-induced electron transfers with carbon dots, Chem. Commun., 25 (2009) 3774-3776
- [169] L. Cao, S. Sahu, P. Anilkumar, C.E. Bunker, J. Xu, K.A.S. Fernando, P. Wang, E.A. Guliants, K.N. Tackett, Y.P.Sun, Carbon Nanoparticles as Visible-Light Photocatalysts for Efficient CO2 Conversion and Beyond, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 133 (2011) 4754–4757.
- [170] A. Mehta, D. Pooja, A. Thakur, S. Basu, Enhanced photocatalytic water splitting by gold carbon dot core shell nanocatalyst under visible/sunlight, New J. Chem., 41 (2017) 4573–4581.
- [171] S. Xie, H. Su, W. Wei,M. Li, Y. Tong, Z. Mao, Remarkable photoelectrochemical performance of carbon dots sensitized TiO<sub>2</sub> under visible light irradiation, J. Mater. Chem. A., 2 ( 2014) 16365– 16368.
- [172] F.Rigodanza, L. Dordevic, F. Arcudi, M.Prato, Customizing the electrochemical properties of carbon nanodots by using quinones in bottom up synthesis, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 130 (2018) 5156–5161.
- [173] M.K.Barman, B. Jana, S. Bhattacharyya, A. Patra, Photophysical Properties of Doped Carbon Dots (N, P,and B) and Their Influence on Electron/Hole Transfer in Carbon Dots–Nickel (II) Phthalocyanine Conjugates, J. Phys. Chem. C., 118 ( 2014) 20034– 20041.
- [174] B. Gayen, S. Palchoudhury, J. Chowdhury, Carbon Dots: A Mystic Star in the World of Nanoscience, J. Nanomater., 2019 (2019) https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3451307
- [175] D. Xu, Q. Lin, H.T Chang, Recent Advances and Sensing Applications of Carbon Dots, Small Methods (2019) 1900387 https://doi.org/10.1002/smtd.201900387
- [176] W. Lu, X. Qin, S. Liu,G. Chang, Y. Zhang, Y. Luo, A.M. Asiri, X.Sun, Economical, green synthesis of fluorescent carbon nanoparticles and their use as probes for sensitive and selective detection of mercury(II) ions, *AnalyticalChemistry.*, 84 (2012) 5351– 5357
- [177] R. H. Liu, H. T. Li, W. Q. Kong, J.Liu, Y.Liu, C. Tong, X. Zhang, Ultra-sensitive and selective Hg<sup>2+</sup>detection based on fluorescent carbon dots, Mater. Res. Bull.,48 (2013) 2529–2534
- [178] R. Zhang, W. Chen, Nitrogen-doped carbon quantumdots: facile synthesis and application as a 'turn-off' fluorescent probe for detection of Hg<sup>2+</sup>ions, Biosens.Bioelectron, 55 (2014) 83–90
- [179] X. Cui, L. Zhu, J. Wu, Y.Hou, P.Wang,Z.Wang,M.Yang ,A fluorescent biosensor based on carbon dots-labeled oligodeoxyribonucleotide and graphene oxide for mercury (II) detection, Biosens.Bioelectron.,63 (2015) 506–512
- [180] J. Zong, X. Yang, A. Trinchi, S. Hardin, I. Cole, Y.Zhu, C. Li, T. Muster, G. Wei, Biosens.Bioelectron .,Carbon dots as fluorescent probes for 'off-on' detection of Cu<sup>2+</sup>and L-cysteine in aqueous solution, Biosens.Bioelectron., 51 (2014) 330–335
- [181] F. K. Du, F. Zeng, Y. H. Ming, S. Wu, Carbon dots based fluorescent probes for sensitive and selective detection of iodide , Microchim. Acta., 180 (2013) 453–460
- [182] W. Bai, H. Zheng, Y. Long, X. Mao, M. Gao, L. Zhang, A carbon dots-based fluorescence turn-on method for DNA determination, Analytical Sciences, 27 (2011) 243–246
- [183] B. Xu, C. Zhao, W. Wei ,J. Ren, D. Miyoshi, N. Sugimoto, X. Qu, Aptamer carbon nanodots sandwich used for fluorescent detection of protein, *Analyst.*, 137 (2012) 5483–5486
- [184] X. Chen, S. S. Mao, Titanium dioxide nanomaterials: synthesis, properties, modifications and applications, *Chem.Rev.*, 107 (2007) 2891–2959
- [185] X. Zhang, H. Huang, J. Liu, Y. Liu, Z. Kang, Cabon quantum dots serving as spectral converters through broad band upconversion of near-infrared photons for photoelectrochemical hydrogen generation, J. Mat. Chem A.,1 (2013) 11529–11533

- [186] X. Guo, C.-F. Wang, Z.-Y. Yu, L. Chen, S. Chen, Facile access to versatile fluorescent carbon dots toward light-emitting diodes, Chem.Commun.,48 (2012) 2692–2694
- [187] F. Wang, Y.-H. Chen, C.-Y. Liu, D.-G. Ma, White light emitting devices based on carbon dots' electroluminescence, Chem. Commun., 47 (2011) 3502–3504
- [188] J. Joseph, A.A.Anappara, White light emission of carbon dots by creating different emissive traps, J.lumin., 178 (2016) 128–133
- [189] Y Fang ,S Guo, Dan Li ,C ZHU ,W Ren, S. Dong ,E Wang , Easy Synthesis and Imaging Applications of Cross-Linked Green Fluorescent Hollow Carbon Nanoparticles, ACS Nano., 6 (2011) 400-409
- [190] J.Wang, C.F Wang, S. Chen, Amphiphilic Egg-Derived Carbon Dots: Rapid Plasma Fabrication Pyrolysis Process, and Multicolor Printing Patterns, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 51 (2012) 9297 –9301
- [191] J. Chen, J. S. Wei, P. Zhang, X. Q. Niu, W. Zhao, Z. Y. Zhu, H. Ding and H. M. Xiong, Red-Emissive Carbon Dots for Fingerprints Detection by Spray Method: Coffee Ring Effect and Unquenched Fluorescence in Drying Process, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces., 9 (2017) 18429–18433.
- [192] D. Fernandes, M. J. Krysmann, A. Kelarakis, Carbon dot based nanopowders and their application for fingerprint recovery, Chem.Commun., 51 (2015) 4902–4905.
- [193] S. Qu, X. Wang, Q. Lu, X. Liu, L. Wang, A Biocompatible Fluorescent Ink Based on Water-Soluble Luminescent Carbon Nanodots, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 51 (2012) 12215–12218
- [194] A. Dehghani, S. M. Ardekani, M. Hassan, V. G. Gomes, Collagen derived carbon quantum dots for cell imaging in 3D scaffolds via two-photon spectroscopy, Carbon.,131 (2018) 238–245.
- [195] H. Fu, Z. Ji, X. Chen, A. Cheng, S. Liu, P. Gong, G. Li, G. Chen, Z. Sun<sup>+</sup> X. Zhao, F. Cheng, J. You, A versatile ratiometric nano-sensing approach for sensitive and accurate detection of Hg<sup>2+</sup> and biological thiols based on new fluorescent carbon quantum dots, Anal. Biochem., 409 (2017) 2373–2382

[196] Y. Shu, J. Lu, Q.-X. Mao, S Song, X.Wang, X. Chen, J.Wang, Ionic liquid mediated organophilic carbon dots for drug delivery and bioimaging, Carbon., 114 (2017) 324–333.

# **Chapter 2** EXPERIMENTAL

2.1	Materials Used
2.2	Experimental Details
2.3	Synthesis of Table sugar Derived Carbon Dots
2.4	<i>Plausible Mechanistic route to the formation of Table sugar derived Carbon Dots (TS-CDs) -Maillard Reaction</i>
2.5	Experimental Techniques
2.5.1	Structural Characterization of Carbon Dots
2.5.2	Optical Characterization of Carbon Dots
2.6	Concluding Remarks

This chapter presents the details of used materials, synthesis procedures and various characterization techniques adopted for the analysis of prepared sample.

4

#### 2.1 Materials Used

Commercially available Table sugar of edible grade was collected from local market, precursor for carbon dot. Ammonia solution (90 %) was purchased from Merck. All the dilution processes were carried out by using double distilled water as the solvent throughout the entire experimental procedure.

#### 2.2. Experimental Details

#### (a) Microwave radiation assisted synthesis

As mentioned earlier, this research work is wholly intended to design a highly reliable economic, facile and non-toxic approach to bright emitting carbon dots, the most promising nano material with fine features. We have selected commercially available Table sugar as the precursor, which is non-toxic and highly economic by nature. As well as the choice of non-toxic raw material, the selection of appropriate synthesis technique is also playing a crucial role for determining the sustainability of designed reaction procedure. For fulfilling this norm, one should select a particular mode of synthesis, which is commendably facile, scalable, and above all energy conserving, by nature.

Present work projects the utilization of 'Microwave energy' for the efficient conversion of raw material table sugar into highly fluorescent carbon nano particles. Microwave energy is recently recognized as the potent green alternative to conventional energy sources used for heating, such as hot-plates and oil-baths. The introduction of microwave irradiation in chemical synthesis is a major breakthrough as it is ensuring product formation through safer and convenient reaction conditions with commendable increment in the reaction rate and product yield. Microwaves are arranged in between infra-red radiation and radio waves of electromagnetic spectrum. These rays are characterized by wavelength of 1 mm to 1 m analogous to frequencies in the range of 0.3 to 300 GHz.

As discussed earlier, majority of the conventional heating practices like heating mantles, furnaces and oil-baths will always result in slow and energy inefficient synthetic approach. These ordinary heating sources are associated with convection currents/conduction of reaction vessel walls. Major portion of the heat energy of hot plates and mantles is utilized for heating the container walls (conduction/convection currents) instead of transferring the appropriate energy to the sample in the container. Hence, during the course of heating, these conventional sources induce elevated temperature for the reaction vessel than the reaction sample inside it. To be more specific, reflux reaction conditions results notably higher temperature gradient in the synthetic platform, leading to the decomposition of substrates/reagents and may also yield undesirable side products. Thus, for the reaction strategies involving conventional energy sources, the core of reaction mixture took much longer time to attain the target temperature. In this manner, these ordinary energy sources may result energy inefficient and timeconsuming reaction routes with considerable amount of waste formation, strictly contradictory to sustainable production.

Thus for ensuring sustainable nano particle synthesis, the reaction pathway should proceed through energy efficient and facile route. Utilization of microwave energy as an external energy source for a chemical synthesis offers volumetric heating. Hence, microwave assisted reactions will leads to simultaneous temperature rise in the bulk of reaction container, thereby ensuring efficient internal heating of the reaction mixture. Microwave radiation penetrates deeply in to the reaction chamber without resulting any unnecessary heating of reaction vessel via conduction/convection currents as in the case of conventional heating. The whole energy of the external microwave source is perfectly transferred to the reactants without any delay, offering spontaneous chemical reaction with enhanced reaction rate. Thus, microwave assisted nanoparticle synthesis shortens the time needed for the completion of reaction by minimizing the possibility for unwanted by-product formation. This is a great advantage form the assisted chemistry perspective. In short, microwave green carbonization of green raw materials strictly meet almost all the postulates of green and sustainable development.

- The main advantageous of Microwave assisted chemical reactions over conventional heating practices can be summarized as below
- *Faster reactions:* As microwave radiations are associated with higher temperatures than conventional heating sources, rate of the reaction will be 10000 fold faster than that of conventional heating methods.
- Energy conserving: Microwaves affect efficient heating of the core of reaction mixture. No energy is wasted for heating of vessel walls, ensuring considerable energy saving.

- Improved product yield and cleanness: As microwave radiations results in prompt chemical reactions, the synthesis proceeds through the absence of reactants/solvents disintegration. It assures almost perfect conversion of starting materials in to the target product. On account of this enhanced product formation, micro wave synthesis require rapid and negligible purification steps in the absence of unwanted side products. Hence, it offers clean synthesis of nanoparticles.
- Better Reproducibility: Microwave radiations offer homogenous heating of reaction mixture and better control over reaction parameters such as temperature, pressure and time. These parameters can be monitored within the Microwave reactor, where conventional heating sources fail to do so. Owing to this scalable operation methodology all the microwave assisted reactions are found to be reproducible.
- Green synthesis: Microwave radiation causes direct heating of the sample without dissipating the energy for superheating of surroundings, there by suggesting a reaction protocol which either eliminates or reduces the usage of solvents in chemical reactions. As majority of the microwave assisted reactions avoid the usage of hazardous reagents/solvents, there will be a tremendous decrease in efforts required for purification of final products. Hence, microwave assisted reactions strictly follow all the core-concepts of green chemistry such as clean and safe production of materials form environmental benign precursors in a facile manner.

All these facts highlight the credibility of microwave assisted synthesis method over usual heating methods. These incredible achievements excited the researchers to swiftly switch from conventional heating practices to microwave assisted reactions. Hence, one can confidently approach microwave assisted synthesis method for the large scale production of brightly luminescent carbon nano particles with interesting features which are distinct and reproducible in a costeffective route and negligible environmental footprint.

# (b) Apparatus and reaction procedure

Anton paar Monowave-300 synthesis microwave oven was utilized for the synthesis of fluorescent CDs. This is a single –mode microwave synthesis reactor, which offers intense microwave radiations towards a single reaction vessel at a time, resulting enhanced reaction rate with higher product yield. This monowave 300 synthesis reactor provides simultaneous monitoring and controlling of the reaction parameters including temperature, time and pressure. It also ensures necessary safety measures against undesirable pressure variations during the course of reaction.

In accordance with the total quantity of the reacting sample, there will be three different types of reaction vials with volume capacity ranging from 5 ml to 30 ml. For heating the sample with monowave radiation we have to put the sample containing sealed vial inside the microwave reactor cavity and run the following programmes in accordance with the with the preset reaction conditions of temperature, pressure and time.

- 1) Select the vial type and enter the sample code
- Open the chamber lid and place the sealed vial with magnetic needle inside it
- Click heat as fast as possible option, enter the required reaction temperature
- 4) Select the option hold temperature, enter a fixed time period.
- 5) Select the required stirring speed (rpm)
- 6) Click cool as fast as possible, enter temperature ~55 °C and less.
- 7) After verifying all the digital displays of parameter inputs, close the chamber lid and click start option.



Figure 2.1: Microwave reactor (Anton Paar monowave-300)

## 2.3 Synthesis of Table sugar Derived Carbon Dots

About 1 g of table sugar taken in a silica crucible was heated in a muffle furnace at 150 °C for about 3 minutes. The pale yellow sugar slurry obtained was transferred in to a 50 mL beaker. To this caramelized table sugar slurry, very dilute ammonia solution (0.25 weight % in double distilled water) was added and mixed well for obtaining homogenous solution. This caramelized sugar-ammonia mixture was carefully transferred to a sealed 30 mL microwave reaction vial. The reaction vial was then placed inside the microwave reactor (Monowave 300- synthesis microwave oven), which enables simultaneous monitoring and control of critical reaction parameters such as temperature, time and pressure. The reaction temperature was adjusted to 120 °C, amicable while considering the permissible temperature range postulated by green chemistry. The reaction mixture was subjected to microwave assisted carbonization for 3 minutes by maintaining all the reaction parameters constant throughout the synthesis process. The resulting carbon dot solution was then cooled, filtered and subjected to ultra-centrifugation for 20 minutes at a speed of 12,000 rpm. Small portion of the solution was freeze-dried to yield carbon dot in powder form and was subjected to various analysis for characterization.



Figure 2.2: Schematic representation of microwave assisted synthesis of fluorescent carbon nano dots from table sugar

In brief, the present work demonstrates a facile route to bright emitting CDs exploiting cheaply available table sugar, a common component in the daily routine of layman, a highly cost-effective course of action preserving environmental friendly concepts. As we have utilized microwave radiation as the energy source, the synthesis procedure also ensures energy conservation and better yield without the formation of any kind of unwanted side products. In the absence of considerable amount of impurities we don't have to spend more time, money and energy for purification processes compared to the majority of previous reports, impart remarkable benefit on the overall cost of final product. Hence, the present work offers easier, cheaper and safer synthesis protocol, assuring almost all the suggested norms of sustainable development, most anticipated modus operandi in nano-science and engineering.

As-synthesised carbon dots were subjected to further post-synthesis treatment, ultra centrifugation with speed rate, 12,000 rotations per minute for removing unwanted carbonaceous precipitates from the final solution. This will ensure purity of the product. Carbon dot solution is filled inside 15 mL centrifuging tubes and then subjected to continuous ultra-centrifugation for about 20 minutes. Brownish black precipitate collected over the solution was decanted carefully, leaving pale yellow solution of carbon dots.



Figure 2.3 : Digital image of Ultra-centrifugation chamber

# 2.4 Plausible Mechanistic route to the formation of Table sugar derived Carbon Dots (TS-CDs) - Maillard Reaction

As mentioned in the previous chapter, scientists strictly lack a unified theory for explaining the formation mechanism of fluorescent CDs. There are no generally acceptable mechanistic routes for the formation of CDs, leaving each system unique in their formation process and thereby in their structure. Herein, based on several scientific inferences and detailed literature review, we could suggest Maillard reaction, as the chemical pathway for the synthesis procedure.

#### (a) Brief introduction to Maillard Reaction

In 1912, a French chemist Louis-Camille Maillard has made a significant discovery while reproducing a biological protein synthesis between a sugar moiety and amino acid. Chemistry Nobel laureate Jean-Marie addressed Maillard reaction as the most widely practiced chemical reaction so far in the world. Instead of a single final product the aforesaid reaction tentatively forms a massive collection of chemical products (several thousand Daltons) during the course of interaction between carbonyl group (reducing sugar moiety) and amino acid. This haziness about the exact Maillard chemistry and thereby the final Maillard product triggered several enthusiastic research minds, note-worthy efforts and findings in this direction were spotted through thousands of publications and conferences. Maillard reaction celebrates its 109<sup>th</sup> year in 2021 with 5000 publications and 11 international symposia on Maillard reaction.

As Maillard reaction is fully devoted for reducing sugar amino acid condensation, the formed products will vary in accordance with the reacting sugar species and amino acid side-chain there by resulting heterogeneous products including Schiff base imines, melanoidins, amadori reaction products along with some probable chemicals such as 5-Hydroxy Methyl Furfural and acrylamide with a huge massive collection of products which are collectively termed as "HUMIC materials". Due to this uncertainty regarding the final product, numerous investigations were conducted by researchers for probing a definite structure by means of Fourier Transform Infra Red assisted studies on mixture of Maillard products. These efforts in turn end up with certain conclusions regarding final products, which are strictly exclusive for specific starting carbohydrates and amino acids.



Figure 2.4 : Schematic representation of Maillard Reaction

In 1953, Hodges suggested the possible chemical routes of Maillard reaction, which leads to the conclusion that carbohydrate-amino condensation may furnish a series of products including Ketosamine, Reductones, N-glycosides and dehydro reductones along with some unknown aroma compounds. According to Hodges, the Maillard reaction may result in the formation of plenty of dehydration products including acetol/pyruvaldehyde, diacetyl etc,. Evolution of buttery like odour during the synthesis of table sugar derived carbon dots (carbonization stage) indicate the presence of diacetyl moiety at the early stage of reaction, which is a major bi-product of Maillard reaction. These observations clearly substantiate the Maillard assisted

formation of fluorescent carbon dots, rather than normal caramelization of sugar (Saccharose).

# (b) Maillard chemistry to the formation of Table sugar derived carbon dots.

During the fabrication of fluorescent carbon dots, pyrolysis of table sugar results in decomposition of saccharose moiety in to individual units, glucose and fructose. After this heating process, the sugar caramel formed is treated with diluted ammonia solution. These sugar molecules will drive Maillard browning when comes in contact with any amino acid/ammonia moiety and furnish a collection of heterogeneous products with structural ambiguity.

Ammonia mediated sugar browning is a rarely discussed branch of Maillard reaction which may proceed through synthetic routes which are entirely different from general Maillard pathway that ends up with exclusively new product. Unlike amino acids, the added dilute ammonia solution in the present case is inept to carry out the complicated chemical reaction in general Maillard reaction scheme like amadori rearrangement, strecker degradation, hydrolysis of Schiff bases etc,. Hence, the probability for the formation of suggested Maillard products (outcome of afore said complicated rearrangements) like imines, Amides, Advanced Glycation End products, Diacetones, 5-HMF, Acrylamides and melanoidins can be completely ruled out during the course of ammonia assisted carbon dot synthesis. The series of products formed during Maillard reaction with known and unknown structural compositions may undergo series of polymerization reactions followed by condensation processes. These condensation/polymerization products when subjected to continuous exposure of micro wave radiation, will undergo aromatization, subsequently results the formation of several aromatic clusters. Finally when the concentration of formed aromatic clusters exceeds a particular critical super saturation level, all the formed carbon nuclei/ clusters will burst out and results the formation of fluorescent carbon nano dots with desired size ( below 10 nm) , attached with several surface functional groups.



Figure 2.5: Schematic representation of reaction pathway to Table sugar derived carbon dots (TS-CDs).

# 2.5 Experimental Techniques

Synthesised carbon dot solution is adequately characterised by various experimental techniques including X-Ray Diffraction analysis (XRD analysis), Energy dispersive X-ray analysis (EDAX), High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HRTEM), Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM), Fourier Transform Infra Red spectroscopy (FTIR), Raman spectroscopy, X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), UV-Visible absorbance spectroscopy, and Fluorescence spectroscopy. These characterization techniques provide detailed description about the structure and optical features of the system.

# 2.5.1 Structural Characterization of Carbon Dots

# High-Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy(HRTEM) Analysis

Morphology of the synthesised carbon dots were investigated using High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HRTEM). Tecnai G2 F30 S-Twin microscope was utilized for recording the HR-TEM image of carbon dots. Sample preparation for this analysis was done by dropping aqueous solution of carbon dot on carbon coated copper grid.



# > X-Ray Diffraction (XRD) analysis

Crystalline/amorphous nature of the system is traced using XRD analysis. Rigaku MiniFlex-II diffractometer with Cu K $\alpha$  ( $\lambda$ =0.154 nm) radiation source in the range from 0° to 90° was adopted for the XRD analysis of the carbon dot sample.



# > Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) analysis

Surface topography of carbon dot sample was analyzed using Atomic force microscope (NTEGRE-NT-MDT) equipped with

NOVA software in semi-contact mode by recording 2-Dimensional images. For AFM analysis, droplet of carbon dot solution was placed on the surface of freshly cleaved mica substrate.



# > Energy Dispersive X-ray analysis (EDX)

Energy Dispersive X-ray analysis (EDX) was done using FEI SEM QUANTA 200 3D instrument. EDX analysis provides clear idea about the elemental composition of the synthesised carbon dot.



# > X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) analysis

Surface functional groups of carbon dots were studied with XPS analysis. kratos Axis Ultra DLD spectrometer with K $\alpha$  X-ray source is used for the XPS analysis.



### > Fourier Transform Infra-Red (FT-IR) spectroscopy

Detailed information about the functional groups of carbon dots was obtained by FTIR analysis. FT-IR spectroscopy was carried out via employing KBr disc method in the range of 4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 400 cm<sup>-1</sup>, using JASCO FTIR-4100 instrument.



## Raman spectroscopy analysis

Lab Ram HR-Horiba Jobinyvon Spectrometer with Raman Microprobe with 532 nm Nd: YAG excitation source was adopted for recording the Raman spectrum of prepared carbon dot solution, for achieving detailed information about structural aspects/ surface functionalities of the system.



# Zeta potential analyzer

Surface charge of the system was recorded with the help of Anton paar Litesizer<sup>TM</sup> 500 light-scattering instrument.



# > Dynamic light scattering analysis

Particle size of carbon dot can be identified from dynamic light scattering analysis of the sample using Zetasizer Nano ZS-90; Malvern Instruments.



# 2.5.2 Optical Characterization of Carbon Dots

# > Ultra Violet-Visible absorbance spectroscopy

Ultra-violet visible absorbance spectrum of the carbon dot solution was recorded using JASCO V-550 spectrophotometer. 1 cm X 1 cm PMMA cuvette was used for recording the UV-Visible spectrum. For all the measurements, corresponding solvents were used as the reference against each sample. Necessary dilutions were made for the carbon dot samples for obtaining well-defined UV-Visible absorbance spectrum of the sample.



### Fluorescence spectroscopy

Fluorescence, the unique feature of carbon dots was recorded using Perkin Elmer Fluorescence spectrometer LS 55. 1 cm X 1 cm PMMA cuvette was used for recording the fluorescence spectrum of the sample.



# Fluorescence Decay ( Lifeime measurement)

Fluorescence decay time was monitored using Fluoro Log-3 fluorescence spectrophotometer (Jobin Yvon Inc., USA), by maintaining the excitation wavelength as 370 nm.



Digital image of fluorescence spectrophotometer for life-time measurements

#### > Photoluminescence quantum yield measurements

Photoluminescence quantum yield of carbon dots was measured from integrated photoluminescence intensities (excited at 360 nm) and UV-Visible absorbance of sample and reference solutions. Quinine sulphate in 0.1 M sulphuric acid was used as the reference solution. Quantum yield of reference was found to be 54 % and the absorbance spectrum was measured below 0.05 units (Y-axis) for avoiding the chance of re-absorption. Quantum yield can be measured using the following equation,

### $QY_{CDs} = QY_{Ref} (I_{CDs} / I_{Ref}) (A_{Ref} / A_{CDs}) (\eta_{CDs} / \eta_{Ref})^2$

- $\mathbf{Q}\mathbf{Y} =$ Quantum yield
- **I** = Integrated fluorescence intensity
- A= Absorbance value
- $\eta = \text{Refractive index}$
- Subscripts **CDs** and **Ref** represents sample (Carbon dot) and reference solution (Quinine sulphate in H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) respectively.

## 2.6 Concluding Remarks



- ✓ Commercially available table sugar was selected as the precursor for carbon dot synthesis
- ✓ Used precursor is highly economic in nature
- $\checkmark$  Pyrolized table sugar was treated with very dilute ammonia solution
- ✓ Microwave radiation is used as external energy source for few minutes
- ✓ Microwave assisted synthesis strictly conserves energy
- ✓ Formation of carbon dot follows Maillard like reaction pathway yielding collection of heterogeneous products with structural ambiguity
- ✓ Plausible formation mechanism is suggested for table sugar derived carbon dots (TS-CDs)
- ✓ Prepared TS-CDs were subjected to various analysis techniques for characterization

# **Chapter 3** CHARACTERIZATION OF CARBON DOT

3.1	Introduction
3.2	High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HR-TEM) analysis
3.3	X-Ray Diffraction (XRD) analysis
3.4	Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) Analysis
3.5	Energy Dispersive X-Ray (EDX) Analysis
3.6	X-ray Photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) analysis
3.7	Fourier Transform Infra-Red (FTIR) spectroscopy analysis
3.8	Raman spectroscopy analysis
3.9	Zeta potential measurement
3.10	Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) analysis
3.11	UV-Visible absorbance spectroscopy analysis
3.12	Fluorescence spectroscopy analysis
3.13	Fluorescence lifeime measurement (fluorescence decay profile)
3.14	Summary and Highlights
3.15	References

This chapter provides detailed information on results of various characterization techniques, thereby discussing the important characteristics of the prepared sample.

4

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Carbon dots, the latest entry to the carbon nano world are the tiny carbon particles with size below 10 nm, and considered to a most promising nanomaterial, both in the scientific and technological As mentioned in the first chapter, entry of such a perspective. fluorescent carbon member revolutionize the whole scientific world. which thereby prompted scientists to devote their efforts for fabricating promising carbon dos for numerous applications in various fields. Before proceeding to designing a promising carbon dot based material, it is highly desirable to investigate all their inherent physico-chemical using characterization techniques. features adequate Detailed discussion and inferences about the results of all the characterisation techniques were provided in this chapter.

# **3.2 High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HR-TEM) analysis**

As discussed previously, the morphology of the prepared system can be investigated by conducting HRTEM analysis.



Figure 3.1: (a) HRTEM image of carbon dots with lattice fringe pattern in the inset and (b) Histogram profile showing particle size distribution.

HRTEM image of table sugar derived CDs is provided below as Figure 3.1 (a), indicating the formation of quasi-spherical particles with size below 5 nm. Inset of Figure 3.1 (a) shows the corresponding lattice fringe pattern having interplanar distance of 0.21 nm [1]. Through the histogram profile (Figure 3.1b) of CDs, average particle size was identified as 3.8 nm. All these results strongly confirm the successful formation of carbon dots.



### 3.3 X-Ray Diffraction (XRD) analysis

Figure 3.2: XRD pattern of table sugar derived carbon dots.

XRD analysis provides clear picture about the crystalline/amorphous nature of the materials. As evident from the figure, XRD pattern of carbon dots displays two distinct peaks, at 24° and 44.5° owing to the diffraction from (002) and (101) planes respectively (Figure 3.2). The peak at 24° originating from the (002) plane diffraction can be ascribed to the inherent graphitic nature of the system with interplanar spacing of 0.37 nm, significantly greater than pristine graphitic system (0.34)

nm) [1].This increased 'd' spacing of the system indicates highly exfoliated graphite layers imparting more graphenic nature to the present system [2]. The second peak at 44.5° corresponding to (101) planes with spacing of 0.2 nm, indicating higher order of the 2D array in vertical direction, which is highly comparable with that of HEG (Highly Exfoliate Graphite) units [3].

### 3.4 Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) Analysis



Figure 3.3: AFM image of TS-CDs.

The surface morphology of the prepared system was further confirmed from AFM analysis results (Figure 3.3). Formation of spherical particles with average size of 3.5 nm is clearly evident from the AFM image and the height profile (inset) of diluted solution of TS-CDs. This observation is found to be in good agreement with the conclusion from HRTEM analysis [1].

### 3.5 Energy Dispersive X-Ray (EDX) Analysis

Elemental composition of the synthesised carbon dot sample was investigated using EDX analysis (Figure 3.4). As evident from the

EDX pattern, table sugar derived carbon dots were composed of higher concentration of Carbon atoms (73.04 %) along with Oxygen atoms (26.96 %). This analysis result confirms the presence of carbon within the prepared system.



Figure 3.4: Elemental analysis of sample: EDX pattern of TS-CDs with atomic percentages of Carbon and Oxygen (inset).

#### 3.6 X-ray Photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) analysis



Figure 3.5: XPS profiles (a) C1S spectrum and (b) O1S spectrum of TS-CDs.

Functional groups of the prepared system can be identified by conducting XPS analysis of the sample. The XPS profiles of the carbon dots are displayed in Figure 3.5, confirming the presence of numerous oxygen containing functionalities within the system. C1s spectrum (Figure 3.5 a) possess three distinct peaks at 283.5 eV, 285.6 eV and 287.3 eV, corresponding to C=C, C-O and C=O functional groups respectively. O1s spectral profile (Figure 3.5 b) of the CDs contains two different peaks, at 530.8 eV and 532.4 eV, corresponding to C= O and C -OH / C- O- C respectively. Hence, XPS analysis confirms the presence of enormous amount of carboxyl and carbonyl groups over the CDs structure [4,5].

#### 3.7 Fourier Transform Infra-Red (FTIR) spectroscopy analysis

Detailed information about the functional groups of the sample can be obtained by FTIR spectral analysis. FTIR spectral profile of the prepared system is provided below (Figure 3.6). The signal situated at 3440 cm<sup>-1</sup> can be ascribed to the O-H stretching vibrations that may arise due to the presence of carboxyl and hydroxyl groups. FTIR spectral band centered at 2930 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicate asymmetric C-H stretching vibrations, whereas symmetric C-H stretching vibrations leads to weak signal at 2840 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Broad spectral band near 1625 cm<sup>-1</sup> denoting aromatic C=C bond conjugated to C=O/COO<sup>-</sup> is found to be fused with C=O asymmetric stretching vibration at 1540 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The intense signal at 1400 cm<sup>-1</sup> represents C=O symmetric stretching which justifies the presence of COO<sup>-</sup> group vibration. Presence of intense band at 1035 cm<sup>-1</sup> confirms C-O stretching and O-H deformations by alcoholic and polysaccharide units. Hence, FTIR spectral profile of the prepared CDs indicates that the system is well decorated with carboxylate, hydroxyl and epoxy functionalities, carboxylate being the majority [6,7].



Figure 3.6: FTIR spectrum of TS-CDs

3.8 Raman spectroscopy analysis



Figure 3.7: Raman spectral profile of TS-CDs.
Structural information of the system can be gathered from the Raman spectral profile (Figure 3.7). [8]. As evident from Figure 3.7, TS-CDs possesses two distinct bands, centred at 1298 cm<sup>-1</sup>and 1597 cm<sup>-1</sup>,denoting the characteristic 'D' and 'G' bands respectively. D band provides information about the sp<sup>3</sup> hybridized carbon frameworks of the system, whereas details' regarding sp<sup>2</sup> carbons of the system can be obtained from the G band. Intensity ratio of these bands, ID/IG was found to exceed unity ( $I_D/I_G= 1.2$ ), indicating more defective carbon sites/ presence of abundant functional groups [9] Observations obtained from Raman spectral analysis strongly substantiate the information from FTIR and XPS analysis of the sample.

#### 3.9 Zeta potential measurement

Surface charge of the system was analyzed by conducting zeta potential analysis. As evident from Figure 3.8, sample possesses surface charge of -2.38 mV. Negative zeta potential value of the sample further confirms the presence of excess amount of oxygen rich functionalities including hydroxyl and carboxyl groups.



Figure 3.8: Zeta potential curve of TS-CDs.

#### 3.10 Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) analysis

Dynamic light scattering analysis was performed for obtaining the average hydrodynamic diameter of the sample.



Figure 3.9: Particle size analysis: Hydro dynamic particle size measurement from DLS analysis

From Figure 3.9, the average particle size of TS-CDs was identified as 11nm. Poly dispersity index (PDI) of this measurement was found to be 0.349. Results from DLS analysis was found to be larger, when compared with the particle size obtained from HRTEM and AFM analysis, which is usually expected. This deviation in particle size (anomalous observation) can be ascribed to the formation of electrical double layer on the carbon dot surface as well as may due to the hindrance in path created by the overlapped nanoparticles while conducting the scattering experiment.

#### 3.11 UV-Visible absorbance spectroscopy analysis

Optical features of the prepared system were analyzed using UV-Visible absorbance spectrophotometer. The sample exhibits characteristic UV-Visible absorbance curve of carbon dot units (Figure 3.10). As evident from the spectrum, TS-CDs possess a prominent absorbance at 280 nm denoting  $\pi$ - $\pi$ \* transitions of aromatic sp<sup>2</sup> domains, substantiating the suggested mechanistic route of carbon dot formation involving aromatization of individual polymerized/condensed fragments. In addition, a shoulder peak corresponding to n- $\pi$ \* transition of lone pair containing surface functionalities was observed around 300-320 nm [10-13].



Figure 3.10: UV-Visible absorbance curve of TS-CDs

#### 3.12 Fluorescence spectroscopy analysis

Fluorescence, the unique feature of carbon dots can be displayed through fluorescence spectral analysis of the sample. Fluorescence of the prepared TS-CDs was measured under excitation wavelength of 350 nm (Figure 3.11 a). The sample solution was found to emit bright cyan colour emission when placed under UV radiation of 360 nm wavelength (inset of Figure 3.11 a). As evident from Figure 3.11(a), TS-CDs exhibits intense fluorescence emission at 450 nm ( $\lambda_{exc}$ : 350

nm). Fluorescence quantum yield of the system was measured to be 2.5 % against quinine sulphate as reference solution, using the equation mentioned in chapter 2. It was interesting to note that, present carbon dot system is able to exhibit excitation dependant fluorescence emission feature. As evident from the tunable emission profile (Figure 3.11 b), fluorescence emission wavelength of the system shifts to higher values with gradual increment in excitation wavelength [13-16].



Figure 3.11: (a) Fluorescence emission curve of TS-CDs, digital image of cyan emitting carbon dot (inset), (b) Excitation dependent fluorescence emission of TS-CDs.

3.13 Fluorescence lifeime measurement (fluorescence decay profile)



Figure 3.12: Fluorescence decay profile of the sample.

Fluorescence decayprofile of the prepared sample was recorded under excitation wavelength of 370 nm (Figure 3.12). The average fluorescence lifetime of the TS-CD system was measured to be 4.9 ns.

## **3.14 Summary and Highlights**

4 Morphology, structural characteristics, chemical composition, particle size, physico-chemical features and the non-toxic nature of the prepared sample was well understood from the results of employed characterization techniques. Formation of quasi-spherical nanoparticles with average diameter  $\sim 4$  nm is evident from the HRTEM image. This observation is further backup by the AFM analysis results. Results of DLS measurement also substantiate the formation of nanoparticles in the aforesaid diameter range.XRD pattern of the system reveals the presence of two distinct peaks at 24° and 44.5° indicates Xray diffraction from (002) and (101) planes respectively. Increased lattice spacing of former suggests highly exfoliated graphitic (HEG) nature to the system. Elemental analysis results (EDX pattern) confirm the presence of higher amount of carbon (73.04 %) along with Oxygen (26.96 %).XPS and FTIR studies reveal the presence of carboxyl and hydroxyl groups over the carbon core of TS-CDs. Functional group analysis confirms that the sample is abundantly decorated with various oxygen containing functionalities (C=O, -COOH, -OH etc.,).Raman spectral profile of the system indicates more defective carbon sites/ presence of abundant functional groups,

substantiating the results from FTIR and XPS analysis of the sample. Zeta potential of TS-CDs was found to be -2.38, confirming excess amount of oxygen rich functional groups over the surface (carboxyl and hydroxyl). TS-CDs exhibits characteristic UV-Visible absorbance spectrum with distinct bands corresponding to  $\pi$ - $\pi^*$  and n- $\pi^*$  transitions within the system. System also exhibits intense fluorescence emission at 450 nm (excitation wavelength: 350 nm). Sample shows intense cyan emission when placed inside a UV chamber (excited using UV lamp with wavelength of 364 nm). System exhibits excitation dependant fluorescence emission over a wide range of wavelength (emission ranging from 450 nm to 650 nm in accordance with excitation ranging from 350 nm to 470 nm). Photo-luminescence quantum yield of the sample was found to be 2.5 % against quinine sulphate as reference solution. Fluorescence lifeime of the system was found to be 4.9 ns from the fluorescence decay profile.



- $\checkmark$  Quasi-spherical particles with diameter below 4 nm is formed.
- ✓ System exhibits bright cyan colour fluorescence
- ✓ XRD pattern of the system suggests highly exfoliated graphitic (HEG) nature

- ✓ Spectral analysis confirms abundantly available oxygen containing surface functional groups
- ✓ Present system exhibits tunable fluorescence emission over a wide range of wavelength by changing the excitation wavelength
- ✓ TS-CDs are extremely bio-compatible and environmentally benign, with commendable anti-oxidant nature.

## 3.15 References

- S. Sangam, A. Gupta, A. Shakeel, R. Bhattacharya, A.K. Sharma, D. Suhag,S. Chakrabarti, S.K. Garg, S. Chattopadhyay, B. Basu, V. Kumar, S.K. Rajput, M.K. Dutta, M. Mukherjee, Sustainable synthesis of single crystalline sulphur-doped graphene quantum dots for bioimaging and beyond, Green Chem., 20 (2018) 4245.
- 2. A.K. Mishra, S. Ramaprabhu, Carbon dioxide adsorption in graphene sheet, AIP Advances., 1 (2011) 032152
- 3. K. Adarsh, T.T. Baby, S. Ramaprabhu, Graphene synthesis via hydrogen induced low temperature exfoliation of Graphite oxide, J. Mater. Chem., 20 (2010) 8467–8469
- G. Huang, X. Chen, C. Wang, H. Zheng, Z. Huang, D. Chen, H. Xie, Photo-luminescent carbon dots derived from sugarcane molasses: synthesis, properties, and applications, RSC Adv. 7 (2017) 47840–47847
- K.H. Hama Aziz, K.M. Omer, R.F. Hamarawfa, Lowering the detection limit towards nano-molar mercury ion detection via surface modification of N-doped carbon quantum dots, New J. Chem. 43 (2019) 8677–8683
- K. Ghosal, S. Ghosh, D. Ghosh, K.Sarkar., Natural polysaccharide derived carbon dot based in situ facile green synthesis of silver nanoparticles: Synergistic effect on breast cancer, Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 162 (2020) 1605–1615
- M. Shariati-Rad, T. Mohseninasab, F. Parno, Application of response surface methodology and green carbon dots as reducing agents in speciation of iron, RSC Adv., 8 (2018) 2173–2180.
- V. Lee, L. Whittaker, J. Cherno, K.M. Baroudi, D.A. Fischer, S. Banerjee, Large-area chemically modified graphene films: electrophoretic deposition and characterization by soft X-ray absorption spectroscopy, Chem. Mater. 21(2009) 3905–3916

- M. Anju, T. Divya, M.P. Nikhila, T.V. Arsha Kusumam, A.K. Akhila, V.A. Ansi, N.K. Renuka, An elegant and handy selective sensor for ppt level determination of mercury ions, RSC Adv. 6 (2016) 109506–109513
- G.Eda, Y.Y. Lin, C. Mattevi, H.Yamaguchi, H. A. Chen, I.S.Chen, C.W. Chen, M. Chhowalla, M. Blue Photoluminescence from Chemically Derived Graphene Oxide. Adv.Mater.,22 (2010) 505–509.
- Z. Luo, Y. Lu, L.A. Somers, A.T.C. Johnson, High Yield Preparation of Macroscopic Graphene Oxide Membranes,J. Am. Chem. Soc.,131 (2009) 898
- 12. P. Yu, X. Wen, Y.-R. Toh, J. Tang, J. Phys. Chem. C., Temperature-Dependent Fluorescence in Carbon Dots, 116 (2012) 25552.
- B. Gayen, S. Palchoudhury, J. Chowdhury, Carbon Dots: A Mystic Star in the World of Nanoscience, J. Nanomater., 2019 (2019) https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3451307
- 14. .N. Baker, G.A. Baker, Luminescent carbon nanodots: emergent nanolights, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 49 (2010) 6726-6744
- Y.-P. Sun, B. Zhou, Y. Lin, W. Wang, K. A. S. Fernando, P. Pathak, M. J. Meziani, B. A. Harruff, X. Wang, H. Wang, P. G. Luo, H. Yang, M. E. Kose, B. Chen, L. M. Veca, S.-Y. Xie, Quantum-sized carbon dots for bright and colorful photoluminescence, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 128 (2006) 7756– 7757.
- Q.L. Zhao, Z.L. Zhang, B.H. Huang, J. Peng, M. Zhang, D.W. Pang, Facile preparation of low cytotoxicity fluorescent carbon nano crystals by electro oxidation of graphite, Chem. Commun., 41 (2008) 5116–5118

# **Chapter 4**

# TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOT-GUM ARABIC HYBRID AS FLUORESCENT MARKER

4.1	Introduction
4.2	Fluorescent carbon dot as colorant/ pigment in luminescent marker
4.3	Introduction of a novel natural binder/carrier, GUM accacia (Gum
	arabic) for luminescent marker
4.4	Synthesis of Anti-forgery/Anti-counterfeiting Agents from Carbon
	Dot-Gum Arabic Combination - Photo-luminescent INK and GEL
4.5	Practical application of the prepared luminescent markers
4.6	Summary and Highlights
4.7	References



This chapter discusses the fabrication of a stable fluorescent marker for patterning and coating applications by mixing bright cyan emitting TSCDs with naturally available accacia gum (Gum Arabic). Fluorescent markers with two different consistencies, ink and gel, are prepared by altering the concentration of gum arabic, the binding agent. Utilization of accacia gum as a binding agent for making fluorescent markers is a novel attempt. Practical applicability of the markers is also confirmed using substrates of extremely different textures.

#### 4.1 Introduction

Drastic growth of technology has the way for the intensification of cyber crimes and counterfeiting, challenging national economies, deteriorating financial organizations and jeopardizings public life. Despite the developed sophisticated security taglines/tools, such forgery/ counterfeiting crimes are growing like anything in the recent time [1].Fraudulent usage of authorized documents/ files/ products, which are forged /counterfeited, will definitely become a great threat to the government affairs as well as the well-being of individual's life. Among the valuable assets, currencies/ bank notes were found to be most vulnerable towards forgery/counterfeiting. There are numerous reports on media about the printing and circulation of such counterfeited currencies by various illegal firms, capable of destroying the economical balance of one nation .Other than bank notes/currency, various valuable assets including immigration documents, credit cards, identity cards, digital files, data encryption by military forces/defence service and commodities owned by branded/authorized companies were also found to be duplicated /forged frequently by criminals. As evident from the statistics (Figure 4.2), Asia is much frequently haunted by such forgery/counterfeiting crimes compared to the other continents so far As evident from the statistics (Figure 4.2), Asia is much frequently haunted by such forgery/counterfeiting crimes compared to the other continents so far. On this ground, wide usage of sophisticated reference tools and comprehensive database such as EdisonTD, DISCS enclosing images of genuine documents were also issued by the concerned authority for ensuring the security of such valuable assets [2]. This current scientific scenario urgently needs the

development of some promising security tags/markers for preventing such counterfeiting actions [1-3].



Figure 4.1: Examples of various issues regarding the forgery/duplication attempts and global rise in the number of counterfeiting/forgery of various documents/assets.



Figure 4.2: Statistics showing the extent of forgery crimes all over the world.

#### Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic Hybrid as Fluorescent Marker

Numerous efforts were there in literature, projecting the development of various markers/labels as potent anti-forgery tools [4-13]. Among practised security the conventionally markers. luminescent paints/inks/coatings have grabbed significant amount of attention, owing to the excellent practicability towards wide range of material products/documents/data. Any fluorescent possessing commendable adherence over wide range of surfaces can be tuned as an efficient labelling agent for assuring the security of valuable materials form counterfeiting/duplicating actions. Fluorescent inks/paints are having immense applications as anti-forgery agents, the general composition of which involves а colouring agent (pigment/dye) and vehicle/carrier (binder). The medium of dispersion (binder) has to be highly viscous enough to impart sticky nature to the luminescent marker for facilitating better adherence over a range of surfaces. Conventionally, chemicals such as Xylene, Methyl benzoate, Toluene and some polymeric materials like Poly Vinyl Alcohol and Poly Vinyl Chloride were used as binding agents for fluorescent markers. Gold and aqueous solution of Sodium Hexa Meta Phosphate was frequently selected as dispersion medium for the fabrication of such markers [4,9,10]. Though, the aforesaid materials could offer better applicability for a wide range of substrates, most often they were met with issues including (i) increased expense associated with fabrication process (ii) lack of stickiness/stability of the marker (iii) higher volatility and decreased viscosity of the used solvent medium (iv) poor adhesive power over various surfaces and (v) decreased resistance towards external stimuli like acids, alkali and oil. As

printability of these markers over any substrate is considered as an essential criterion for its acceptability/commercialization, poor adherence capacity and decreased stability are the major challenges in developing such anti-forgery labels/tools. It is also highly desirable to achieve such efficient fluorescent markers via an economic as well as facile synthesis process.

Herein, the bright fluorescence feature of TS-CDs is well exploited for making promising fluorescent markers. Admirable photo-stability exhibited by TS-CDs tunes them as excellent colouring agent/ pigment in inks/paints. We have synthesised two types of highly fluorescent markers with entirely different consistencies; namely photoluminescent ink (PL-Ink) with semi fluid nature and gel like fluorescent marker photo-luminescent gel (PL-Gel). These fluorescent markers were obtained by altering the composition of the binding agent, i.e., gum arabic (gum accacia), which is extracted from the exterior of tree accacia. Excellent adhesive power as well as commendable viscous nature of gum arabic/ gum accacia offers better adaptability as a binding component for making ink/gel. Though Gum accacia is widely used for several applications in industrial fields, its utilization as a binding component in fluorescent marker was never reported before. Practical utility of the prepared system is examined by coating the fluorescent sample over various substrates including fabrics, plastic and glass plate.

# 4.2 Fluorescent carbon dot as colorant/pigment in luminescent marker

Electronic era extensively depends on carbon based printing materials (inks/gels) for obtaining better printing and reading experiences [14-17].For making anti-counterfeiting/ anti-forgery tools one should ensure the excellent fluorescence feature of the pigment/colorant used, which exhibits strong resistance towards various external factors, thereby offering improved security for the authorized documents under a prescribed illumination wavelength. As mentioned in the previous chapters, the fluorescence feature of carbon nano dots were abundantly exploited for the sensing/tracing of significant analytes, based on notable alterations in their fluorescence intensity upon the introduction of various external agents [18-20]. As carbon dots offer commendable luminescence feature, they can definitely serve as colouring agents/pigments in markers. Moreover, compared to the conventional colouring agents, majority of carbon dots can be achieved from environmental friendly materials/ cheap precursors via easy synthesis procedures. Hence, intense fluorescence emission, improved water dispersibility as well as significant photo stability of these fluorescent carbon particles tune them as a potent candidate for pigmenting agents in marker. Except a few, the fluorescence emission feature of these materials were rarely utilized for the fabrication of such markers/labelling agents [21,22].

# 4.3 Introduction of a novel natural binder/carrier, GUM accacia (Gum arabic) for luminescent marker

Gum Arabic /Gum Accacia is the edible natural gummy exudates harvested from the exterior (bark and stem) of accacia tree as dry, hard nodules, ranging from almost colorless to brown. During 1982, JECFA categorized Gum Arabic as 'ADI not specified' [23]. But, as a consequence of subsequent research, its specifications have been revised on several occasions [24,25]. Chemically, Gum arabic can be described as branched chain complex polysaccharide, the backbone of which is made of 1,3-linked  $\beta$  - D- galactopyranosyl units. Main chain is linked to two to five 1,3- linked b- D- galactopyranosyl units through 1,6-linkages. Gum arabic is characterized by high water dispersibility, better emulsifying actions and more over, they exhibit relatively very low viscosity, even at comparably higher concentration ratios. Gum arabic is widely used as emulsifier, stabilizer, thickening agent etc.. It also finds role in food and beverages industry for making soft drinks, marshmallows and gummy candies, as well as in handicrafts/pottery, cosmetics. textiles. lithography and pharmaceuticals [26]. Data related to folk medicines reveal the fact that they have got excellent medicinal properties (anti-oxidant), including treatment of intestinal inflammations, some chronic renal diseases, wound healing and drug carrier.



Figure 4.3: Images of (i) Accacia tree (enlarged image of Accacia gum nodules at the exterior bark of tree in inset), (ii) Hard nodules of sticky Gum Arabic and (iii) dried powder of Gum Arabic.

Owing to the enhanced stabilizing as well as suspending ability of Gum arabic, it can play a significant role in industrial manufacturing of emulsions and beverages. Gum arabic is widely utilized for encapsulation of essential oils, plant essences, vitamins and aromatic compositions. As they were characterized by very low calorie as well as higher fibre percentage, Gum arabic acts is the first choice for the production of diet products, functional beverages and other drinks with nutritional claims. Gum arabic provides excellent flavour retention, homogenous texture, shelf life, pleasant mouthfeel and homogenous texture in oil-water/ water-oil suspensions by coating fat/oil droplets. As Gum arabic can serves as an excellent binder and low calorie fiber, it can replace bulk sugar while combining with other sweetening agents. It is also widely utilized for making dietetic and diabetic products like sugarless candies and other confectionery. They can be chosen as an ideal solution for reduced-fat creams and milky desserts,

Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic Hybrid as Fluorescent Marker

as GA replaces fat content by preserving the creamy nature of products.

Features of Gum arabic including emulsification, binding, demulcent action, encapsulation, stabilization, suspending property and film forming ability are well exploited in pharmaceutical industry. Gum arabic widely finds application in medicated cough-drops/syrups, owing to the enhanced stabilization and suspending action along with the ability to keep away from sugar crystallization and thereby ensuring better texture. Moreover, the commendable adhesive feature of GA tunes them as a promising agent for manufacturing compressed tablets pill coatings. Increased viscous nature, film forming ability, binding action, stabilizing power and emulsification nature tunes Gum arabic as a common ingredient for preparing cosmetic materials such as body care lotions, creams and mascaras. Gum arabic can also serves as a protective colloid in cake cosmetics.

## Various other Industrial applications of Gum arabic

- Glaze thickener In ceramics and Porcelain manufacturing
- Binder and adhesive agent in fire-works and explosive manufacturing.
- Suspending action is well utilized in pesticides and insecticide synthesis.
- Transparent adhesive films in stamps and cigarette packets by utilizing its enhanced adhesive nature.

- Natural ingredient in shoe polishing agents along with other commonly used synthetic materials.
- In historically significant Gum bichromate photography, where Gum arabic mixed with ammonium/ potassium dichromate and a pigment/coloring agent form a coloured photographic suspension, comparatively insoluble in water under UV irradiation. Fine quality print is achieved, as Gum arabic exerts commendable binding action towards the paper, thereby permanently fixing the colorant to the print
- Serves as an important component in special purpose inks manufacturing. Suspending and binding features of Gum arabic were well exploited for making specially designed dry inks. Gum arabic also finds its applicability in the production of various water colours, pastels and quick water paints.
- Widely utilized as an efficient sensitizer for lithographic plates.
  It acts as the light sensitive element as well as the major ingredient of the fountain solution.

# 4.4 Synthesis of Anti-forgery/Anti-counterfeiting Agents from Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic Combination - Photo-luminescent INK and GEL

As-synthesised cyan emitting carbon dot solution was chosen as the colouring agent/pigment and the finely grounded Gum arabic powder was utilized as the corresponding binding material for making photoluminescent markers with different consistencies, fluorescent ink and Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic Hybrid as Fluorescent Marker

fluorescent gel. Consistency of these two systems was tuned by altering the quantity of binding agent, Gum arabic.

## (a) Fabrication of Photo-luminescent ink

For making photo-luminescent ink, 1 mL of carbon dot solution was mixed with 10 mg of finely grinded gum arabic powder, which thereby results in the formation of a semi-fluid suspension with bright cyan fluorescence under UV light irradiation.

## (b) Fabrication of Photo-luminescent gel

For making photo-luminescent gel, 1 mL of carbon dot solution was mixed with 20 mg of finely ground gum arabic powder, which results in the formation of cyan emitting photo-luminescent gel with very thick consistency.



Figure 4.4: Schematic representation of synthesis of photo-luminescent Ink (PL-INK) and photo-luminescent Gel (PL-GEL).

### 4.5 Practical Application of the Prepared Luminescent Markers

# Security marker - Patterning and labelling over various substrate surfaces

Practical applicability of the fluorescent markers was investigated by filling the PL-Ink in the empty cartilage of commercially available gel pen and by coating PL-Gel at various substrate surfaces. As Figure 4.5 (a) displays, the prepared bright cyan emitting fluorescent ink with semi fluid consistency could be successfully filled inside the cartilage of a gel pen. The strong luminescence is visible, when placed under UV chamber with excitation at 364 nm (Figure 4.5 b). This photoluminescent ink was used for writing and drawing on a commercially available non-luminescent paper. The letters and the symbol drawn was found to be invisible under day light and highly fluorescent upon UV irradiation (Figure 4.5 c and d). As evident from Figure 4.6, the prepared fluorescent gel was successfully utilized for coating over various substrates including cotton thread (b), glass plate (c), plastic sheet (d) and paper (e). All the substrate surfaces coated with the fluorescent gel was found to be highly luminescent when placed inside UV chamber with desired wavelength. All these observations suggest the promising future of prepared luminescent markers for patterning and coating purposes.

Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic Hybrid as Fluorescent Marker



Figure 4.5: Digital image of photo-luminescent ink (a), pen cartilage filled with photo-luminescent ink (b),letters (c) and symbol (d) drawn using the pen on non-luminescent paper under UV light irradiation (image of corresponding paper under visible light in the inset).



Figure 4.6: Digital image of Photo-luminescent Gel inside the vessel (a), photo-luminescent Gel coated over different substrates under UV light - Cotton thread (b), glass plate (c), plastic sheet (d) and hologram sticker imprinted on paper (e).

## 4.6. Summary and Highlights

Fluorescent markers with two different consistency, fluorescent ink and fluorescent gel were prepared using TS-CDs as colouring agent and naturally available Gum arabic as the binding component. Two different concentrations of this natural binder (Gum arabic/ Gum accacia) are mixed with fixed

Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic Hybrid as Fluorescent Marker

amounts of fluorescent carbon dots. Mixing of 10 and 20 mg of gum accacia with 1 mL of carbon dot solution yielded PL-Ink and PL-Gel respectively. Prepared PL-Ink was filled inside the cartilage of gel pen and successfully employed for writing and patterning purposes, invisible under day light and extremely fluorescent upon UV light irradiation with fixed excitation wavelength. Both the prepared fluorescent markers finds excellent adherence over variety of substrates including cotton thread, plastic sheet and glass plates. It also exhibits excellent printability on non-fluorescent paper imprinted with hologram sticker.



 Gum arabic is introduced for the first time as an efficient binder for making fluorescent marker.

> Suggestion of gum arabic as a green and cheap alternative for commercially used toxic, expensive binding agents for the fabrication of markers/ paints.

✓ All the gel coated substrates exhibit excellent stable fluorescence under UV chamber of fixed excitation wavelength (360 nm).

#### 4.7 References

- 1. OECD, The Economic Impact of Counterfeiting and Piracy, OECD, Publishing, Paris, Paris, 2008.
- 2. D.Ombelli,F.Knopjes, Documents: The developer's toolkit, 978-92-9068-407-7(2008) 978-972-8966-44-7, http://toolkit.blogs.sapo.pt
- 3. E.L. Prime, D.H. Solomon, Australia's plastic banknotes: fighting counterfeit currency, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 49 (2010) 3726-3736.
- B.K. Gupta, D. Haranath, S. Saini, V.N. Singh, V. Shanker, Synthesis and characterization of ultra-fine Y2o3:Eu<sup>3+</sup> nanophosphors for luminescent security ink applications, Nanotechnology., 21 (2010) 055607.
- 5. T. Blumenthal, J. Meruga, P. May, S.J. Kellar, W. Cross, K. Ankireddy, S. Vunnam, Q.N. Luu, Patterned direct-write and screenprinting of NIR-to-visible upconverting inks for security applications, Nanotechnology., 23 (2012) 185305
- C.C. Cuerva, M. Zieba, V. Sebastian, G. Martínez, J. Sese, S. Irusta, V. Contamina, M. Arruebo, J. Santamaria, Screen-printed nanoparticles as anti-counterfeiting tags, Nanotechnology., 27 (2016) 095702.
- M. You, J. Zhong, Y. Hong, Z. Duan, M. Lin, F. Xu, Inkjet printing of upconversion nanoparticles for anti-counterfeit applications, Nanoscale., 7 (2015) 4423-4431.
- 8. L.L. da Luz, R. Milani, J.F. Felix, I.R.B. Ribeiro, M. Talhavini, B.A.D. Neto, J. Chojnacki, M.O. Rodrigues, S.A. Júnior, Inkjet printing of lanthanide-organic frameworks for anti-counterfeiting applications, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces.,7(2015) 27115.
- 9. M. You, J. Zhong, Y. Hong, Z. Duan, M. Lin, F. Xu, Inkjet printing of upconversion nanoparticles for anti-counterfeit applications, Nanoscale., 7 (2015) 4423.
- 10. P. Kumar, J. Dwivedi, B.K. Gupta, Highly luminescent dual mode rare-earth nanorod assisted multi-stage excitable security ink for anti-counterfeiting applications, J. Mater. Chem. C., 2 (2014) 10468

Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic Hybrid as Fluorescent Marker

- J.M. Meruga, A. Baride, W. Cross, J.J. Kellar, P.S. May, Red-greenblue printing using luminescence-upconversion inks, J. Mater. Chem. C Mater. Opt. Electron.Devices., 2 (2014) 2221.
- 12. Y. Liu, K. Ai, L. Lu, Designing lanthanide-doped nanocrystals with both up- and down-conversion luminescence for anti-counterfeiting, Nanoscale., 3 (2011) 4804.
- M. Saraf, P. Kumar, G. Kedawat, J. Dwivedi, S.A. Vithayathil, N. Jaiswal, B.A. Kaipparettu, B.K. Gupta, Probing highly luminescent europium-doped lanthanum orthophosphate nano rods for strategic applications, Inorg. Chem., 54 (2015) 2616.
- 14. G.Hu, J. Kang, L.W. Ng, X. Zhu, R.C. Howe, C.G. Jones, M.C. Hersham, T. Hasan, Functional inks and printing of two-dimensional materials. Chem. Soc. Rev., 47 (2018) 3265–3300.
- 15. W.Yang, C. Wang, Graphene and the related conductive inks for flexible electronics. J. Mater. Chem. C., 4 (**2016**) 7193–7207.
- A.Koutsioukis, V. Georgakilas, V. Belessi, R. Zboril, Highly Conductive Water-Based Polymer/Graphene Nanocomposites for Printed Electronics. Chemistry 23 (2017) 8268–8274.
- P.G. Karagiannidis, S.A. Hodge, L. Lombardi, F. Tomarchio, N. Decorde, S. Milana, R.K. Leary, P.A. Midgley, N.M. Pugno, F. Torrisi, A.C. Ferrari, Microfluidization of graphite and formulation of graphene-based conductive inks. ACS Nano., 11 (2017) 2742–2755.
- 18. Y.Wang , A. Hu Carbon quantum dots: synthesis, properties and applications, J. Mater. Chem. C., 2 (2014) 6921–6939
- M. L Liu, B. B Chen, C. M Li, C.Z Huang, Carbon dots: synthesis, formation mechanism, fluorescence origin and sensing applications, Green Chem., 21 (2019) 449–471
- 20. D. Xu, Q. Lin, H.T Chang, Recent Advances and Sensing Applications of Carbon Dots, Small Methods (2019) 1900387
- 21. Liu, Y.; Zhou, L.; Li, Y.; Deng, R.; Zhang, H. Highly fluorescent nitrogen-doped carbon dots with excellent thermal and photo stability applied as invisible ink for loading important information and anti-counterfeiting. Nanoscale., 9 (2017) 491–496.

Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot-Gum Arabic Hybrid as Fluorescent Marker

- 22. S.K. Md Palashuddin, A. Chattopadhyay, Induction coil heater prepared highly fluorescent carbon dots as invisible ink and explosive sensor. RSC Adv., 4 (**2014**) 31994–31999
- 23. FAO (Rome), Specifications for identity and purity. Food and Nutrition Paper, No. 25, (1982) 93–95
- 24. FAO (Rome), Specifications for identity and purity. Food and Nutrition Paper, No. 49 (1990) 23–25,
- FAO (Rome), Gum Arabic. Food and Nutrition Paper, No. 52, addendum 7. Fincher, G.B., Stone, B.A., Clarke, A.E., 34 (1983)..
  Annu. *Rev. Plant Physiol.* 34 (1999) 47–70
- 26. S.Pattel, A.Goyal, Applications of Natural Polymer Gum Arabic: A Review, Int. J. Food Prop., 18 (2015) 986-998

# **Chapter 5**

# TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOTS FOR SENSING APPLICATIONS

5.1	Introduction	
5.2	Sensors	
5.3	References	
PART A- Carbon Dot Based Naked Eye Sensor		
Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot - A Naked Eye Sensor for Toxic Pb <sup>2+</sup> Ions		
5.4	Introduction and Relevance of Pb <sup>2+</sup> Sensing	
5.4.1	Results and Discussion	
5.4.2	Summary and Highlights	
5.5	References	
PART B- Carbon Dot Based Optical Sensors		
TS-CD-Rhodamine dye array for FRET based sensing of Hg <sup>2+</sup> ion		
5.6	Introduction and Relevance of Hg <sup>2+</sup> Sensing	
5.6.1	Results and Discussion	
5.6.2	Summary and Highlights	
Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot- Sensor for Nitro Aromatic Compounds		
5.7	Introduction and Relevance of Nitro Aromatic Compound Sensing	
5.7.1	Results and Discussion	
5.7.2	Computational Investigation on Structure – Activity Relationship in	
	NACs Sensing	
5.7.3	Analysis of Computational Results	
5.7.4	Summary and Highlights	
5.8	References	

♣ This chapter discusses the utilization of TSCDs for monitoring the presence of trace amounts of various significant analytes. TSCDs enabled naked eye monitoring of extremely lethal metal ion, Pb<sup>2+</sup> with excellent selectivity and sensitivity. Quantification of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions was achieved by simple turbidimeter and was found to be in the range of parts per billion. TSCD - Rhodamine dye hybrid constituted an excellent FRET unit, which enabled the selective monitoring of toxic metal ion, Hg<sup>2+</sup> in picomolar concentration range. Apart from these, carbon dots could trace the presence of a set of nitro aromatic compounds having nitrobenzene parental frame work, with very low detection limit.

#### 5.1 Introduction

Fascinating features of carbon dots tune the system as a potent candidate in many fields, which in turn resulted in a great leap in the number of publications related to the preparation and applications of carbon dots. As evident from the graphical representation, there was a tremendous hike in the number of published works from 2008 to 2019. Most of the works dealt with the applications of carbon dots in optics, catalytic and electro-chemical fields. It is noted that the utilization of fluorescence feature of carbon dots for monitoring of various significant stimuli, Vis; optical sensing, has grabbed much attention, which is growing rapidly for the last ten years. As depicted in Figure 5.1, around 89.9% of the research works is devoted to the sensing application of carbon dots. 3.54% discussed imaging, 2.02 % provided catalytic studies, and 1.52% dealt with light-energy conversion devices. The remaining 3.03%, presents various important reviews and investigations about significant features of CDs. More precisely, fabrication of sensing units utilizing the change in fluorescence intensity with the introduction of external analyte is grabbing more attention. Studies reveal that, owing to the ease of preparation, credibility and reliability for real sample analysis, optical sensors possess prevailing positions (Figure 5.1 c). Design of promising optical sensing units is still of increasing interest, which is reflected in the constant growth in the number of published works in this direction [1-6]. These sensors find their application in various fields such as environmental protection, bio-medical diagnosis, therapeutic purposes etc. Various analytes comprising significant ions (anions and cations),

organic molecules, bio-molecules, proteins etc., are also monitored with admirable selectivity and sensitivity, using these particles.



Figure 5.1 : Statistical profile of publications related to carbon dots; (a) sudden increase in the number of publications for the last ten years, (b) statistical estimate of publications related to various applications of carbon dots and (c) statistical evaluation of publications related to various sensing applications of carbon dots

**5.2 Sensors:** In general, any portable miniaturized entity, which is able to provide real-time as well as on-line information in presence of specific external agent/stimuli can be termed as a chemical sensor [7]. Depending upon the types of transducers, sensing devices can be classified into (i) Electro-chemical sensor (ii) Optical sensor and (iii) mass/heat/pH sensor [8]. Physical sensors are basically found to be sensitive towards physical parameters such as pressure, force,

#### Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for Sensing Applications

temperature, magnetic field etc, and they strictly lack a distinct chemical interface. Another important category of sensing devices is biosensors. Generally, bio-sensors utilize bio-molecules/ biologically active structures to monitor something with bioactivity / biological significance, more precisely they target bio-molecules including proteins, living tissues, vitamins etc. Chemical sensors basically respond to specific external agents by means of a chemical reaction and thereby provide quantitative and qualitative measurement of corresponding analyte.

Among the chemical sensors, optical sensors are getting tremendous attention. Fabrication of such sensing tools by exploiting the significant optical features, more precisely fluorescence property, is growing like anything [1,2,6]. Unlike the conventionally adopted analytical methods employed for tracing the presence of external agent, fluorescence based sensors possess excellent sensitivity and selectivity. Fluorimetric sensors are also characterized with facile operation, admirable response time and ease of tunability of the sensing action by adequate modifications of receptor-target interaction. All the aforementioned conventional analytical techniques are highly expensive and most of them fail to achieve continuous monitoring of analytes. Thus, owing to the excellent features and response ability, fluorimetric sensors grab the supreme position among the research community. Generally, these sensing tools measure the variation in photo-physical properties of the molecule when interacting with an analyte like metal ions, organic molecules, bio-molecules etc., through a fluorescent signal. Upon interaction with particular analyte of interest, their output signals are generally displayed as noticeable alterations in its luminescence intensity/ emission wavelength shifts/ fluorescence decay lifeime.



Figure 5.2 : Schematic depiction of basic principle of fluorescence based sensing of external analytes

The fluorescence intensity of sensing unit was most probably noticed to be decreased / quenched with the addition of foreign molecule, which is able to exert adequate chemical interactions with the fluorescent system and in-turn disturb its luminescent centres. Majority of the reports present the fabrication and applications of such 'on-off' sensing probes for monitoring analytes based on quenched fluorescence as output signal. Few fluorescent sensors trace the presence of analyte molecules via enhancement of their inherent fluorescence intensity due to the interaction of latter. "On-off-on" strategy in luminescence response is also exhibited by same system, i.e., the output signal involves the regaining of quenched fluorescence of fluorophore-analyte unit with the addition of another specific

#### Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for Sensing Applications

external entity with selectivity and sensitivity. Development of fluorescent sensors based on the aforementioned sensing strategies is flourishing like anything and majority of the research works are exclusively devoted for the fabrication of sensors with commendable detection limit and practical utility. An ideal sensor has to be extremely selective towards a particular analyte in presence of mixture of analytes of comparable origin or structures. Besides, it should be able to quantify the target entity even at trace amounts. It is also highly desirable that the sensor should exhibit useful dynamic range, so that it can function successfully in a wide range of concentrations.



#### Figure 5.3 : Different types of analytes monitored by fluorescent sensors.

Design of an efficient sensor for monitoring the presence of significant heavy metals are considered to be a challenging task, while considering the concentration limits, which is too low, as prescribed by different standards/ authorized guidelines concerning the toxicity. Numerous analytical tools fulfilling this criterion, including flame/graphite furnace assisted AAS analysis, photometry, inductively coupled plasma emission/ mass (ICPES/ICPMS) spectral studies,

#### Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for Sensing Applications

anodic stripping Voltammetry and X-ray fluorimetric analysis are in practice extensively. But it was found that, among these methods, most of them fail when it comes in to the matter of routine analysis. In addition, majority of them are highly expensive and time-consuming, and may frequently meet with errors while considering the basic assortment/transportation and pre-treatment of samples. Hence, despite the commendable detection limit and broad linear ranges, the aforementioned demerits strongly suggest the necessity of a portable, reliable, less expensive robust sensing tool for tracing the presence of such heavy metal ions. Hence, ideal sensing tools offering commendable selective and sensitive nature, fast response time, excellent stability as well as facile, economic and safe fabrication methodologies are highly demanded. Though, extensive research works have been in progress, in this line, poor selectivity as well as inefficient reversibility are met with many cases. Recently, scientists have exploited the advantage of chemo-metric sensing tools, combinatorial methods such as artificial neuronal networks/ regression models etc., which in-turn offer selectivity from a response signal of unselective sensors. Unfortunately, practical utility of most of the techniques were found to be non-reliable, which frequently met with some error judgement. Few of them were highly expensive also. Thus, owing to facile and economic synthesis procedure, fluorimetric sensors serve as the most versatile candidates for identification as well as quantification of heavy metal ions.

Fluorescence of CDs are extensively utilized for qualitative as well as quantitative identification of numerous metal ions via distinct
interactions like coordination/hydrogen bond formation with their surface functionalities (carboxyl, hydroxyl, amino etc,) [1,2,4]. Synthesis and working of such CDs basedfluorescent sensors were discussed in detail in section 1.4.5 (chapter 1).

### (a) Possible interactions between CDs and analyte molecules:

- (i) Static quenching: If the fluorescent CDs interact with a quencher and forms non-fluorescent ground state intermediate, the quenching mechanism can be termed as by means of static interactions. Thus the formed complex returns immediately to the ground level by a radiation less transfer upon light absorption [9]. Certain criteria should be met with for static quenching interactions to exist between the fluorophore and external agent. (a) The relative lifeime ratio should be unity  $(\tau_0/\tau = 1)$ , (b) ground state complex formation should result considerable alterations in the absorbance spectrum of CDs and (c) temperature increment has profound effect on the stability of thus formed ground state complex, rise in temperature may sometimes retards the effect of static interactions [10-12]
- (ii) Dynamic quenching: If the excited fluorophore returns to the ground energy state by means of collision with analyte (quencher molecule) on account of energy/charge transfer interactions, the quenching mechanism can be termed as dynamic quenching. The entire mechanism can be represented as follows:

 $A^{*}+Q \longrightarrow A^{+}Q$ 

; A-CDs, Q- Quencher and \* denotes excited state

Kinetics of dynamic quenching interactions is usually described by stern-Volmer equation,

$$F_0/F = 1 + k_q \tau_0 [Q]$$

;  $F_0$  and F denote fluorescence intensities of CDs in the absence and presence of quencher,  $k_q$ : Quencher rate co-efficient, $\tau_0$ : lifetime of the excited state of fluorescent CDs in the absence of quencherand [Q] : Concentration of the quencher.

In contrast to the static quenching process, dynamic quenching only influences the excited levels of fluorescent CDs, hence it never leads to any changes to the UV-visible absorbance spectrum. Lifeime of the CDs would be changed during this quenching process. Different from static process, the temperature increment in dynamic quenching interactions would enhance the quenching effect [10-12].

(iii) Photo-induced Electron Transfer (PET) Mechanism: If the interactions between CDs and a quencher involve electron transfer, in which they act as donor and receptor entities according to the reaction parameters, give rise to the formation of cation and anion radicals. This photo-induced electron transfer may result in the formation of complex between the interacting donor-acceptor moieties (CDs-Quencher unit), which can return to the ground state through a radiation less

transition [12]. PET can be a reductive PET or an oxidative PET, in which CDs acts as electron donor and acceptor respectively. In reductive PET, electron transfers from donor (analyte) molecule to CDs (acceptor), whereas oxidative PET involves shifting of electron from CDs (donor) to the acceptor analyte molecule. It was established that, the energy gap between Lowest Un-occupied Molecular Orbitals (LUMO) of quencher and Highest Occupied Molecular Orbitals (HOMO) of CDs are acting as the driving force for the occurrence of reductive PET, whereas the oxidative PET is decided by the energy gap between LUMO's of CDs and quencher (both donor and acceptor. For PET interactions, the lifetime of CDs were found to be decreased with the process. If there exists considerable energy gap between HOMO-LUMO / LUMO-LUMO of interacting molecules (CDs and quencher), the fluorescence interaction will be definitely based on PET mechanism.

(iv) Inner Filter Effect (IFE): inner filter effect or apparent quenching will occur in a fluorophore-quencher unit, when there is considerable overlapping between the absorbance curve of quencher and excitation/emission curve of fluorophore (CDs). Hence, the emission intensity of CDs can be modulated by the absorber (quencher), and the absorbance of the quencher molecule was found to be sensitive and selective to the concentration of analyte in the unit. One of the essential criteria for IFE within a sensing unit is that the fluorescence emission

by the fluorophore system (CDs) has to be perfectly independent of the concentration and all the other properties of analyte of interest [12]. This phenomenon is not at all associated with a perfect quenching process. But to a certain extent, this can be due to attenuation of excitation source or absorption of emitted rays by the CDs or quencher molecule present in the system in excess amount. Though, IFE results reduction in the intensity of fluorophore unit (CDs) with the introduction of quencher, this cannot be termed as quenching as there was no considerable reduction in the fluorescence decay time. Rather than a quenching interaction, IFE simply involves the action of a second absorber molecule, that filters off the emission of CDs. IFE is not a distance dependant interaction. This will happen even if the distance between emitter and the re-absorber exceeds the prescribed distance, 10 nm. IFE is not associated with the formation of any new material during the interaction. As IFE doesn't follows static or dynamic quenching criteria, absorbance curve of fluorophore (CDs) would not get altered during the process. It will not result any considerable change in the fluorescence lifetime of CDs. It was found that, different from the other quenching mechanisms in fluorescent sensing, IFE never demands any kind of electron/energy transfer between the sensing unit and also does not require any chemical modifications of CDs. IFE always results facile and easier operating sensing mechanism. A correction factor should be incorporated for validating the IFE

mechanistic interactions within the system. This deviation of IFE can be calculated with the help of following equation,

$$\frac{|_{corr}}{|_{abs}} = 10 (A_{ex}x1 + A_{em}y1)$$

: $A_{ex}$  and  $A_{em}$  denotes the absorbance values (per cm) at excitation and emission wavelengths respectively, whereas x1 and y1 are the optical path length of excitation and emission respectively

#### (v) Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) :

Resonance Energy Transfer (RET) generally involves non-radiative energy transfer between donor-acceptor pair, when they are in contact within 10 nm distance. This interaction is a kind of dipole-dipole interaction, and this can be classifieds into three (i) Chemiluminescence Resonance Energy Transfer (CRET) (ii) Bioluminescence Resonance Energy Transfer (BRET) and (iii) Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET), if the donor entities interacting with the fluorophore are chemi-luminescent, bioluminescent and fluorescent in nature respectively [12,13].FRET is found to be highly sensitive and the efficiency was inversely related to the sixth power of distance of separation between the donor and acceptor. FRET occurs when the absorbance curve of acceptor is perfectly overlapped with emission curve of fluorophore (donor). FRET efficiency for a particular donor-acceptor pair can be calculated using the following equation

$$E = \frac{R_0^6}{R_0^6 + r^6}$$

;  $R_{0}$ - forster distance between CDs and quencher, r-distance between the acceptor and donor.

In FRET units, this interaction between two fluorescent components situated within a distance below 10 nm with overlapped absorbance and emission spectral curves results in transfer of energy from the donor molecule of higher energy to the acceptor fluorescent system with lower energy, which further leads to the enhancement of luminescence intensity of the acceptor by sacrificing that of donor fluorophore system. In other words, this FRET interaction leads to quenching of donor's fluorescence along with enhanced luminescence of acceptor molecule. Addition of external agent, analyte, capable enough to disturb the orientation of FRET pair, will definitely result in regaining of emission intensity of CDs by competitive displacement of quencher with the particular analyte (target), thereby offering selective or sensitive monitoring of analyte molecules.

Conventionally used organic dyes and luminescent proteins may sometimes fade the efficiency of the FRET pair in terms of their photostability, absorption and emission characteristics etc,. Owing to their appreciable photo-stability, high values of molar extinction coefficients, commendable quantum yield, symmetric narrow emission signals comprising UV to infra red region, water dispersibility, extended fluorescence lifeime and broad absorbance curve, CDs can serve as excellent alternative for the aforesaid molecules for bringing perfect FRET interactions. The enhanced emission rate results in 20 times brighter fluorescence emission for CDs when compared to organic dye molecules. Besides, appreciably high fluorescence lifeime of CDs tunes them as efficient FRET donors than the aforesaid conventional candidates.

#### 5.3 References

- D. Xu, Q. Lin, H.T Chang, Recent Advances and Sensing Applications of Carbon Dots, Small Methods (2019) 1900387 https://doi.org/10.1002/smtd.201900387
- 2. M. L Liu, B. B Chen, C. M Li, C.Z Huang, Carbon dots: synthesis, formation mechanism, fluorescence origin and sensing applications, Green Chem.,21 (2019) 449–471
- S. Zhu, Q. Meng, L. Wang, J. Zhang, Y. Song, H. Jin,K. Zhang, H. Sun, H. Wang, B. Yang, Highly Photoluminescent Carbon Dots for Multicolor Patterning, Sensors, and Bioimaging, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 52 (2013) 3953–3957
- 4. H.Li, Z.Kang, Y.Liu, S.T.Lee, Carbon Nanodots: Synthesis, Properties and Applications, J. Mater. Chem.,22 (2012)24230-24253
- B. Gayen,S. Palchoudhury, J. Chowdhury, Carbon Dots: A Mystic Star in the World of Nanoscience, J. Nanomater., 2019 (2019) https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3451307
- D.Yoo, Y. Park, B. Cheon, M.H. Park, Carbon Dots as an Effective Fluorescent Sensing Platform for Metal Ion Detection, Nanoscale Res. Lett., 14 (2019) 272 https://doi.org/10.1186/s11671-019-3088-6
- 7. Y. Vlasov, A. V. Legin, A. Rudnitskaya, Cross-sensitivity evaluation of chemical sensors for electronic tongue: determination of heavy metal ions, Sens. Actuators, B., 44, (1997) 532.
- A. L. Kukla N. F. Starodub, N. K. Kanjuk, Y. M Shirshov, Multienzyme electrochemical sensor array for determination of heavy metal ions, Sens. Actuators, B., 57 (1999) 213
- 9. JR Lakowicz , Principles of fluorescence spectroscopy. Maryland, USA (2006)
- 10. A. Iqbal, Y. Tian , X. Wang, D. Gong, Y. Guo, K. Iqbal, Z. Wang, W. Liu, W. Qin, Carbon dots prepared by solid state

method via citric acid and 1,10-phenanthroline for selective and sensing detection of  $Fe^{2+}$  and  $Fe^{3+}$ , Sens. Actuators,B., 237 (2016) 408–415,

- W. Liu, H. Diao, H. Chang, H. Wang, T. Li, W. Wei, Green synthesis of carbon dots from rose-heart radish and application for Fe<sup>3+</sup> detection and cell imaging, Sens. Actuators, B.,241 (2017) 190–198
- F. Zu, F. Yan, Z. Bai, J. Xu, Y.Wang, Y.Huang, X. Zhou.. The quenching of the fluorescence of carbon dots: A review on mechanisms and applications. Microchim Acta., 184(2017) 1899–1914

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00604-017-2318-9

 S.A Hussain, An Introduction to Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET),arXiv:0908.1815 [physics.gen-ph] (2009)

#### PART A- Carbon Dot Based Naked Eye Sensor

# Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot- A Naked Eye Sensor for Toxic Pb<sup>2+</sup> Ions

## 5.4 Introduction and Relevance of Pb<sup>2+</sup> Sensing

Among the various heavy metal ions, efficient monitoring and quantification of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions is having significant interest on considering the lethal action of the said ion in living tissues and environment even in trace quantities [1-4]. It was established that exposure to minute amount of Pb<sup>2+</sup>ions may cause various health issues related to the functioning of reproductive, neurological and cardiovascular systems. It may also result in severe retardation in mental health of children along with retardation of intelligence, delayed motor response, developmental disorder and hypertension. European Union's Restriction on Hazardous Substances directive ordered to ban the usage of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion in various electrical and electronic devices considering its adverse effect towards both flora and fauna [2]. Owing to the non-biodegradable nature, Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions will easily accumulate within the contacted surface [1-5]. Being the major component in water taps/service pipes, the odourless, tasteless and colourless metal, Pb2+ can easily enter in to the water and can remain as undetected for a long time, increasing the risk, most probably when contact with acidic water or water with low mineral content. Excess concentration of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions often lead to higher possibility for cancer, renal disorders, stroke and memory loss in adult .Various authorized agencies prescribed a particular permissible concentration for Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions in drinking water. According to Lead and Copper rule by U.S Environment protection

Agency (EPA), the permissible amount of  $Pb^{2+}ion$  in drinking water is 15 parts per billion (ppb) [5]. Allowed concentration for  $Pb^{2+}$  ions prescribed by International Conference on Harmonization (ICH) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for oral administration, inhalation exposure and parenteral exposure is 0.5 parts per million (ppm) and 0.1 ppm respectively [3,5].



Figure 5.4: Adverse effects of Pb 2+ ions in human body (images collected from internet)

Scientists have developed numerous devices for tracing the presence of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions which also assures quantification of the ion with admirable selectivity. Owing to the ease of operation and reliability of the results, majority of scientists utilized colorimetric or fluorimetric methods for the metal detection [7-13]. Colorimetric methods were used by Chen and team, which involves the utilization of gold nanoparticles [14]. Appreciable detection limit was reported by Chai and group in this

regard, using glutathione functionalized gold nano particles based on colorimetric route [15]. Various electrochemical sensing devices and several analysis methods are also suggested for monitoring the presence of heavy metal ions because of the merits of small size, low cost, facile mode of operation and high sensitivity [8, 16-18].

There are certain interesting efforts in literature, which report admirable sensing efficiency towards Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions using fluorescent CDs [7]. In 2013, Wee and group fabricated fluorescent carbon dot based efficient sensing tool by hydrolysis of bovine serum albumin, which offers monitoring of trace quantity of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion with admirable efficiency based on fluorometry assay [9]. The system offers excellent sensing action with detection range in nanomolar concentration. An interesting fluorescent sensor was suggested by Liu et al, in 2016 via very facile method using commercially available chocolate as the starting material offering admirable sensitive and selective monitoring of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions with limit of detection in the range of 12 nM [10]. In 2017, a group of scientists developed fluorescent CDs from naturally available ocimum sanctum which offers efficient sensing of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions along with effective imaging of live body cells [11]. Fu and coworkers synthesised gold nanoparticle decorated graphene for fluorimetric detection of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions with detection limit 10 nM, based on accelerated leaching of gold nanoparticles [12]. Though, 2-(2hydroxybenzylamino) propanoic acid derived CDs prepared by Vinod kumar and co-workers offer excellent sensing of Pb2+ ions with admirable detection range, Its sensing ability was found to be hindered in presence of other cations, which may retard the efficiency of the system for practical applications [13]. Majority of the previous efforts

invariably marked by the usage of toxic materials as well as tedious and expensive analysis techniques for detection and quantification of the ion.

It is interesting to state that, herein, table sugar derived CDs could enable easy monitoring of toxic ion,  $Pb^{2+}$ , with commendable selectivity and sensitivity using naked eye. As the present system allows visual monitoring of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions with appreciable detection limit, this can be considered as a novel achievement established via a highly facile, economic and green route. Table sugar derived CDs enable naked eye monitoring of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions through aggregation induced precipitation of individual carbon dot units in presence of these ions, which is further substantiated by various characterisation techniques and detailed analysis of the results. As the crux of the sensing strategy is aggregation of individual carbon dot units, presence of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions is quantified by means of simple turbidimetry, which also highlights the facile mode of operation of the system.

### 5.4.1 Results and discussion

Presence of abundant oxygen rich surface functionalities (hydroxyl, carboxyl, carbonyl etc.) in the system was clearly manifested through the results of concerned characterization techniques in chapter 3. These surface moieties are the suspected root cause of aforesaid interesting observation, Vis; Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion assisted aggregation of TS-CDs solution. This section is exclusively meant for the discussion on the role of TS-CD surface structure in the aggregation process

# (a) Aggregation assisted precipitation; visual sensing of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion in parts per billion (ppb) levels

The introduction of parts per billion amounts of  $Pb^{2+}$  ion induces the formation of turbidity in the solution of TS-CDs. Digital images indicating the aforesaid precipitation is provided in Figure 5.5. Unlike the previous works, presence of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions can be identified with naked eye, without the assistance of any equipment.



Figure 5.5 : Visual aggregation of TS-CD units with the addition of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions

As mentioned previously in this chapter, for a sensor to be claimed as an ideal one, selectivity of the system should be investigated. For this, a series of metal ion solutions were prepared and their interaction with the TS-CD solution was examined. Small amounts of the test solutions including  $Cd^{2+}$ ,  $Hg^{2+}$ ,  $Cu^{2+}$ ,  $Fe^{3+}$ , $K^+$ ,  $Na^+$ , $Ni^{2+}$ , $Co^{2+}$ , $Cr^{6+}$ , $Mn^{2+}$ ,  $Ca^{2+}$ and  $Zn^{2+}$  were introduced in to the pale yellow solution of TS-CDs. Digital images displaying the response of TS-CD solution towards each metal ion solution is provided in Figure 5.6 (a). As evident from Figure 5.6 (a), all the other metal ions except Pb  $^{2+}$  fail to bring the particular aggregation assisted precipitation of TS-CDs under similar conditions. Hence, it is clear that the prepared fluorescent CDs can serve as a promising tool for sensing  $Pb^{2+}$  ions with commendable selectivity and appreciable detection limit.

Sensing efficiency of the system has been verified by investigating whether any external metal ion can interfere with the visible detection of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions. For this interference assay, mixture of metal ions ( $Cd^{2+}$ ,  $Hg^{2+}$ ,  $Cu^{2+}$ ,  $Fe^{3+}$ ,  $K^+$ ,  $Na^+$ ,  $Ni^{2+}$ ,  $Co^{2+}$ ,  $Cr^{6+}$ ,  $Mn^{2+}$ ,  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Zn^{2+}$ ) with and without  $Pb^{2+}$  ion was introduced in to the TS-CD solution (Figure 5.6 b). It was noticed that, metal ion solution mixture without  $Pb^{2+}$  ion failed to evoke the aggregation process. But the addition of metal ion mixture containing  $Pb^{2+}$  ions brings momentous change to the solution, i.e., instantaneous formation of turbidity was observed. This nil interference by the external analytes on the detection performance confirms the credibility of the present system as an ideal sensing tool for  $Pb^{2+}$  ions.



Figure 5.6 : Investigation of Selectivity and sensitivity of the TS-CD solution: (a) all the tested metal ions except Pb2+ produce negative response under similar reaction conditions(selective sensing), and (b) TS-CD solution after the addition of mixture of metal ions (Cd2+, Hg2+, Cu2+, Fe3+, K+, Na+, Ni2+, Co2+, Cr6+, Mn2+, Ca2+ and Zn2+ except Pb2+ ions) (left) ; after the addition of Pb2+ ions to this mixture (right)

# (b) Aggregation of TS-CD system- Verification through characterisation result.

The authenticity of the suspected reason for the observed turbidity, Vis; aggregation of individual CDs, is investigated by the thorough analysis of the collected precipitate. As displayed in Figure 5.7 (a), TEM image of the collected precipitate clearly indicates the formation of aggregates of individual CDs. A comparison of the image with that of pure TS-CDs shows (Figure 3.1 (a)- chapter3), that the introduction of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions brings each carbon dot particle close enough to cause aggregation and the size of the aggregated units become large enough to scatter the incident light, which in turn imparts turbidity/precipitate formation within the solution. Figure 5.7 (b) presents the EDX pattern of the precipitate, which emphasizes the incorporation of added Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions in to the surface of TS-CD system. The precipitate was filtered off and the remaining filtrate solution was collected for fluorescence spectral analysis. Fluorescence emission characteristics of filtrate obtained after the removal of aggregated precipitate further substantiate the suggested aggregation of CDs (Figure 5.7c). As the figure suggests, almost complete suppression of fluorescence was observed for the collected filtrate, confirming the fact that the removed part (precipitated portion) is the sole source of luminescence, which is nothing but fluorescent TS-CDs. XRD analysis of collected precipitate is conducted to verify this. Figure 5.7 (d) clearly confirms that the XRD pattern of precipitated portion resembles that of TS-CD solution (Figure 3.2, chapter 3). The only difference noted was in terms of their peak intensity. XRD peaks of the precipitated portion were little bit less intense than that of TS-CD system. All these results further

validate the suspected aggregation of individual TS-CDs upon the addition of trace quantities of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions.



Figure 5.7: Characterisation of precipitate and filtrate: (a) TEM image, (b) EDAX pattern of aggregated system, (c) Fluorescence emission spectra of TS-CD solution and filtrate obtained after the removal of precipitated portion.(d)XRD pattern of precipitated portion.

# (c) Involvement of carboxylate functionalities in the aggregation process

As the crux behind the visual monitoring of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions by the TS-CD solution was proved to be the aggregation of individual CDs, introduction of the said ions is expected to make the system unstable. Presence of abundant carboxylate groups imparts excess negative charge to the TS- CD system. The addition of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions most probably nullifies this excess negative charge of TS-CD surface via significant

interaction of this metal ion with the carboxylate surface functionalities. Previous reports reveal the extra-ordinary affinity of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions towards the carboxylate functionalities, with commendable selectivity [19].

The collected precipitate (aggregated TS-CDs) was subjected to FTIR spectral analysis, to gather information regarding the structural aspect of the system. FTIR spectral profile of precipitate was compared with that of TS-CD system (Figure 5.8 ). As the figure reveals, there is a noticeable reduction in the intensity of FTIR spectral signals of aggregated system while comparing with that of pure TS-CDs. The reduced intensity of spectral bands corresponding to carboxylate groups around 1560 cm<sup>-1</sup> (asymmetric stretching) and 1410 cm<sup>-1</sup> (symmetric stretching) strongly substantiates the involvement of carboxylate functionalities in the aggregation process.



*Figure 5.8: FTIR spectrum showing direct involvement of carboxylate groups in the aggregation process.* 

As mentioned in the previous chapter, XRD pattern of TS-CD system clearly illustrated well separated graphitic units approaching more graphenic nature, which has proven to be highly susceptible for aggregation in presence of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions with extreme selectivity [20,21].

# (d) Quantitative sensing of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion –Turbidimetric analysis

As the presence of  $Pb^{2+}$  ion is identified by turbidity formation, the concentration of  $Pb^{2+}$  ion is quantified with the aid of a simple turbidimeter.



Figure 5.9: Image of Turbidimeter used for quantification of Pb2+ ions(LABTRONICS LT-33 Digital Turbidity Meter)

During the Turbidimetric analysis, it was noticed that the introduction of increased amounts of metal ions into the TS-CD solution results progressive increment in turbidity/precipitate formation. The variation of turbidity with the concentration of  $Pb^{2+}$  ion was found to be perfectly linear with regression coefficient of 0.996 (Figure 5.10 a). The limit of detection was calculated using  $3\sigma$ /slope method and was

found to be 14 ppb, highly commendable in view of the permissible amount of lead in drinking water (15 ppb) [3,5].

For analysing the accuracy and reliability of this sensing method, the influence of time in the aggregation process was monitored using 14 ppb of Pb (II) solution. Corresponding result is presented in Figure. 5.10 (b). As indicated, the formed aggregates were stable for a long time period. All these findings uphold the observation that the present TS-CD system offers accurate and reliable sensing of this toxic ion via highly economic and facile route, using naked eye, suggesting that the sensor has great potential for application in fast, sensitive and low-cost detection of Pb<sup>2+</sup> in water. The requirement of a simple turbidimeter for quantification of the analyte as well as the highly admirable detection limit further enhances the significance of this work.



Figure 5.10 : Quantification of Pb2+ ion using Turbidimetric analysis: (a) quantitative variation of turbidity with concentration of Pb2+ ions and (b) Time dependence study of carbon dot aggregation monitored using turbidimetry.

# (e) Practical applicability of the present system for real sample analysis

Viability of the visual sensor as an efficient layman's tool for the detection of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions is analysed using three real water samples collected from local premises. For testing the analytical capability, the 3 samples collected from Tap water (university of Calicut), well water (Calicut) and lake water (Calicut) were labelled as sample A, B and C respectively. All the collected real samples were spiked with known concentration of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions. Blank samples and the spiked samples were subjected to  $Pb^{2+}$  monitoring using the TS-CD solution. The data in this regard is presented in table 5.1.

Sample code	Spiked concentration (ppb)	Detected concentration (ppb)	Spiked recovery (%)	
A	(i) 20	(i) 19.9	( <i>i</i> ) 99.5	
	(ii) 25	(ii) 24.7	( <i>ii</i> ) 98.8	
	(iii) 30	(iii) 29.9	(iii) 99.7	
B	(i) 20	(i) 19.7	(i) 98.5	
	(ii) 25	(ii) 24.8	(ii) 99.2	
	(iii) 30	(iii) 29.9	(iii) 99.7	
С	(i) 20	(i) 19.6	(i) 98	
	(ii) 25	(ii) 24.6	(ii) 98.4	
	(iii) 30	(iii) 29.5	(iii) 98.3	

# Table 5.1: Spiked recovery calculation for real-water samples using TS-CDsolution

As the results indicate, TS-CD solution enables excellent tracing of  $Pb^{2+}$  ion in all the tested samples. The appreciable spiked recovery rate exhibited by the system highlights its efficiency as a real time sensing

tool. Each sample was spiked with 20, 25 and 30  $\mu$  g/L of analyte ion. The corresponding spiked recoveries of samples A, B and C were found to be in the range 98 to 99.7 %. These observations ensure the practical applicability of the present TS-CD solution as a potent alternative for conventional Pb<sup>2+</sup> sensing devices.

An analysis on the performance of various established Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion sensors suggests the supremacy of the TS-CD system over the others, in terms of selectivity as well as sensitivity towards the target ion (Table 5.2). Though the ocimum sanctum derived carbon dots, chocolate derived carbon dots and gold nanoparticle decorated graphene sheets show lower detection limits than the present system, the requirement of an analytical instrument and the utilization of expensive chemicals are suggested as their demerits.

System	LOD	Sensing	Reference
		strategy	
DNAzyme-Directed Assembly of	100 nM	Colorimetry	[7]
Gold Nanoparticles			
Unmodified AuNPs and lead-	5000 nM	Colorimetry	[8]
stabilized G-quartet formation			
Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)	5050 nM	Fluorometry	
derived carbon dot			[9]
Chocolate derived carbon dot	12.7 nM	Fluorometry	[10]
Ocimum sanctum derived	0.59 nM	Fluorometry	[11]
carbon dot			
2-(2-hydroxybenzylamino)	100 nM	Fluorometry	[13]
propanoic acid derived carbon			
dot			
Table sugar derived carbon	67 nM	Turbidimetry	Present
dots	(14 ppb)		work

Table 5.2: Comparison of TS-CDs over some established Pb2+ sensors.

## 5.4.2 Summary and Highlights

The prepared TS-CD solution becomes turbid upon the addition of parts per billion levels of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion, paving way for naked eve monitoring of the said ion. This turbidity formation was found to be extremely selective and sensitive. As the presence of Pb<sup>2+</sup> identified by the appearance of turbidity. ions was quantification of target ion is easily achieved with the assistance of simple turbidimeter. The lower detection limit was found to be 14 ppb, which is highly commendable compared to the permissible amounts of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion prescribed by various agencies ( US EPA- 15ppb) and authorized guidelines FDA (0.1ppm) and ICH (0.5ppm).. Appearance of turbidity was found to vary linearly with the concentration of added Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion (regression coefficient 0.99). The underlying reason for this commendable selectivity of TS-CD solution towards the Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions was confirmed to be the extraordinary affinity of Pb 2+ ions towards carboxylate functional groups enriched over the surface of TS-CDs. Practical applicability and analytical capability of the present sensing unit was investigated by performing sensing assay with different real water samples collected from local water bodies (tap and lake). The spiked recovery rate for real sample analysis was found to be in the range of 98 to 99.7 %.



- ✓ Naked eye monitoring of extremely toxic Pb<sup>2+</sup> ion through visible aggregation of carbon dots.
- ✓ Interference free detection of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions with high selectivity and sensitivity.
- ✓ Demonstration of practical applicability through real sample analysis

## 5.5 References

- 1. American Academy of Pediatrics. 1995. Treatment guidelines for lead exposure in children. Pediatrics 96(1):155-1601
- 2. N.V. Sidgwick, TheChemical Elements and their Compounds, Oxford University Press, London, 1950
- 3. M.M. Reddy, K.H. Reddy, M.U. Reddy, Harmonized guideline on limit and testing of elemental impurities in pharmaceutical substances: a review, Pharm. Regul. Affairs 5 (2016) 168
- 4. K. Deibler, P. Basu, Continuing issues with lead: recent advances in detection, Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 7 (2013) 1086– 1096
- 5. B. Swistock, W. Sharpe, Lead in Drinking Water (1994), Updated on January 2016 by A. Galford, B. Swistock, Pennstate Extension, 2016 (brs@psu.edu, wes@psu.edu, aeg21@psu.edu, extension.psu.edu)
- 6. C.S.G. Phillips and R.J.P. Williams, Inorganic Chemistry, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1966
- M. Sun, D. Shangguan, H. Ma, L. Nie, X. Li, S. Xiong, G. Liu, W. Thiemann,Simple PbII fluorescent probe based on PbIIcatalyzed hydrolysis of phosphodiester, Biopolymers 72 (2003) 413–420.
- M.E. Ghanjaoui, M. Srij, M. Hor, F. Serdaoui, M. Rhazi, Fast procedure for lead determination in alcoholic beverages, J. Mater. Environ. Sci. 3 (2012) 85–90.
- 9. S.S. Wee, Y.H. Ng, S.M. Ng, Synthesis of fluorescent carbon dots via simple acid hydrolysis of bovine serum albumin and its potential as sensitive sensing probe for lead (II) ions, Talanta 116 (2013) 71–76.
- Y. Liu, Q. Zhou, J. Li, M. Lei, X. Yan, Selective and sensitive chemosensor for lead ions using fluorescent carbon dots prepared from chocolate by one-step hydrothermal method, Sens. Actuators B 237 (2016) 597–604.

- A. Kumar, A.R. Chowdhuri, D. Laha, T.K. Mahto, P. Karmakar, S.K. Sahu, Green synthesis of carbon dots from ocimum sanctum for effective fluorescent sensing of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions and live cell imaging, Sens. Actuators B 242 (2017)679–686.
- X. Fu, T. Lou, Z. Chen, M. Lin, W. Feng, L. Chen, Turn-on fluorescence detection of lead ions based on accelerated leaching of gold nanoparticles on the surface of graphene, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 4 (2012) 1080–1086.
- V. Vinod Kumar, T. Raman, S.P. Anthony, Fluorescent carbon quantum dots chemosensor for selective turn-on sensing of Zn<sup>2+</sup> and turn-off sensing of Pb<sup>2+</sup> in aqueous medium and zebra fish eggs, New J. Chem. 41 (2017) 15157–15164.
- P. Chen, R. Zhang, Q. Jiang, X. Xiong, S. Deng, Colorimetric detection of lead ion based on gold nanoparticles and leadstabilized G-quartet formation, J. Biomed. Sci. Eng. 8 (2015) 451–457
- 15. F. Chai, C. Wang, T. Wang, L. Li, Z. Su, Colorimetric detection of Pb<sup>2+</sup> using glutathione functionalized gold nano particles, ACS Appl. Mater. Interface 2(2010) 1466–1470
- 16. A. Mandil, L. Idrissi, A. Amine, Stripping voltammetric determination of mercury (II) and lead (II) using screen-printed electrodes modified with gold films, and metal ion preconcentration with thiol-modified magnetic particles, Microchim. Acta 70 (2010) 299–305.
- 17. K. Keawkim, S. Chuanuwatanakul, O. Chailapakul, Determination of lead and cadmium in rice samples by sequential injection/anodic stripping voltammetry using a bismuth film/crown ether/nafion modified screen-printed carbon electrode, Food Control 31 (2013) 14–21.
- R.O. Kadara, I.E. Tothill, Development of disposable bulkmodified screen-printed electrode based on bismuth oxide for stripping chronopotentiometric analysis of lead (II) and cadmium (II) in soil and water samples, Anal. Chim. Acta 623 (2013) 76–81.

- 19. T.Bala, B.L.V.Prasad, M. Sastry, M.U. Kahaly, U.V. Waghmare, Interaction of different metal ions with carboxylic acid group: a quantitative study, J. Phys. Chem. A, 111 (2007) 6183-6190
- 20. S. Yang, C. Chen, Y. Chen, J. Li, D. Wang, X.Wang,W.Hu, Competitive adsorption of Pb<sup>II</sup>, Ni<sup>II</sup> And Sr<sup>II</sup> ions on graphene oxides: a combined experimental and theoretical study ,Chem Plus Chem.80 (2015) 480-484,
- Z.H.Huang, X. Zheng, W. Lv, M. Wang, Q.H.Yang, F. Kang, Adsorption of lead (II) ions from aqueous solution on lowtemperature exfoliated graphene nanosheets, Langmuir.27 (2011) 7558–7562

# PART B- Carbon Dot Based Optical Sensors

# (I) TS-CD-Rhodamine dye array for FRET based sensing of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ion

# 5.6 Introduction and Relevance of Hg <sup>2+</sup> sensing

 $Hg^{2+}$ , ranked as the sixth most poisonous heavy metal, is a cumulative toxicant due to the non-biodegradability and fast transport to remote areas from the point source[1-6]. The most dangerous factor concerning Hg<sup>2+</sup> toxicity is its bio-magnification through food chain and aquatic surfaces. According to available statistics, around 75% of individual mercury exposure is resulted from amalgams. Most important source of non-occupational human Hg exposure is methyl mercury deposited in sea foods, especially in fishes. In addition, there are various sources which results intense release of toxic  $Hg^{2+}$ , such as agricultural industries, manufacturing of electrical commodities, paper making industries, fabrication of paints, photography field etc,. Generally,  $Hg^{2+}$  is released in to atmosphere in two forms (i) methyl mercury and (ii) metallic mercury. As mentioned earlier, the most noxious form of  $Hg^{2+}$ , methyl mercury is mainly transported to human body through the consumption of sea food. Studies reveal that, human body has inherent capacity to resist the adverse effects exerted by metallic mercury to a certain extent. But the administration of methyl mercury badly affects the working of Central Nervous System (CNS) and may cause severe damage to certain areas of brain.

The most dangerous fact connected with Hg<sup>2+</sup>contamination of aquatic life is that once introduced in to the cycle,  $Hg^{2+}$  ions will be instantaneously solvated to form stable inorganic mercury (solvated Hg<sup>2+</sup>). Continuous exposures to Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions cause several physiological problems human, including neurological dysfunctioning, to autoimmune disease and dementia. Various scientific studies suggest that intense exposure to Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions may cause several health issues including memory loss, heart problems, mental stress, irritations, cold feet and digestion problems. Researchers suggest that Hg<sup>2+</sup> toxicity leads to health conditions similar to symptoms of autism. There are several Hg<sup>2+</sup> induced disasters reported in history. Minamata disease, the most notorious event, witnessed the death of many people, severe damage to environment and exhaustion of a local population because of the strong discrimination towards the victims and conflicts between neighbouring inhabitants. Minamata disease also referred as Chisso-Minamata disease, results in muscle weakness. In acute poisoning it may cause paralysis, coma and even death of the victim. This may also lead to visual, hearing and speech impairment. Acrodynia (pink disease) also results from chronic exposure to Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions. It is generally characterized by the appearance of pink coloured rashes over the body. The victims may suffer watery and weeping skin lesions [1,4,5].



Figure 5.11 : Adverse effects of Hg2+ ions

All the perils by  $Hg^{2+}$  ions strongly demand the development of a proper sensing device, which enables efficient monitoring of even trace amounts of the said ion. According to U.S Environment Protection Agency rules and W.H.O (World Health Organization), the permissible concentration of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions in drinking water is restricted to 2 ppb. The closed d-shell configuration of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ion restricts the metal from significant optical interactions, which in-turn strictly limits the direct detection of the said ions with the aid of spectroscopic tools. Literature witnessed a series of research efforts for designing a potent sensing tool that offering admirable sensing efficiency towards Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions [7-22]. Among the established sensing tools, majority of them were based on colorimetric, electrochemical and fluorescent techniques [7-10, 14-16, 19-21]. Scientists mainly used several organic molecules [11,12], polymeric substances [17] and noble metal

nanostructures including gold and silver for tracing Hg<sup>2+</sup> [13,18,22]. Detailed survey on previous efforts suggests that utilization of organic molecules as well as polymeric materials suffers from problems including poor aqueous dispersibility and tedious fabrication and purification procedures. Though, the efficiency offered by noble metal based Hg sensors is note-worthy, comparatively high cost associated with the fabrication of sensing device restricts the wide range applicability of those sensing gadgets. For the past few years, graphene is widely used as the promising platform for fabricating efficient Hg<sup>2+</sup>sensors [23-25]. Rather than modified graphene structures, graphene-organic dye hybrids has carved a novel formula for monitoring the presence of  $Hg^{2+}$  ions [14]. Among such graphene- dye hybrids, an interesting report was made by Zhang and colleagues discussing the non-covalent interactions between graphene surface and xanthene structured dye molecules [26].According to them, these xanthene dyes and graphene structure will result considerable FRET interactions between themselves. These selective non-covalent interaction between the two will leads to the formation of supramolecular assemblies that offer efficient tracing of various relevant analytes. Apart from these, recently, scientists extensively exploit fluorescent carbon nano dots for designing promising Hg<sup>2+</sup> sensors [20,27-31]. Majority of such sensors function based on the noticeable variation in the optical response of fluorescent carbon dot systems upon the addition of target ion.

As mentioned previously, the presence of highly exfoliated graphitic core structure may impart more graphene like features to the present system. Hence, motivated from the aforesaid report of Zhang's group, TS-CD is utilized as a donor fluorophore moiety for forming a FRET pair, which could definitely effect efficient FRET interaction with a xanthene dye, Rhodamine 6G. Herein, FRET from TS-CD to xanthene dye is utilized to design an efficient  $Hg^{2+}$  sensor. It was noted that the FRET process increases the luminescence intensity of the dye. This TS-CD-dye couple act as a selective optical sensor for  $Hg^{2+}$ , which is manifested as fluorescence turn off in presence of the analyte ions.



Figure 5.12 : Fluorescence spectra demonstrating Hg2+ sensing action of carbon dot-Rhodamine FRET unit

#### 5.6.1 Results and discussion

#### (a) Carbon dot-Rhodamine dye combination as FRET pair

Non-radiative quantum mechanical energy transfer, fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) may occur between the carbon dots and the dye molecule when they are placed in close proximity, less than 10 nm. Generally, in FRET process, one entity acts as donor and the other one assumes the role of acceptor molecule via dipole-dipole interaction. This leads to excitation energy transfer from donor to acceptor entity resulting in the enhanced emission intensity of the latter. As discussed earlier, such FRET pairs pave way for quantitative detection of various analytes with commendable selectivity [14,32-34].

sp<sup>2</sup> domains in the core structure of carbon dots exert strong  $\pi$ - $\pi$  interaction with the xanthene units of Rhodamine molecule. In addition, the  $\pi$ - $\pi$ interaction, presence of considerable amount of dispersive forces between the donor-acceptor pair also bring them within a desirable FRET distance [14,26]. The probable interactive modes between the FRET pair are displayed below in Figure 5.13.



Figure 5.13 : Schematic representation of possible interactive modes of carbon dot-Dye unit.

Fluorescence emission curve of carbon dot solution exhibits commendable overlap with the absorbance curve of Rhodamine dye molecule (Figure 5.14), confirming the increased probability of FRET interaction within this pair. Similar to the observation made by Chao and colleagues, here also the prepared carbon dots act as a donor molecule, thereby resulting excitation energy transfer to the Rhodamine dye. The aforesaid paper reports the case of the acceptor molecule fluorescein [35]. Corresponding mechanistic route describing the excitation energy transfer from donor carbon dot system to the acceptor xanthene dye ( Rhodamine) is displayed in Figure 5.14(b).



Figure 5.14: Overlapping between fluorescence emission curve of donor and absorbance curve of acceptor (a), Jablonski diagram displaying FRET mechanism between donor-acceptor molecules (b).

The donor role of TS-CDs is clearly evident from the enhanced fluorescence emission of the dye molecule upon the addition of carbon dot solution into it. Corresponding optical behaviour of Rhodamine dye molecule is displayed in Figure 5.15 (a). Digital image confirming the enhanced fluorescence intensity is incorporated in the inset. Thus, Figure 5.15 (b) is sufficient enough to illustrate the acceptor role of Rhodamine dye. Concomitant reduction of carbon dot emission intensity with the introduction of dye molecule further substantiates the proposed donor action of TS-CDs. This observation is further substantiated by the lifetime measurement of pure carbon dot solution and carbon dot-dye unit. As Figure 5.15 (c) indicate, fluorescence lifeime of pure carbon dot solution was observed to be 3.49 ns, which

gradually decreases to 2.43 ns upon the addition of Rhodamine dye solution into it, illustrating the excitation energy transfer from carbon dot solution to the dye molecule.



Figure 5.15 : Confirmation of acceptor role of Rhodamine dye and donor role of carbon dot solution in the FRET pair; FRET induced increment of luminescence emission intensity of dye (a), reduction of fluorescence emission intensity of carbon dot (b) and Fluorescence lifeime curve of carbon dot solution before and after the addition of dye solution.

The role of FRET in the process was further validated by duplicating the entire experimental procedure using another fluorescent carbon dots of different origin, instead of sugar derived carbon dot solution. For this, cyan emitting carbon dots from commercially available honey was prepared via hydrothermal treatment. About 2 gm honey was mixed with 8 mL of distilled water and stirred for few minutes for obtaining a homogenous solution. To this, 3 mL of hydrogen peroxide solution was added, transferred to teflon sealed autoclave, and placed in a muffle furnace for 2 hrs at 200 °C. Purification steps were also conducted. The obtained powder was subjected to XRD analysis. Figure 5.16 (a) displays the XRD pattern of the sample. It can be seen that there is no overlap between the emission spectral profile of honey derived carbon dots and Rhodamine dye absorbance spectral curve (Figure 5.16 b). Because of the absence of FRET interaction, the addition of honey derived carbon dot does not brings any noticeable change to the fluorescence emission intensity of Rhodamine solution (Figure 5.16 c), as expected.



Figure 5.16: XRD pattern of honey derived carbon dot (a); illustration of the absence of FRET interaction from honey derived Carbon dot to Rhodamine dye (b) and Fluorescence emission profile of Rhodamine dye solution with the addition of honey derived carbon dot solution (c).
# (b) FRET Assisted Monitoring of Toxic Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions

As mentioned earlier, FRET units enable efficient monitoring of external analytes, which is capable of perturbing/disturbing their orientation. Herein, stock solutions of different metal ions were prepared at fixed concentrations for examining whether any of them evoke such noticeable variation in the fluorescence intensity of carbon dot-Rhodamine FRET pair. As can be noted (Figure 5.17 a), introduction of picomolar concentration of toxic Hg<sup>2+</sup> ion solution produces considerable reduction in the fluorescence response of carbon dot- dye FRET pair. The enhanced fluorescence of carbon dot-dye solution unit is gradually decreased with the addition of increased amount of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions into it. Digital image showing the aforesaid observation is also incorporated inset. The fluorescence intensity variation was found to be linear with the concentration of analyte ion, with regression coefficient 0.985 (Figure 5.17 b). This assures quantification of the analyte using the FRET pair.



Figure.5.17 : Fluorescence emission profile of FRET pair upon the addition of increased amounts of Hg2+ ion (digital image showing the decreased intensity of FRET pair with the addition of Hg2+ ion solution in the inset) (a) Quantitative variation of fluorescence response with the concentration of Hg (II) ions (b).

Standard deviation method,  $(3\sigma/m \text{ method})$  was employed for determining the lower limit of detection of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions and was found to be 98 picomolar, equivalent to 20 parts per trillion levels of analyte ion. This detection limit is note-worthy to mention, as most of the reported Hg<sup>2+</sup> sensors possess LOD values which are higher. Among the reported Hg<sup>2+</sup> sensors, inherent surface Plasmon resonance tunes gold nanoparticle based systems efficient in detecting toxic Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions. Supremacy of the resent sensing device over other established Hg<sup>2+</sup> sensors is displayed in table 5.3. It is noted that the LOD achieved herein is significant while comparing the performance of these systems.

System	LOD	Reference	
Quaternary Ammonium Group-Capped	30 nM	[11]	
Gold Nanoparticles			
Gold nanoparticles functionalized by	40 ppb	[12]	
dithio carbamate derivative of			
calixarene			
Au-Ag core-shell nano particles	5 nM	[13]	
Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) and a	50 nM	[16]	
paper-based analytical platform			
Gold nanoparticles stabilized with a	35 nM	[18]	
dithia-diaza ligand			
Pomelo peel derived carbon nano	0.23 nM	[20]	
particles			
Carbon dot- Rhodamine dye unit	0.098 nM	Present study	

 Table 5.3 : Comparison of carbon dot- dye unit over few established Hg2+

 sensing tools.

Sensitivity as well as selectivity of this FRET pair towards the analyte ion  $(Hg^{2+})$  is investigated using a set of metal ion solutions of fixed concentration. As Figure 5.18 displays, the present system offers extreme selectivity as well as sensitivity towards  $Hg^{2+}$  ion. No other metal ion except  $Hg^{2+}$  produces any noticeable change in the optical response of FRET pair. The optical response of FRET pair towards two set of test solutions (one set having mixture of all test ions except  $Hg^{2+}$  ions and the other set containing all test ions including  $Hg^{2+}$  ions) were screened for analysing its selectivity. As evident from Figure 5.18, test solution containing all metal ions including  $Hg^{2+}$  ion was able to reduce the fluorescence intensity of FRET pair, whereas the other mixture of test ions excluding  $Hg^{2+}$  ions fails to bring any noticeable change to the optical response. The reliability of the present system as an interference free, selective and sensitive  $Hg^{2+}$  sensor is thus assured.



Figure 5.18: Selective and sensitive monitoring of Hg2+ ion; quenching profile of carbon dot-Dye combination luminescence in presence of various metal ions

# (c) Metal ion assisted hindrance in FRET- Principle behind the sensing strategy

As mentioned earlier, Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions are capable of disturbing the orientation of FRET, paving way for selective monitoring of said ion even under trace quantities of addition. This selective action of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions towards the carbon dot- Rodamine unit can be ascribed to their extraordinary affinity towards the core structure of carbon dot system. Owing to this commendable affinity of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions to the carbon core structure of donor moiety, introduction of even small amounts of said ion will disturb the well overlapped curves of dye (acceptor) and TS-CD (donor). Hence, it is suggested that the Hg<sup>2+</sup> addition results displacement of FRET pair, thereby causing considerable decrease in the FRET interaction. This will definitely leads to significant reduction in the fluorescence intensity of TS-CD-Dye unit.

Figure 5.19 substantiates this concept of  $Hg^{2+}$  induced hindrance in FRET between carbon dot-dye unit, as it manifests the considerable reduction in the overlapping area of FRET pair with the addition of sufficient amount of metal ion. The decreased efficiency of excitation energy transfer between donor-acceptor molecules is clearly evident, which confirms the metal ion induced quenched emission intensity of the FRET pair.



Figure 5.19: Illustration of metal ion induced hindrance in FRET between carbon dot and Rhodamine dye; Excellent overlap between absorbance curve of Rhodamine dye and fluorescence emission curve of carbon dot solution before  $Hg^{2+}$  addition (a), Decreased FRET efficiency with the addition of sufficient amount of  $Hg^{2+}$  ions (20 ppt)

This observed  $Hg^{2+}$  induced selective displacement of FRET pair can be scientifically connected with the commendable affinity of mercury ions towards the various surface oxygen functionalities as well as the  $\pi$ cloud of the carbon core (donor) [14]. Plausible selective interaction between the metal ion and graphenic units of carbon dot core is represented in Figure 5.20 (a). Hence, addition of  $Hg^{2+}$  ions results in interaction with the carboxyl (-COOH), carbonyl (C=O) and hydroxyl (-OH) functionalities on the graphenic layers, which successfully displaces the donor carbon dot moiety form the acceptor dye molecule , thereby reducing the excitation energy transfer efficiency, as obvious from the quenched emission of FRET unit. The concept of  $Hg^{2+}$ induced selective displacement of carbon dot molecule is further confirmed by recording the corresponding UV-Visible absorbance curve of carbon dot solution upon the addition of mercury ions. As evident from Figure 5.20 (b), absorbance indicating  $n-\pi^*$  electronic transition corresponding to oxygenous surface groups undergo sequential decrease with increase in the amount of added metal ion (Hg<sup>2+</sup>) solution, corroborating well with the proposed chemical interaction between Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions and oxygen bearing surface groups of carbon dots.



Figure 5.20 : Illustration of specific interaction of Hg2+ ions with the surface oxygen functionalities; (a), UV-Visible absorbance characteristics of carbon dot solution with the addition of increased amount of mercury ion solution (decreased  $n-\pi^*$  absorbance with increased concentration of ions) (b)

# (d). Practical applicability of TS-CD based Hg<sup>2+</sup> sensor

Reliability of the present sensing unit (carbon dot-Rhodamine pair) for monitoring  $Hg^{2+}$  ions is investigated by analyzing real water samples collected from local premises. For this, two sets of real samples were used and the corresponding optical response of FRET unit was monitored with the aid of fluorescence spectroscopy. Contaminated water sample was prepared by spiking known concentration of  $Hg^{2+}$  ions (50 ppt) to one of the water sample. As evident from Figure 5.21(a), fluorescence emission intensity of FRET unit was found to be quenched upon the addition of contaminated water. The undisturbed fluorescence emission curve in Figure 5.21 (b) confirms that the sample collected from nearby well is completely free from  $Hg^{2+}$  ions, showing the reliability of the present sensor.



Figure 5.21: Fluorescence emission profile of FRET unit towards (a) real water sample contaminated with  $Hg^{2+}$  ions and (b) well water free from  $Hg^{2+}$  ions

### 5.6.2Summary and Highlights

Fluorescence emission curve of TS-CDs exhibits commendable overlapping with the absorbance curve of Rhodamine-6G dye molecule. Owing to the existence of significant amount of  $\pi$ - $\pi$ interactions and dispersive forces between xanthene dye structure of Rhodamine and aromatic cloud of carbon dot core structure, this combination could form an excellent FRET pair. Carbon dots serve as donor and the dye, as acceptor. As a consequence of excitation energy transfer from carbon dot solution (donor) to the Rhodamine dye (acceptor), fluorescence intensity of carbon dot was found to be quenched, whereas that of dye molecule was enhanced. Introduction of trace amount of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ion into the FRET unit selectively displaces the donor carbon dot molecule, thereby reducing the extent of FRET overlapping with the acceptor dye molecule. This Hg<sup>2+</sup> assisted disturbance in the FRET process results quenched emission intensity of TS-CD-dve pair. Optical response, quenching of emission intensity of FRET unit was found to vary in a linear fashion with increasing concentration of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions. This observation was found to extremely selective and sensitive towards the Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions. Limit of detection offered by the present sensing tool was found to be 98 picomolar, highly commendable, while considering the permitted concentration of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions in water bodies, by various organizations. Extraordinary affinity of Hg2+ ions towards carbon dot was illustrated using various characterization techniques.



- Excellent sensitivity of the FRET pair in detecting Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions,
   which is superior to gold based sensors.
- ✓ Commendable practical applicability (reliability) of the present sensing unit, as evident from the negligible error percentage associated with real sample analysis.

# (II) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dot- Sensor for Nitro Aromatic Compounds

# 5.7 Introduction and Relevance of Nitro Aromatic Compound Sensing

Nitro Aromatic Compounds were easily absorbed by human body upon oral/dermal exposure as well as by inhalation of vapours [36]. It was observed that administration of NACs, especially nitro benzene and its corresponding derivatives, in to the blood stream induces metabolism of injected NACs, which converts them into aniline, leading to methemoglobinemia (MetHb). This health condition reduces oxygen transport capacity of blood leading to blue colour in various body parts. Several health issues including headache, sleepiness, dizziness, vomiting, weakness and grouchiness are also observed [36-40]. This impaired oxygen delivery may result in acute cyanosis along with neural illnesses such as headache, confusion, nausea, dizziness, unconsciousness. coma and may even lead to death. The methemoglobin produced in the body will impart chocolate colour to human blood, which will never regain redness even on air exposure. The formation of 20 % of methemoglobin was reported to be well tolerable by human body, whereas the increase of methemoglobin above 40 % will result several cardio-respiratory weaknesses. When the amount of methemoglobin produced exceeds 70%, the condition will be fatal. Hence, accurate monitoring/ analytical quantification of toxic NACs is of increased demand.

### Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for Sensing Applications

Damage to male reproductive system is also reported due to exposure to NACs. According to International Agency for Research on Cancer, Nitrobenzene derivatives are classified as most dangerous human carcinogen. Through this report authors proved the adverse effect of NACs on various body cells, illustrating higher probability for various tissue specific tumors (benign and malignant). As per this study, administration of excess amount of NACs will cause lung tumors, Kidney tumour, liver tumour and benign mammary-gland tumors in different experimental animals such as mice and rats [41]. It was also suggested that oral administartion/ inhalation of chloro-nitro benzene will result abdominal, vascular and splenic tumors in animals . Moreover, these nitrobenzene derivatives have been listed as a strong genotoxic substance, as they cause considerable mutation in various bacteria.

Generally, excess amount of NACs are involved in the manufacture of various products including plastics, textiles, insecticides, elastomers, additives, plant growth regulators and various dves. fuel pharmaceuticals. Wide usage of some nitrobenzene derivatives is banned by various recognized authorities such as Food Protection Quality Act (1996), Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (2010) and United State Environmental Protection Agency (2006), by considering high risk associated with their bio-accumulative nature and toxic effects in living organisms. Owing to the afore said health issues caused by inhalation/ administration of NACs, environmental pollution prevention/control concepts strongly urges the detection of even trace quantities of NACs in aqueous bodies as they dose threat to the well-being of flora and fauna of our eco system. Various analytical screening techniques such as combined utilization of gas chromatography- mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and gas chromatography with flame ionization detector (GC-FID) were practiced for the tracing of these toxic NACs.



Figure 5.22 : Toxic effects of various Nitro Aromatic Compounds in human body (images collected from various internet sources)

### 5.7.1 Results and Discussion

# (a) Sugar Derived Carbon Dot as a Efficient Nitro Aromatic Sensor

Bright fluorescence of carbon dots is utilized for investigating its efficiency for monitoring various nitrogen containing molecules, including both aromatic and aliphatic nitro-compounds of micro molar level. Among the tested analytes, a set of nitro aromatic compounds sharing similar parental aromatic frame work (nitrobenzene) could effectively quench the fluorescence intensity of carbon dot solution with commendable selectivity and sensitivity. Aromatic Nitro compounds exhibiting this aforesaid response includes Nitro Benzene (NB), 4- Nitro Phenol (4-NP), 4-Nitro Aniline (4-NA), 4- Nitro Toluene (4- NT) ,4- Nitro Benzoic acid (4- NBA), 4- Chloro Nitro Benzene (4-CNB) and 4- Nitro Benzaldehyde (4-NBAl). It is very interesting to note that, no other tested analytes except these nitro benzene structures, impart such a noticeable change in the fluorescence intensity of carbon dots. The fluorescence response of present carbon dot solution towards different NACs is provided in Figure 5.23. Inset of each spectral profile bears the linear plot portraying the relationship between luminescence intensity and the added concentration of NACs. As evident from figure, the luminescence intensity of carbon dot solution varies linearly with the addition of analyte NACs. 30/slope method was employed for calculating the detection limit for each NACs solution. Surprisingly, carbon dot solution enables femtomolar molar (fM) level tracing of all the tested analytes, which is appreciable while considering their threshold levels prescribed by various environmental agencies.





Figure 5.23 : Fluorescence quenching of carbon dot upon the addition of different Nitro Aromatic compounds (NACs) : variation of luminescence intensity with added concentration of concerned NACs is provided in the insets. (a) Nitro Benzene (NB); (b) 4- Nitro aniline (4-NA); (c) 4-Nitro Toluene (4-NT); (d) 4-Nitro Phenol (4-NP); (e) 4- Nitro Benzoic acid (4-NBA); (f) 4-Nitro Benzaldehyde (4-NBAl) and (g) 4-Chloro Nitrobenzene(4-CNB).;

Among the analytes, TS-CDs show extreme sensitivity towards 4-Nitroaniline solution with highly commendable detection range, 27 femtomolar molar (fM). Present carbon dot solution exhibits sensitivity towards the remaining tested analytes in the order, 4-Nitro Toluene  $\approx$ 4-Nitro Phenol > Nitro Benzene> 4-Nitro Benzoic acid> 4-Nitro Benzaldehyde  $\approx$  4- Chloro Nitrobenzene. Detection limits correspond to 4-Nitro Toluene, 4-Nitro Phenol, Nitro Benzene, 4-Nitro Benzoic acid, 4-Nitro Benzaldehyde, 4- Chloro Nitrobenzene were found to be 370, 390, 700, 1200, 1600 and 1720 \* 10<sup>-15</sup> molar (femtomolar molarfM) respectively. Figure 5.24 displays the corresponding data.



Figure 5.24 : Detection limit corresponding to various analytes

# (b) Plausible Mechanism of NACs sensing

This observed quenching of carbon dot fluorescence intensity is suggested to be due to the transport of electrons from the ground/ excited state of CDs in to the ground electronic level of NACs (analyte). Electron deficient nature associated with each NACs will monopolize the probability of strong binding interaction with electron rich surface of sensor entity (oxygen rich CDs). Schematic representation showing possible interaction between the entities is provided in Figure 5.25.



Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for Sensing Applications

Figure 5.25: Schematic representation showing plausible mechanism involved in NACs sensing using carbon dot.

Owing to the uncertainty regarding the exact chemical structure of CDs, suggestion of a unified mechanistic route for explaining all probable chemical interactions between carbon dot solution and the added analytes (NACs) is relatively difficult. As illustrated in the previous section, presence of myriad graphenic like structures provides excellent  $\pi$  cloud orientation within the core structure. Hence, addition of increased amount of NACs causes strong  $\pi$ - $\pi$  bonding with the aromatic cloud of the analyte. In addition, existence of profound dispersion forces between the surface functional group of carbon dot and NACs also facilitates the interaction between the sensor and analyte molecule. These two interactive forces bring the sensing unit (carbon dot) and analyte molecule (NACs) in close proximity, which in turn facilitates easy transport of electrons between them. It was

observed that, stronger the  $\pi$  cloud interaction, more intense will be the extent of photo-induced electron transfer (PET) between the carbon dot and NACs.

Extent of  $\pi$  electron cloud availability is solely determined by inductive effect of para substituent of parent nitro aromatic frame work of analyte. Presence of electron releasing substituent at the para position will increase the availability of  $\pi$  electron cloud for NACs, compared to the same with electron withdrawing para substituent. Availability of increased  $\pi$  electron cloud at the analyte structure results in enhanced rate of non-covalent interaction with  $\pi$  frame work of carbon dot core structure. This increased rate of non-covalent interactions, in turn results in quenching of the fluorescence of carbon dots upon the introduction of adequate amount of NACs. Hence, extreme selectivity of 4-Nitro Aniline (4-NA) towards the optical response of carbon dot solution is well corroborated with the presence of most electron releasing  $-NH_2$  groups at the para position of analyte. This finding is further substantiated on examining the reactivity order of each analyte molecule. There occurs a particular relationship between the order of values of detection limit corresponding to each NACs molecule with the electron releasing/withdrawing efficiency of its para substituent.

It was observed that, analyte molecule with higher electron withdrawing para substituent, herein 4-chloro Nitro Benzene (4-CNB), is having the least sensitivity to the fluorescence response of carbon dot solution, as indicated by the higher detection limit. This observation can be correlated with the least availability of  $\pi$  electron cloud of the analyte compared to the remaining tested NACs. Least availability of electron cloud may lead to lesser interaction with TS-CDs and thereby the higher value of detection limit. Thus, in brief, the possible interaction between the fluorophore molecule and analyte NACs can be explained in a superficial way, as mentioned above. But the uncertainty related to the origin of fluorescence of CDs limits further authentic justification on the observations made herein.

#### (c) Selective and Sensitive monitoring of NACs

Practical applicability of the present sensing unit under complicated chemical environment is investigated by examining the influence of interference from external analytes including various metal ions and significant molecules in presence of NACs. For this, the entire experimental procedure is carried out in presence of various possible interfering analytes such metal as ions  $(Fe^{2+},Fe^{3+},Cd^{2+},Ca^{2+},Cu^{2+},Ni^{2+},Al^{3+},Zn^{2+},Hg^{2+},K^{+},\ Na^{+},\ Mg^{2+},\ Mn^{2+},\ Mn^{$ Co<sup>2+</sup>and Ba<sup>2+</sup>) as well as bio-molecules including glucose, folic acid, urea, ascorbic acid and methionine. Results in this regard are provided in Figure 5.26, which is expressed in terms of relative reduction in fluorescence intensity  $I_0$ -I/ $I_0$  ( $I_o$  and I are the luminescence intensity of carbon dots before and after the introduction of analytes, respectively).



Figure 5.26: Illustration of selective and interference free monitoring of NACs by TS-CDs.

As evident from the plot, present carbon dot solution offers excellent selectivity and sensitivity towards the NACs. All the other foreign analytes including metal ions and bio-molecules exhibit negligible interference with NACs detection, as illustrated by the nil influence of theses moieties on luminescence of carbon dots.

# 5.7.2 Computational Investigation on Structure – Activity Relationship in NACs sensing

Comprehensive information on electronic properties as well as structural reactivities of all the analyte molecules (NACs) is gained by conducting various computational calculations/operations. Most widely used computational tool (mainly for organic molecules), density functional theory (DFT) has been utilized for this purpose [42]. All the computational calculations have been carried out using DFT- B3LYP/6-31+ G (d,p) [43,44], through Gaussian 09 software package [45]. For having systematic comparison of structural aspects as well as extent of reactivity of all the analytes (NACs), Global reactive descriptors have been computed and corresponding donor-acceptor map (DAM) was also plotted [46-48].

# (a) Global reactive Parameters

Global descriptive parameters of a particular molecule give information on the relation between its chemical reactivity and sensitiveness to structural perturbations and corresponding responses to the alterations in external conditions. Chemical potential, electro negativity, hardness, softness, electrophilicity index, etc together constitute the aforesaid global descriptive parameters of a molecule. These parameters can be related to the linear responses of the electron density with respect to the variations in external potential as well as the number of electrons [49].

Accordingly, global descriptive parameters are of significant relevance in comparing various features of different molecules. Among these parameters, overall stability of a molecule is determined by the global hardness value [50].Chemical hardness value of a particular molecule fundamentally indicates its reluctance towards the deformation/ polarization of electron cloud of the atoms (ions/ molecules) under small perturbation encountered during chemical processes. Capacity of a molecule to receive electrons is measured by chemical Softness, which is precisely related to the groups / atoms present in that molecule. This softness value is found to be inversely related to chemical hardness [51]. Escaping tendency of an electron from equilibrium is indicated by chemical potential, which is represented by

#### Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for Sensing Applications

the first derivative of energy with respect to the number of electrons This is found to be the negative of the parameter, [42]. electronegativity, indicator of tendency to attract electrons in a chemical bond [51]. Electrophilicity strength of the species is generally indicated by the electrophilicity index value [49]. Two different calculation strategies were generally adopted for measuring the global reactive descriptors of a molecule. One method involves the calculation based on total electronic energy difference of neutral molecule and its corresponding anion and cation analogue. This calculation mode is generally termed as 'energy vertical' method, which is based on the geometry of the neutral molecule, so as to keep the external potential constant [52]. The second calculation method is by Koopmans's theorem. As the former computation strategy, energy vertical method, offers a more accurate computing of global reactive parameters, we employed the same method for having comprehensive idea on structure-activity relation of all the NACs. These global descriptors are computed based on the equations 1-7 [53].

Ionisation Potential (IP) = $E_{Cation} - E_{neutral}$	(1)	)
--	-----	---

Electron Affinity (EA) = 
$$E_{neutral} - E_{anion}$$
 (2)

Hardness 
$$(\eta) \approx \frac{IP - EA}{2}$$
 (3)

Electro negativity 
$$(\chi) \approx \frac{IP + EA}{2}$$
 (4)

Softness(S) 
$$\approx \frac{1}{2n}$$
 (5)

Chemical potential 
$$(\mu) \approx -\chi$$
 (6)

Electrophilicity index (
$$\omega$$
)  $\approx \frac{\mu^2}{2\eta}$  (7)

# (b) Donor-Acceptor Map

Electron acceptor/donor character of a molecule can be understood by constructing donor-acceptor map based on various parameters. The parameters  $\omega$ + and  $\omega$ - were used to describe the tendency of a particular compound to accept/donate charge/electrons. Decrease in ωdenotes strong tendency of a compound to donate charge/electrons. A compound with excellent electron accepting nature is always marked with higher  $\omega$ + value. Generally used parameters for describing electron donor / acceptor character of a compound including ionization potential and electron affinity were significant only when related with complete transfer of electrons/charge between two systems. But this may not be the case always. Sometimes, the interaction between two systems may involve only fractional transfer of electrons/charges. Hence, it was found out that, more accurate explanation about the charge transfer interactions/mechanism between two entities can be provided by means of  $\omega$ + and  $\omega$ - values, other than the conventionally used parameters such as ionization potential and electron affinity [54].  $\omega$ - and  $\omega$ + can be calculated using following equations (8) and (9).

$$\omega^{-} = (3IE + EA)^{2} / 16(IE - EA)$$
 (8)

$$\omega^{+} = (IE + 3EA)^{2} / 16(IE - EA)$$
(9)

Simultaneous representation of electron acceptance and electron donation ability of compounds of interest can be provided by means of Donor Acceptor Map (DAM plot. [24-26]. For constructing this DAM plot, electron accepting index with respect to fluorine (Ra) and electron donating index with respect to Sodium (Rd) were used as the respective parameters [54].

# 5.7.3 Analysis of Computational Results

For computational studies, optimized geometries of all the tested analytes were prepared. Optimized geometries of each nitro aromatic molecule are displayed in Figure 5.27. It is further utilized for obtaining computational perspective of NACs sensing mechanism by computing corresponding global reactive descriptors and thereby to construct Donor Acceptor Map. Observed trend among the NACs is carefully analyzed using the information obtained from aforesaid computational tools so as to frame a solid scientific backup to this sensing strategy.



Figure 5.27 : Optimized geometries of NACs.

### (a) Global reactive parameters of analyte molecules

As mentioned in previous section, structural reactivities of the tested NACs is systematically analysed from the global descriptors of each system. Computed global reactive descriptors for all the NACs are provided in Table 5.4.

No	Compounds	Gap	Ionization Energy	Electron Affinity	Hardness	Softness	Electro Negativity	Chemical Potential	Electrophilicity Index
1	4-CNB	4.71	7.83	3.12	2.36	0.21	5.47	-5.47	6.36
2	4-NBAI	4.80	8.20	3.40	2.40	0.21	5.80	-5.80	7.01
3	4-NBA	4.35	7.94	3.59	2.18	0.23	5.76	-5.76	7.63
4	NB	5.02	7.95	2.92	2.51	0.19	5.43	-5.43	5.88
5	4-NP	4.55	7.29	2.75	2.27	0.22	5.02	-5.02	5.54
6	4-NT	4.81	7.65	2.74	2.41	0.21	5.28	-5.28	5.79
7	4-NA	4.86	7.65	2.79	2.43	0.21	5.22	-5.22	5.62

Table 5.4: Global reactive descriptors (eV) of studied compounds

As evident from the table, introduction of substituent at the para position of nitrobenzene ring decreases the energy gap values of each system, indicating enhanced reactivity of the parental aromatic frame work (NB) due to the electron releasing or electron withdrawing inductive effects of para substituent. This observation was further confirmed by the corresponding softness values (S) of each analyte molecule. Greater the S value, more reactive will be the molecule. It is also noticed that the introduction of para substituent with electron withdrawing nature increases the electron affinity of the corresponding NACs. This observation is true, as such NACs will become good electron acceptors owing to the electron withdrawing para substituent. The corresponding ' $\chi$ ' as well as ' $\omega$ ' values for those NACs also confirms their greater electron accepting ability/ electrophilic character. While considering the case of NACs with electron donating para substituent, electron affinity values corresponding to such systems decrease owing to their electron rich nature so that they need not accept electrons. For them, significant reduction in their ionization values compared to the parent nitro benzene molecule was noticed, further substantiating the commendable electron donating tendency of these NACs. Considerable decrease in the ' $\omega$ ' values of electron donating para substituted NACs compared to the parent nitrobenzene molecule suggests that they are exhibiting nucleophilic character different from remaining set of NACs with electron withdrawing para substituent.

# (b) Donor-Acceptor Map (DAM) of NACs

As mentioned in the previous section, we can simultaneously monitor the electron donating and accepting power of all the tested analytes (NACs) in a single frame by constructing DAM plot of concerned molecules. Electron accepting/ donating abilities of all the NACs can be easily understood by computing electron donating index with respect to Sodium (Rd) and electron accepting index with respect to fluorine (Ra) values and there by plotting corresponding donoracceptor map. Based on this, all the analyte NACs can be categorized in to good, bad and best electron donor/acceptor molecules (Figure 5.28).

![](_page_277_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 5.28 : Donor-Acceptor Map (DAM) plot demonstrating the electron donor and acceptor ability of all the tested NACs.

Based on the table showing global descriptor values, seven NACs can be numbered as 1-7, in which 1, 2, and 3 includes 4-CNB, 4-NBAl, and 4-NBA respectively, electron withdrawing para substituted NACs. Parental aromatic compound NB is designated as 4. Whereas, electron donating para substituted NACs such as 4-NP, 4-NT and 4-NA were denoted as compounds 5,6, and 7 respectively.

According to Figure 5.28, compounds 1-4 can serve as good electron acceptor, whereas NACs 5-7 can act as good electron donors. This observation further substantiates the proposed mechanistic route of NACs monitoring. Hence, owing to the presence of electron withdrawing substituent, analytes 1-4 become electron deficient which in turn tunes them good electron acceptors. These four NACs follow the electron acceptance ability order 4-CNB > 4-NBAl>4-NBA > NB. For the remaining class of NACs, i.e, NACs with electron releasing para substituent, order of electron acceptance ability on account of the electron rich nature of these analytes will be as follows 4-NP>4-NT> 4-NA.

Thus, based on the combined effect of computed global descriptors and DAM analysis findings, reactivity of all these seven NACs follows the order 4-NA>4-NT≈4-NP>NB>4-NBA>4-NBA1≈4-CNB, as displayed in Figure 5.29. Hence, computational analysis results also corroborate well with the observed experimental trend in sensing NACs.

![](_page_278_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 5.29: Activity order of NACs combining the value of global descriptive parameters and the DAM analysis results.

# 5.7.4 Summary and Highlights

Fluorescence intensity of TS-CDs was found to be quenched in presence of a set of nitro aromatic compounds having nitrobenzene parental frame works. TS-CDs solution could sense Nitro benzene (NB),4- Chloro Nitro Benzene (4-CNB), 4-Nitro benzoic acid (4-NBA), 4-Nitro benzaldehyde (4-NBAl), 4-Nitro Phenol (4-NP), 4-Nitro Toluene (4-NT) and 4-Nitro Aniline (4-NA). System offers femtomolar molar level tracing of all the NACs with excellent selectivity and sensitivity. Selectivity/ reactivity of NACs towards the luminescence quenching of carbon dot solution follows the

4-NA>4-NT>4-NP>NB>4-NBA>4-NBAl>4-CNB. order plausible mechanism for explaining the sensing action is suggested. According to the suggested mechanism, presence of para substituted electron withdrawing functional groups (in 4-CNB, 4-NBA and 4-NBA) reduces the  $\pi$  cloud availability of NACs ,whereas electron releasing para substituent enhances the electron availability at the  $\pi$  cloud of those NACs (4- NA,4-NT and 4-NP). Hence, electron releasing para substituent imparts more reactivity to the NACs towards optical response of carbon dot solution. Presence of the most efficient electron releasing para substituent (NH<sub>2</sub> group) makes 4- Nitro Anile (4-NA) as the most sensitive analyte among the selected Similarly, most efficient electron withdrawing molecules. group (Cl group) makes 4- Chloro Nitro Benzene (4-CNB) as the least responding NACs among the seven analytes. In addition to the sensing assay, we have made a novel attempt to interpret the sensing action through computational perspective. Results were examined and scientifically analyzed by computing global descriptive parameters and Donor Acceptor Map (DAM) method.

![](_page_280_Picture_1.jpeg)

- ✓ First report on sensing a set of nitro aromatic molecules sharing similar parental frame work using a single fluorescent carbon dot system
- ✓ First report on utilization of computational tools including global descriptors and donor-acceptor mapping for analysing the sensing action of carbon dot system.
- ✓ Suggestion of a plausible mechanism for explaining the observed sensing trend.

#### 5.8 References

- 1. P. B.Tchounwou, W. K.Ayensu, N.Ninashvili , D.Sutton, Environmental Exposure to Mercury and its Toxico-Pathologic Implications to Public Health, *Environmental Toxicology*, 2003,18, 149.
- 2. T.W. Clarkson, The toxicology of mercury, Crit. Rev. Clin. Lab. Sci. 34 (1997)369–403.
- 3. W. Zheng, M. Aschner, J.F. Ghersi- Egea, Brain barrier systems: a new frontier in metal neuro-toxicological research, Appl. Pharmacol. 192 (2009) 1–11.
- 4. W. L.Clevenger, B. W.Smith and J. D.Winefordner, Trace Determination of Mercury: A Review, *Crit. Rev. in Anal. Chem.*, 1997, 27, 1-26.
- 5. L.R. Goldman, M.W. Shannon, Technical report: mercury in the environment: implications for paediatricians, J. Pediatr. 108 (2001) 197–205.
- 6. P. Holmes, K.A. James, L.S. Levy, Is low-level environmental mercury exposure of concern to human health? Sci. Total Environ. 408 (2009) 171–182.
- A. Singh, S. Kaur, N. Singh, N. Kaur, Fluorometric sensing of Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions in aqueous medium by nano-aggregates of a tripodal receptor, *Org. Biomol. Chem.*, 2014, 12, 2302
- 8. S. H.Lee, A.Parthasarathy and K. S. Schanze, A Sensitive and Selective Mercury(II) Sensor Based on Amplified Fluorescence Quenching in a Conjugated Polyelectrolyte/Spiro-Cyclic Rhodamine System,*Macromol. Rapid Commun.* 2013, 34, 791.
- N. De Acha, C.Elosúa, J.M.Corres, F.J. Arregui, Fluorescent Sensors for the Detection of Heavy Metal Ions in Aqueous Media. Sensors (Basel). 2019 Jan 31;19(3):599. doi: 10.3390/s19030599
- 10. Y. Bhattacharjee, A. Chakraborty, A label-free cysteaminecapped silver nanoparticle-based colorimetric assay for Hg(II)

detection in water with subnanomolar exactitude, ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2 (2014) 2149–2154.

- 11. D. Liu, W. Qu, W. Chen, W. Zhang, Z. Wang, X. Jiang, Highly sensitive, colorimetric detection of mercury(II) in aqueous media by quaternary ammonium group-capped gold nanoparticles at room temperature, Anal. Chem. 82 (2010) 9606–9610.
- 12. D. Maity, A. Kumar, R. Gunupuru, P. Paul, Colorimetric detection of mercury(II) in aqueous media with high selectivity using calixarene functionalized gold nanoparticles, Colloids Surf. A: Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 455(2014) 122–128.
- 13. L. Li, D. Feng, X. Fang, X. Han, Y. Zhang, Visual sensing of Hg<sup>2+</sup> using unmodified Au @Ag core-shell nanoparticles, Nanostruct. Chem. 4 (2014)117,https://doi.org/10.1007/s40097-014-0117-y.
- M. Anju, N.K. Renuka, Graphene-rhodamine nanoprobe for colorimetric and fluorimetric Hg<sup>2+</sup> ion assay, Appl. Mater. Interfaces 8 (2016) 14125–14132
- Y.K. Yang, K.J. Yook, J. Tae, A Rhodamine-Based Fluorescent and Colorimetric Chemodosimeter for the Rapid Detection of Hg<sup>2+</sup> Ions in Aqueous Media, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 127 (2005) 16760.
- G.H.Chen, W.Y.Chen, Y.C.Yen, C.W.Wang, H.T.Chang, C.F.Chen, DetectionofMercury(II)ionsusingcolorimetricgoldnanoparticles onpaper-basedanalytical devices, Anal. Chem. 86 (2014)6843– 6849.
- 17. B. Silwana, C. Van Der Horst, E. Iwuoha, V. Somerset, Amperometric determination of cadmium, lead, and mercury metal ions using a novel polymer immobilised horseradish peroxidase biosensor system, J. Environ. Sci. Health A Tox Hazard Subst. Environ. Eng. 49 (13) (2014) 1501–1511.
- W. Chansuvarn, A. Imyim, Visual and colorimetric detection of mercury(II) ion using gold nanoparticles stabilized with a dithia-diaza ligand, A. Microchim Acta 176 (2012) 57–64

- 19. A. Shirzadmehr, Afkhami, T. Madrakian, A new nano-composite potentiometric sensor containing an Hg<sup>2+</sup>-ion imprinted polymer for the trace determination of mercury ions in different matrices, J. Mol. Liq. 204 (2015) 227–235.
- W. Lu, X. Qin, S. Liu, G. Chang, Y. Zhang, M.A. Luo, O. Abdullah, Abdulrahman Aly, X. Sun, Economical, green synthesis of fluorescent carbon nanoparticles and their use as probes for sensitive and selective detection of mercury(II) ions, Anal. Chem.84 (2012) 5351–5357.
- M.A. Armas, R. María-Hormigos, A. Cantalapiedra, M.J. Gismera, M.T. Sevilla, J.R. Procopio, Multiparametric optimization of a new high-sensitive and disposable mercury (II) electrochemical sensor, Anal. Chim. Acta 904 (2016) 76– 82.
- T. Somé, A.K. Sakira, D. Mertens, S.N. Ronkart, J.-M. Kauffmann, Determination of groundwater mercury (II) content using a disposable gold modified screen printed carbon electrode, Talanta 152 (2016) 335–340.
- 23. X.Cui, L. Zhu, J.Wu, Y. Hou, P. Wang, Z.Wang, Z and M. Yang, A fluorescent biosensor based on carbon dots-labeled oligodeoxyribonucleotide and graphene oxide for mercury (II) detection, *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 2015, 63, 506.
- T. Zhang, Z. Cheng, Y.Wang, Z. Li, C. Wang, Y. Li and Y. Fang, Self-assembled 1-octadecanethiol monolayers on graphene for mercury detection, *Nano Lett.* 2010, 10, 4738.
- 25. J.H.An, S.J Park, O.S. Kwon, J. Bae, J. Jang, Highperformance flexible graphene aptasensor for mercury detection in mussels,*ACS Nano*, 2013, 7, 10563-10571.
- X.F. Zhang, F. Li, Interaction of graphene with excited and ground state Rhodamine revealed by steady state and time resolved fluorescence, J. Photochem. Photobiol.A. 246 (2012) 8–15.
- 27. D.Yoo, Y. Park, B. Cheon, M.H. Park, Carbon Dots as an Effective Fluorescent Sensing Platform for Metal Ion

Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for Sensing Applications

Detection, Nanoscale Res. Lett., 14 (2019) 272 https://doi.org/10.1186/s11671-019-3088-6

- 28. Y. Guo, L. Zhang, F. Cao, Y. Leng, Thermal treatment of hair for the synthesis of sustainable carbon quantum dots and the applications for sensing Hg<sup>2+</sup>,Sci. Rep., 6 (2016) 35795
- H. Gonçalves, P.A.S. Jorge, J.R.A Fernandes, J.C.G. Esteves da Silva, Hg(II) sensing based on functionalized carbon dots obtained by direct laser ablation, Sens. Actuators. B.,145 ( 2010) 702-707
- R. H. Liu, H. T. Li, W. Q. Kong, J.Liu, Y.Liu, C. Tong, X. Zhang, Ultra-sensitive and selective Hg<sup>2+</sup>detection based on fluorescent carbon dots, Mater. Res. Bull.,48 (2013) 2529–2534
- R. Zhang, W. Chen, Nitrogen-doped carbon quantumdots: facile synthesis and application as a 'turn-off' fluorescent probe for detection of Hg<sup>2+</sup>ions, Biosens.Bioelectron, 55 (2014) 83– 90
- 32. D. Mansell, N. Rattray, L.L. Etchells, C.H. Schwalbe, A.J. Blake, E.,V. Bichenkova, R.A. Bryce, C. Barker, A. Díaz, C. Kremer, S. Freeman, Conformational analysis of the natural iron chelator myo-inositol 1,2,3-trisphosphate using a pyrene-based fluorescent mimic, Chem. Commun. 41 (2008) 5161–5163.
- S.J. Almutairi, M.J. Guillaudeu, S. Berezin, S. Achilefu, J.M.J. Fréchet,Biodegradable pH-sensing dendritic nanoprobes for near-infrared fluorescence lifetime and intensity imaging, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130 (2008) 444–445.
- 34. M. Merzlyakov, E. Li, R. Casas, K. Hristova, Spectral Förster resonance energy transfer detection of protein interactions in surface-supported bilayers, Langmuir 22 (2006) 6986–6992.
- 35. C.P. Hsu, Z. Hejazi, E. Armagan, S. Zhao, M. Schmid, H. Zhang, H. Guo, L. Weidenbacher, R. M. Rossi, M. M. Koebel, L. F. Boesel, C. Toncelli, Carbon Dots and Fluorescein: The Ideal FRET Pair for the Fabrication of a Precise and Fully

Reversible Ammonia Sensor, Eurosensors. Proceedings, 2017, 1, 488; doi: 10.3390/proceedings10404.

- 36. Z. Myslak, J.K. Piotrowski, E. Musialowicz, Acute nitrobenzene poisoning, *Arch. Toxicol.* 28 (1971)208-213
- 37. A.F. Rosemarie. Toxicity summary for nitrobenzene (Online).http'Jwww.risk.lsd.ornl.gov/tox/profiles/nitrobenzenef-Vl .shtml (March, 1993), Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN.
- 38. D.S. Chongtham, J. Phurailatpam, M.M. Singh, and T.R. Singh.Methaemoglobinemia in nitrobenzene poisoning--A case report.*J. Indian. Med. Assoc.* 97:469-470 (1999).
- 39. J.K. Piotrowski. Further investigations on the evaluation of exposure **to** nitrobenzene. *Br. J. Ind. Med.* 24:60-67 (1967).
- 40. G. Gupta, B. Poddar, M. Salaria, and V. Parmar. Acute nitrobenzene poisoning. *Indian Pediatr*. 37 (2000) 1147-1148
- P. K. Arora, H. Bae, Toxicity and Microbial Degradation of Nitrobenzene, Monochloronitrobenzenes, Polynitro benzenes, and Pentachloro nitrobenzene, J. Chem, 2014, Article ID 265140, <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/265140</u>
- 42. D.C. Young, Computational Chemistry: a Practical Guide for ApplyingTechniques to Real-World Problems, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2001.
- 43. Chengteh Lee, Weitao Yang, Robert G. Parr, Development of the Colle- Salvetticorrelation-energy formula into a functional of the electron density, Phys.Rev. B 37 (1988) 785–789.
- 44. A.D. Becke, Density-functional thermo chemistry. III. The role of exact exchange, J.Phys. Chem. 98 (1993) 5648–5652.
- M.J. Frisch, G.W. Trucks, H.B. Schlegel, G.E. Scuseria, M.A. Robb, J.R. Cheeseman, G. Scalmani, V. Barone, B. Mennucci, G.A. Petersson, H. Nakatsuji, M. Caricato, X. Li, H.P. Hratchian, A.F. Izmaylov, J. Bloino, G. Zheng, J.L. Sonnenberg, M. Hada, M. Ehara, K. Toyota, R. Fukuda, J.

Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for Sensing Applications

Hasegawa, M. Ishida, T. Nakajima, Y. Honda, O. Kitao, H. Nakai, T. Vreven, J.A. Montgomery, Jr., J.E. Peralta, F. Ogliaro, M. Bearpark, J.J. Heyd, E. Brothers, K.N. Kudin, V.N. Staroverov, R. Kobayashi, J. Normand, K. Raghavachari, A. Rendell, J.C. Burant, S.S. Iyengar, J. Tomasi, M. Cossi, N. Rega, J.M. Millam, M. Klene, J.E. Knox, J.B. Cross, V. Bakken, C. Adamo, J. Jaramillo, R. Gomperts, R.E. Stratmann, O. Yazyev, A.J. Austin, R. Cammi, C. Pomelli, J. Ochterski, R.L. Martin, K. Morokuma, V.G. Zakrzewski, G.A. Voth, P. Salvador, J.J. Dannenberg, S. Dapprich, A.D. Daniels, O. Farkas, J.B. Foresman, J. V. Ortiz, J. Cioslowski, J., D.Fox, GAUSSIAN 09 (Revision A.2) Gaussian, Inc., Wallingford, CT, (2009).

- A. Martinez, Donator acceptor map and work function for linear polyene-conjugated molecules A, J. Phys. Chem. B 113 (2009) 3212–3217.
- 47. A. Martinez, Donator acceptor map of psittacofulvins and anthocyanins: are they good antioxidant substances? J. Phys. Chem. B 113 (2009) 4915–4921.
- 48. A. Martinez, R.G. Miguel, A.A. Barbosa, M. Costas, Donator acceptor map for carotenoids, melatonin and vitamins, J. Phys. Chem. A 112 (2008) 9037–9042.
- K.K Srivastava, S.Srivastava, M.TanweerAlam, Rituraj, Theoretical studies on the site reactivity of picric acid, ISSN 2348 – 0319 Int. J. Innov. Appl. Res.2 (2014) 19–34.
- 50. R. Kar, K.R.S. Chandrakumar, S. Pal, The influence of electric field on the global and local reactivity descriptors: reactivity and stability of weakly bonded complexes, J. Phys. Chem. A 111 (2007) 375–383.
- 51. R. Parr, W. Yang, Density-functional Theory of Atoms and Molecules, oxford University Press, New York, 1989.
- 52. K. Sadasivam, R. Kumaresan, Antioxidant behavior of mearnsetin andmyricetin flavonoid compounds—a DFT study,

Spectrochim. Acta Part A: Mol.Biomol. Spectrosc. 79 (2011) 282–293.

- 53. K.R. Vijisha, K. Muraleedharan, A computational investigation on thestructure, global parameters and antioxidant capacity of a polyphenol, Gallicacid, Food Chem. 220 (2017) 93–99,
- 54. K.R. Vijisha, K. Muraleedharan, Antiradical Properties of Some Polyphenolsand Gallic Acid: a Compiutational Study, Lambert academic publishing,Germany, 2017.
## Chapter 6

## TABLE SUGAR DERIVED CARBON DOT AS A GREEN REDUCING AGENT

6.1	Introduction
6.1.1	Usage of Alternative Non-Toxic/ Less Hazardous Reagents During
	Chemical Synthesis
6.2	References
Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Extraction of Bulk Silver	
6.3	Introduction
6.3.1	Experimental
6.3.2	Summary and Highlights
Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Instantaneous Synthesis of Gold	
Nano Particles	
6.4	Introduction
6.4.1	Experimental
6.4.2	Summary and Highlights
6.5	References



This chapter presents the excellent reducing nature of TSCDs. Owing to their bio-compatibility and non-toxic nature, TSCDs can serve as a promising green alternative for conventionally used hazardous reducing agents. Commendable reducing ability of the system is manifested through the effortless extraction of metallic silver form silver salt solution as well as by the instantaneous preparation of gold nano particles from chloroauric acid.

### 6.1 Introduction

Various authorised environmental organizations/pollution prevention bodies including United States Environmental Protection Agency stated that intense chemical reactions by both academical and industrial institutions result in dumping of enormous amounts of hazardous materials in to the environment, which may become fatal to the existence of life on earth. Hence, regardless of the enthralling profits gained by these chemical reactions, the aforementioned safety/security concern encouraged the whole world to reduce such experimental efforts and frame some environmentally compatible chemical formulae for the future practices. This intense urge for such an eco-friendly reaction scheme ensuring sustainability, safety as well as economic viability successfully ends up with the emergence of a highly promising transformative chemical synthesis strategy, "Green Chemistry". This concept of green chemistry, the careful utilization of fundamental sciences for the well-being of mankind, the environment as well as economy, was initially originated as a response to the wellknown pollution prevention Act on 1990. According to this significant pollution control act, one nation should follow a policy that strictly eliminate contamination/ pollution of ecosystem by practising improved synthesis design comprising cost-effective alterations in final products, reaction method, raw materials, reagents and postpurification methods instead of seeking help for waste management and removal after a chemical reaction. Eventually, U.S government strictly proclaimed the aforesaid benign reaction strategy as "green chemistry [1]. From this nascent phase of development, this widely focused area flourished like anything owing to the relevance of the projected principles as well as the reliability of previous research efforts. Since from the implementation of this concept in 90's, the augmented pulse of green chemistry continued to grab attention even in the middle of 20's too. Wide acceptance to the concept and practices of this benign science was obvious from the citation for 2005 Chemistry Nobel prize to great scientists Chauvin, Schorck and Grubbs as an honour to their work "a great step forward for green chemistry".

It was in 1998, Paul T. Anastas and J.C Warner formulated 12 principles, that served as the core factor for understanding and worldwide implementation of the concept of green chemistry [2]. In general, by definition, green chemistry involves the utilization of these 12 principles for reducing/eliminating the usage/ generation of hazardous materials during the designing, manufacturing and application of chemical products. These 12 principles strictly insist the implementation of following ideas in to the conventional chemical synthesis strategy;

- 1. Prevention to waste/by-products formation
- 2. Conserve Atom Economy
- 3. Synthesis of less hazardous chemical products
- 4. Designing of safer/bio-compatible chemicals
- 5. Usage of safer/non-toxic reagents and auxiliary substances
- 6. Designing of energy efficiency methods
- 7. Usage of renewable feedstock
- 8. Strictly reduce derivative formation
- 9. Promote catalysis

- 10. Designing of degradation
- 11. Practice real-time pollution prevention
- 12. Practice safer chemistry for accident prevention

Scientists, Paul T Anastas and Evan S. Beach presented a review report in 2007, discussing sampling of research achievements for last 20 years of practices, involving progress in synthetic efficiency, utilization of alternative synthetic methods/ less hazardous reagents (auxiliary substances) as well as advancement in sustainable developments [3]. Through this aforementioned review report, they expressed their anxiety towards the future of green chemistry by stating that "*The future of green chemistry will depend on innovations that consolidate and integrate these achievements that have been made, using all Twelve Principles as a framework for intentional design*".



Figure 6.1: Core concepts of Green Chemistry (images collected from various internet sources)

## 6.1.1 Usage of Alternative Non-Toxic/ Less Hazardous Reagents During Chemical Synthesis

As mentioned in the previous section, implementation of green practices in chemical reactions for eliminating or reducing the usage of hazardous chemicals has become a pressing requirement of high priority for sustainable living and healthy life. Literature indicates numerous efforts in this direction, involving successful replacement of every toxic/hazardous chemical reagent by an alternative, less toxic one, for maintaining the aforesaid green protocol. Majority of the chemical reactions involve the utilization of certain common reagents/solvents including fuming acids/various halogenated organic compounds/ highly volatile petroleum based compounds/ aromatic compounds etc,. For keeping green and safer synthesis protocol, these conventional hazardous reagents were found to be frequently replaced by various harmless/mild reagents such as glycerol, mild esters (ethyl acetate) and most desirably by water [4]. Apart from the usage of alternative innocuous reagents/ solvents, scientists completely assure harmless and safe reaction strategy by practising Ionic-liquid mediated organic reactions as well as liquid phase supported synthesis and most preferably water based reactions.

### (a) A glance in to the world of green reducing agents

Design and applications of metal nanoparticles have caught immense attention owing to the unique and interesting features possessed by nano sized metal particles compared to their macro-scaled counterparts [5]. Most of the metal nanoparticles with promising applications were

synthesised by adopting various chemical reaction methods involving conditions such utilization of harsh chemical as strong reducing/stabilizing agents as well as toxic solvents. In addition, conventional reducing conditions in metal nano particle synthesis are often associated with the usage of expensive metal catalysts such as Pt and Pd. All these aforesaid factors necessitate ceaseless attempts to green up the reduction process by introducing more effective and benign/bio-compatible reducing agents which are also cost-effective by nature. Metal nanoparticle synthesis via green chemistry assisted reducing reactions induces less harmful effects on the ecosystem and human health than that of chemically derived systems. Hence, research community has extensively devoted their time and skill for building eco-friendly criteria to yield promising metal nano particles by means of environmental benign reducing as well as capping agents in greener solvents via highly facile and cheaper route [6-9]. Generally, different microbial systems (bacteria, algae, fungi, yeasts etc.,), plants and several plants parts (flower, bark, seed, stem, leaf etc,.), leaf extracts, natural polymers, amino acids, vitamins and proteins/enzymes were utilized as bio-reducing agents for making various metal nanoparticles [5]. Among these green methods, utilization of plants (plant origin)/ leaf extracts and micro-organisms are found to be the best choices as green reducing agents on account of their non-toxicity, reaction efficiency as well as cost-effectiveness, compared to their conventional chemical rivals. Scientists utilized wide range of bacteria including Bacillus subtilis, Escherichia coli, Bacillus mycoides, Enterococcus sp, Bacillus methylotrophicus, Bacillus cereus, Bacillus sp, Lactobacillus

acidophilus, Bacillus licheniformis and Bacillus flexus as microbial agents for obtaining promising nanoparticles including Au, Ag, TiO2, ZnO, CdS etc., Fungi such as Aspergillus sp., Aspergillus niger, Hypocrea lixii ,Penicillium sp., Fusarium sp ., Trichoderma sp., Phaenerochaete Verticillium sp. and Trichothecium sp. were widely utilized as microbial sources for metal nanoparticle synthesis. Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Yarrowia lipolytica, Candida sp., Saccharomyces boulardii. Rhodotorula Schwanniomvces sp. occidentalis and Pichia pastoris were the widely utilized yeast as a microbial sources for producing various metal nano particles[5]. On the basis of various characterization results, presence of reductase enzymes, various ploysaccharide units, reducing enzymes and proteins etc, within these aforementioned micro-organisms were believed to be the inherent reducing units that mould them as promising microbial sources for metal nano particle.

Recently, plants and different plant organs were extensively utilized for fabricating metal nano structures with promising applications, owing to various advantages offered by this method over microorganism assisted synthesis. Plant derived syntheses were extensively marked with various benefits such as the enhancement in the reaction rate, improved monodispersity, increased product stability and moreover facile experimental procedures. Commendable reducing ability associated with plants and plant derived materials ( organs and is corroborated with the abundantly available reactive extracts) such as polyphenols, terpenoids, flavanoids. components polysaccharides, proteins, carbonyl, hydroxyl, carboxylate, amino groups ,amino acids and reducing sugars within their structure.Metal

nanoparticles including Au, Ag, Cu, Pd, Cu, Ni, Fe, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, CuO etc, with interesting features were prepared from various plants and plant derived green sources such as Hibiscus rosa sinensis (leaf extract), Mimosa pudica (leaf/stem/root extracts) Green tea Vitis californica (leaf extract) Daucus carota extract Olive (leaf extract) Camellia sinensis (leaf extract) Heliotropium indicum (leaf extract) Barberry (fruit extract) Euphorbia wallichii (leaf extract), lemon grass (leaf extract) .Ocimum sanctum (leafextract) Citrus sinensis. Citrusreticulate, Citrus aurantifolia (peel extract), Morinda morindoides (leaf extract) Eucalyptus (leaf extract), Euphorbia thymifolia L. (leaf extract), Cavendish banana peel extract, Abutilon hirtum (leaf extract), Arachis hypogaea *(leaf extract)*, Silybum marianum L. (seedextract), Ginkgo biloba L. (leaf extract) etc., [5]. Figure 6.2 provides statistical estimate of the widely used green sources for metal nanoparticle synthesis.



Figure 6.2: Statistical representation of widely used green reducing/capping agents (data collected via literature survey)

This area of metal nanoparticle synthesis using various plant extracts and plant derived materials is still under exploration. Regardless of this extensive green synthesis using plants and micro-organisms, many issues remain unresolved, especially related to the exact functional group/ chemical origin responsible for the observed bio-reduction ability. The precise mechanism involved in the reduction process is also thus under shadow. Detailed literature survey conducted in this regard also ends up with the absence of scientifically acceptable specification for this bio-synthesis, though it is still remaining as the most interesting and relevant practice to metal nanoparticles. The phytochemical compositions may differ according to seasons and locations, which strictly demands the identification of secondary metabolites of plants (chemical components) for further progression of biosynthesis of promising metal nanoparticles.

### (b) Previous efforts involving carbon dots as green reducing agent.

As the previous results of biosynthesised metal nanoparticles using the aforesaid plants, microbials and several other potent green sources (vitamins, amino acids, proteins etc,.) strongly substantiates the instrumental role of various oxygen bearing functionalities, scientists made extensive research on the reducing ability of fluorescent carbon dots enriched with oxygen containing surface functionalities. The role of these fluorescent carbon nanoparticles as a reducing agent is less explored area compared to the widely exploited fields such as sensing, bio-imaging etc. However, some interesting works are there in literature, discussing their successful application as potent green agent

for the production of metal nanoparticles with promising applications. Many of the works successfully correlate the observed reducing power with the presence of various oxygen containing surface groups of fluorescent carbon dots [10-19]. Research report by Masoud et al., scientifically back up the suggestion that hydroxyl functionalities on carbon dot structure are the sole source for the conversion of Fe<sup>3+</sup> ions into Fe<sup>2+</sup>, which then simultaneously converted into carbonyl groups (C=O) [20]. Very recently, Ghosal and colleagues also substantiated the crucial role of surface functionalities (hydroxyl and carboxyl) for the formation of silver nano particles (reduction of  $Ag^+$  to  $Ag^0$  nano particles) [21]. Reducing ability of fluorescent carbon dots were also effectively utilized for synthesising gold nano particles with commendable features [22-24]. Research work by Wang's group presented successful formation of gold nanoparticles from chloroauric acid using highly reducing carbon dots, in presence of reducing agent NaBH<sub>4</sub> [24]. This report substantiates the crucial role of excess amount of hydroxyl (-OH) surface functionalities in imparting this excellent reducing ability to the system.

In this context, owing to the presence of abundantly available oxygen bearing surface functionalities as confirmed through adequate characterization techniques (chapter 3), it is highly desirable to inspect the reducing property of the present carbon dots. Surprisingly, the assynthesised carbon dot solution offers excellent reducing ability while attempting metal nanoparticle synthesis. Environmentally friendly as well as economically viable synthesis route along with the commendable bio-compatibility further highlight the credibility of the TS-CDs as a promising green alternative to the conventionally used chemically derived hazardous reducing reagents such as hydrazine, sodium borohydride etc,. Herein, we could successfully demonstrate the excellent reducing nature of this benign system (TS-CDs) via two significant reduction reactions ;

- I. Successful extraction of bulk metallic silver from Ag (I) solution.
- II. Instantaneous preparation of gold nanoparticles from Chloroauric acid.

### 6.2 References

- 1. US Environmental Protection Agency, web.epa.gov/opptintr/greechemistry/educat.htm
- 2. P.T. Anastas, J.C. Warner, In Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice; Oxford University Press: Oxford, 1998
- 3. P. T. Anastas , E.S. Beach, Green chemistry: the emergence of a transformative framework, Green Chemistry Letters and Reviews, 1:1 (2007) 9-24
- S. S. Makone, S.N Niwadange, Green Chemistry Alternatives for Sustainable Development in Organic Synthesis, IARJSET., 6 (2016) 2394
- 5. Z. Vaseghi, A. Nematollahzadeh, O. Tavakoli, Green methods for the synthesis of metal nanoparticles using biogenic reducing agents: a review, Rev Chem Eng., (2017) 10.1515/revce-2017-0005
- 6. P. Raveendran, J. Fu, S.L. Wallen, Completely "green" synthesis and stabilization of metal nanoparticles. J Am Chem Soc., 125 (2003) 13940–13941
- Velmurugan P, Iydroose M, Mohideen MHAK, Mohan TS, Cho M, Oh B-T. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Bacillus subtilis* EWP-46 cell-free extract and evaluation of its antibacterialactivity. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 2014; 37: 1527– 1534
- 8. J. Xie, J.Y. Lee, D.I. Wang, Y.P.Ting, Identification of active biomolecules in the high-yield synthesis of single-crystalline gold nanoplates in algal solutions, Small.,3 (2007) 672–682.
- 9. P. Mukherjee, A. Ahmad, D.Mandal, S. Senapati, S.R. Sainkar, M.I. Kha, R. Ramani, R. Parischa, P. Ajayakumar, M. Alam, Bioreduction ofAuCl<sup>4-</sup> ions by the fungus, *Verticillium* sp. and surface trapping of the gold nanoparticles formed. Angew Chem Int Ed., 40 (2001) 3585–3588

- L.M. Shen, Q. Chen, Z.-Y. Sun, X.-W. Chen, J.-H. Wang, Assay of biothiols by regulating the growth of silver nanoparticles with C-Dots as reducing agent, Anal. Chem., 86 (2014) 5002–5008
- Y. Choi, G. H. Ryu, S. H. Min, B. R. Lee, M. H. Song, Z. Lee, B.S. Kim, Interface-Controlled Synthesis of Heterodimeric Silver-Carbon Nanoparticles Derived from Polysaccharides, ACS Nano., 8 (2014) 11377–11385
- 12. J.C. Jin, , Z.Q. Xu, P. Dong, L. Lai, J.Y. Lan, F.L. Jiang, Y. Liu, One-step synthesis of silver nanoparticles using carbon dots as reducing and stabilizing agents and their antibacterial mechanisms, Carbon. ,94 (2015) 129-141
- T. Liu, J. X. Dong, S.G. Liu, N. Li, S. M.Lin, Y. Z. Fan, J.L. Lei, H. Q Luo, N. B. Li, Carbon quantum dots prepared with polyethyleneimine as both reducing agent and stabilizer for synthesis of Ag/CQDs composite for Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions detection, J. Hazard. Mater. 15 (2017) 430-436
- J.C. Jin, B.B. Wang, Z.Q. Xu, X.H. He, H.F.Zou, Q.Q.Yang, F.L. Jiang, Y. Liu, A Novel Method for the Detection of Silver Ions with Carbon Dots: Excellent Selectivity, Fast Response, Low Detection Limit and Good Applicability, Sens. Actuators B5 (2018) 627-635
- J. Jin, Z. Xu, H. Zou, Z. Zhou, Q. Yang, B. Wang, F. Jiang and Y. Liu, Carbon dots reduced and stabilized silver nanoclusters: synthesis and formation mechanisms, *RSC Adv.* 80 (2016) 76989–76995
- Y. Zhuo, D. Zhong, H. Miao, X. Yang, Reduced carbon dots employed for synthesizing metal nanoclusters and nanoparticles, RSC Adv., 5 (2015) 32669-32674
- 17. L. Shen, M. Chen, L. Hu, X. Chen and J. Wang, Growth and Stabilization of Silver Nanoparticles on Carbon Dots and Sensing Application, Langmuir.29 (2013) 16135–16140
- 18. M. M. Liu and W. Chen, Green Synthesis of Silver Nanoclusters Supported on Carbon Nanodots: Enhanced Photo-

luminescence and High Catalytic Activity for Oxygen Reduction Reaction, Nanoscale. 5 (2013) 12558–12564

- H. Choi, S. J. Ko, Y. Choi, P. Joo, T. Kim, B. R. Lee, J. W. Jung, H. J. Choi, M. Cha, J. R. Jeong, I.-W. Hwang, M. H. Song, B.-S. Kim and J. Y. Kim, Versatile Surface Plasmon Resonance of Carbon-Dot-Supported Silver Nanoparticles in Polymer Optoelectronic Devices, Nat. Photonics. 7 (2013) 732–738.
- M. Shariati-Rad,T.Mohseninasab, F. Parno, Application of response surface methodology and green carbon dots as reducing agents in speciation of iron, RSC Adv.8 (2018) 2173– 2180
- K. Ghosal, S. Ghosh, D. Ghosh, et al., Natural polysaccharide derived carbon dot based in situ facile green synthesis of silver nanoparticles: Synergistic effect on breast cancer, Int. J. Biol. Macromol 162 (2020) 1605-1615
- T. Nozaki, T. Kakuda, Y. B. Pottathara H. Kawasaki, A nanocomposite of N-doped carbon dots with gold nanoparticles for visible light active photosensitisers Photochem. Photobiol.Sci. 18 (2019)1235-1241
- S. Ghosh, S.S. Satapathy, K. Ghosh, S. Jauhari, S. K. Panda, S. Si, Carbon Dots Assisted Synthesis of Gold Nanoparticles and Their Catalytic Activity in 4-Nitrophenol Reduction, Chemistry Select. 4 (2019) 3416 –3422
- 24. X. Wang, Y. Long, Q. Wang, H. Zhang, X. Huang, R. Zhu, P. Teng, L. Liang, H. Zheng, Reduced state carbon dots as both reductant and stabilizer for the synthesis of gold nanoparticles, C A R B O N., 64 (2013) 499-506

### (I) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Extraction of Bulk Silver

### 6.3 Introduction

Herein, table sugar derived carbon dots serve as an excellent benign reducing agent/medium for the bulk production of very precious and shiny metal, silver via a very facile procedure. Several experimental efforts were reported earlier for the bulk production/extraction of this metal, which is counted as one of the seven metals of antiquity. Metallic silver is grabbing enhanced world-wide interest owing to its multifaceted applications in various fields. Metallic silver generally finds applications in the manufacturing of coins, jewellery, dining wares, wood preservatives, surgical equipments, mirrors, touch screens, water purification, photography and photo-electronic devices etc., This lustrous metal is marked with commendable thermal and Conventionally electrical conductivity. adopted experimental procedures for the bulk preparation of shiny silver involves metallurgical processes, mainly smelting or chemical leaching of silver ores [1]. Other than these conventionally practiced metallurgical operations, electrolytic refining of metallic copper, as well as Parkes process of lead (Pb) metal derived from lead ores, having traces of metallic silver also yield small quantities of metallic silver as a sideproduct. The well-known cyanide process is the widely practiced metallurgical method for the bulk extraction of metallic silver using argentite ore as the starting material [2]. This process is generally

marked with highly tedious multistep procedures to yield pure metallic silver.

The chemistry behind this cyanide process can be summarised as follows.

```
Ag<sub>2</sub>S+4NaCN→2Na [Ag (CN)<sub>2</sub>]+Na<sub>2</sub>S
```

2Na [Ag (CN)<sub>2</sub>]+Zn $\rightarrow$ Na<sub>2</sub>[Zn(CN)<sub>4</sub>]+**2**Ag $\downarrow$ 

The crushed and concentrated argentite  $(Ag_2S)$  ore is first treated with sodium cyanide, that results in the formation of sodium argento cyanide, which upon mixing with Zinc dust yields sodium tetra cyanozincate along with the precipitation of elemental silver, generally termed as spongy silver. This spongy silver is further treated with potassium nitrate to yield pure form of silver metal. The purity of the obtained silver is further ensured by conducting various electrolytic purification processes. Though cyanide process results quantitative extraction of metallic silver from the abundantly available argentite ore, utilization of excess concentration of toxic sodium cyanide as well as the associated tedious purification methods are considered as the major shortcomings of this method.

Hence, an innovative move for the bulk production/ extraction of shiny metallic silver from the precursor salt solution via an effortless strategy is highly solicited. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report on the usage of carbon dots as a reducing platform for the effortless extraction of bulk metallic silver from its salt solution.

### 6.3.1 Experimental

# (a) Extraction of metallic silver using table sugar derived carbon dots

About 5 mL of distilled water is made to boil in a glass vessel. To this hot water, 100  $\mu$ L of 0.05 molar silver nitrate (AgNO<sub>3</sub>) solution is added with constant stirring. The solution thus obtained is then cooled normally to room temperature. While cooling, the solution in the glass vessel turns reddish brown in colour after 15 minutes of standing (Figure 6.3 a). This reddish brown solution turns black after 3 hours (Figure 6.3 b). Interestingly, it was noticed that after 20 hours of storage, inner side of the glass bottle was seen covered with shiny mirror coating (Figure 6.3 c and d), indicating the deposition of metallic silver inside the glass vessel. Digital images of the solution displaying these sequential changes are provided in Figure 6.3. Hence, this method proposes an effortless strategy for the extraction of metallic silver using environmentally benign reducing agent, table sugar derived carbon dots.



Figure 6.3: Digital images of silver salt solution after treating with TS-CDs at different time interval; 15 min (a), 3 h (b), 20 h (c) and glass vessel with silver coating (d).

## (b) Confirming the participation of TS-CDs for silver extraction and excluding the possibility of other reagents in the reduction process

The vital role of TS-CDs for silver reduction, thereby resulting in metalic silver deposition is systematically verified by treating the precursosr salt solution (AgNO<sub>3</sub>) with the possible intermediate moieties, starting from pure table sugar. For this, parallel experiments are conducted by altering the reagent, maintaining all the experimental conditions same. Results corresponding to each experiment in this regard are shown in the digital images (Figure 6.4) which is monitored after 3 days.

### (i) Normal table sugar <u>solution</u>



Images of test solution (normal table sugar solution+ hot water+ AgNO<sub>3</sub> solution) before (a) and after 72 hours (b)

### (ii) Caramelized table sugar solution



Images of test solution (caramelized table sugar solution + hot water + Ag NO<sub>3</sub> solution) before (a) and after 72 hours (b)



Images of test solution (caramelized table sugar with ammonia + hot water + Ag NO<sub>3</sub> solution) before (a) and after 72 hours (b)

(iv) Table sugar derived carbon dots



Images of test solution (caramelized table sugar solution with ammonia after microwave treatment; TS-CDs, as confirmed from the luminescence + hot water + Ag NO<sub>3</sub> solution) before (a) and after 72 hours (b)

## Figure 6.4: Digital images confirming the crucial role of TS-CDs for the reduction of Ag (I) to Ag (0); metallic silver deposition.

As Figure 6.4 illustrates, introduction of all other reagents into the hot aqueous solution of silver nitrate fails to bring the silver mirror formation/ metallic silver deposition on the glass vessel even after 72 hrs of observation. As Figure 6.4 (iii) indicates, even the addition of caramelized table sugar- ammonia mixture (precursor of TS-CDs) was not able to evoke the reduction process. Only after the formation of TS-CDs, which is verified through the appearance of

photoluminescence, the aforesaid silver extraction/ silver reduction is noted under the prescribed experimental environment. Hence, all these observations confirm the crucial role of fluorescent TS-CDs enriched with oxygen functionalities in realising the reduction reaction.

### 6.3.2 Summary and Highlights

Interestingly, present system was found to serve as an excellent reducing agent for the extraction of precious, lustrous metal, silver via an effortless process. Addition of minute amounts of TS-CDs into the hot aqueous solution of silver nitrate (precursor salt) results successive deposition of metallic silver inside the walls of glass vessel, confirming by the formation of shiny silver mirror coating after 20 hours of observation. Crucial role of TS-CDs in bringing the Ag (I) to Ag (0) reduction, thereby the silver deposition is systematically investigated and illustrated by various trial and error methods, which excludes the chance for participation of suspected possible intermediate in the reduction.

## (II) Table Sugar Derived Carbon Dots for the Instantaneous Synthesis of Gold Nanoparticles

### 6.4 Introduction

Herein, the reducing ability of present table sugar derived carbon dots is exploited for the instantaneous preparation of gold nanoparticles by means of a benign as well as economic synthesis strategy. Carbon dot solution brings the easy reduction of Au (III) to Au (0) within few seconds, leading to the formation of gold nanoparticles (Au-NPs) of appreciable dimensions and extra-ordinary stability with the aid of trace quantities of bio-compatible stabilizing agent, starch. Thus obtained gold nanoparticle exhibits shelf life of more than 30 days, note-worthy to mention, when compared to previous attempts proceeding through chemically derived reducing agents and stringent experimental conditions. Excellent catalytic property of the prepared gold nanoparticles is illustrated through the hydrogenation of 4nitrophenol to 4-aminophenol.

Though, literature unveils numerous efforts for fabricating gold nanoparticles using various green/naturally available materials (plant/leaf extracts, biological agents, micro-organisms, natural polymers), utilization of carbon dots to this effect is a rarely discussed area. It is worthy to mention that the precedented research attempts for carbon dot mediated gold nanoparticle formation involves the usage of harsh chemical conditions and prolonged synthesis routes. Most of such attempts demanded long reaction duration for the fabrication of the reagent carbon dots as well as Au (III) reduction (gold nanoparticle formation) [1-4]. Hence, in this context, the introduction of such an extremely benign reducing agent, which could result in instantaneous formation of gold nanoparticles with appreciable features and excellent catalytic activity, is highly note-worthy.

### 6.4.1 Experimental

### (a) Instantaneous preparation of gold nanoparticles (AU-NPs)

About 10 mL of distilled water is subjected to heating at 60° C for 2 minutes. To this hot water, about 50 $\mu$ L of starch solution (0.3 wt%) is added as the capping/stabilizing agent with continuous stirring for preventing aggregation/agglomeration of nanoparticles. 25  $\mu$ L of 0.05M precursor salt solution, Chloroauric acid (HAuCl<sub>4</sub>.3H<sub>2</sub>O), is added to the said solution with constant stirring. About 20  $\mu$ L of the benign reducing agent, table sugar derived carbon dot solution is added slowly to the reaction mixture. Within 10 seconds, the solution turns wine red in colour, indicating the formation of gold nanoparticles (AuNPs). Schematic representation summarizing the TS-CDs assisted gold nanoparticle synthesis is shown in Figure 6.5.



Figure 6.5: Schematic representation of TS-CDs assisted gold nanoparticle (AU-NPs) synthesis.



### (b) Characterization of gold nanoparticles (AU-NPs)

Figure 6.6 : Digital image of wine red coloured gold nano particle solution (a), UV-Visible absorbance curve indicating surface Plasmon resonance (b), HRTEM image of Au-NPs; 200 nm (c), 50 nm (d) 5nm (e) (inset of Figure 6.6( e) contains HRTEM image of Au-NPs under 1 nm resolution), particle size distribution curve (f)

As-synthesised wine red solution (Figure 6.6 a) of nanogold is subjected to various characterization techniques for confirming the formation of gold nanoparticles. UV-Visible absorbance spectrum of the solution (Figure 6.6 b) displays the surface Plasmon absorption band at 527 nm, unique to gold nanoparticles, corroborating well with previous works in this regard. HRTEM images of the solution under different scales of resolutions are provided below in Figure 6.6 (c-e). As evident from Figure 6.6 (e), hexagonal bi-pyramidal faceted gold nanoparticles is formed by the reducing action of table sugar derived carbon dot solution. The average particle size of gold nanoparticles is estimated as 8.3 nm, using the histogram plot of particle distribution (Image J software, version; 152-win-java8) (Figure 6.6 f).

### (c) Investigating Catalytic Efficiency of Gold Nano Particles-

### Reduction of 4-nitroPhenol (4-NP) to 4-amino Phenol (4-AP)

For ensuring the efficiency of prepared gold nanoparticles, a model catalytic reaction, hydrogenation of 4-nitro phenol (4-NP) to 4-Amino phenol (4-AP) is conducted. 100 µM solution of 4-NP is prepared as the stock solution for conducting the reaction. From this stock solution of 4-NP, about 1.7 mL is taken inside a 3 mL cuvette and is then mixed well with 1 mL of NaBH<sub>4</sub> solution in order to convert nitro phenol into nitrophenolate ion. For ensuring pseudo-first-order kinetics for the reaction, concentration of NaBH<sub>4</sub> was maintained 100 fold excess than that of 4-Nitrophenol solution. Addition of excess amounts of NaBH4 turns the pale yellow coloured 4-NP solution in to bright yellow, confirming the formation of nitrophenolate ion. Corresponding spectral observation is provided below as Figure 6.7. Characteristic UV-Visible absorbance curve of nitrophenolate ion at 400 nm shows sequential decrease in intensity with the addition of 450µL of 1µM Au-NPs solution by maintaining Au-NPs: 4-NP concentration in the ratio 1:15, indicating 4-Nitrophenol reduction process. Introduction of aliquots of gold nanoparticles results decolourisation of bright yellow 4-NP solution (inset of Figure 6.7). Along with the gradual reduction of absorbance at 400 nm, sequential emergence of a new absorbance curve around 298 nm within few minutes of gold nano particle addition is evident in the Figure, corresponding to the absorbance of 4-Amino phenol (4-AP). This observation confirms the successful conversion of 4-NP to in to 4-AP with the addition of Au-NPs. Excellent catalytic activity of the prepared gold nanoparticles in affecting 4-NP reduction is thus assured.



Figure 6.7: Demonstration of catalytic activity of the prepared gold nanoparticles: Catalytic hydrogenation of 4-Nitro phenol to 4-Amino Phenol using Au-NPs - (Reaction temperature: 27 °C)

### 6.4.2 Summary and Highlights

The reducing action of the prepared TS-CDs is also exploited for the instantaneous preparation of efficient gold nanoparticles (Au-NPs) from Au (III). Owing to its excellent reducing ability, carbon dot solution brings gold nanoparticle formation in an almost instantaneous manner, within 10 seconds, highly appreciable compared to previous efforts in this direction. Formation of gold nanoparticle is further confirmed by various characterization analyses. Present system exhibits considerable surface Plasmon absorbance at 527 nm, unique to gold nano systems. Thus obtained gold nanoparticles possess average diameter size of 8.3 nm with hexagonal bi-pyramidal faceted morphology. Catalytic efficiency of the prepared gold nanoparticles is investigated by conducting hydrogenation of 4-Nitrophenol. Gold nanoparticles exhibit commendable catalytic activity in meagre amounts, under milder reaction condition.



- ✓ Identification of TS-CDs as a green reducing agent through the effortless extraction of metallic silver from Ag (I) solution.
- ✓ Instantaneous formation of gold nanoparticles using highly reducible TS-CDs
- ✓ Achievement of gold nanoparticles with commendable catalytic activity
- ✓ Inherent bio-compatibility as well as extremely facile extraction strategy makes the present system as a promising green reducing agent.

In brief, successful extraction of metallic silver as well as instantaneous preparation of gold nanoparticles illustrate the excellent reducing ability of the present TS-CDs

### 6.5 References

- L Almeida, W.J.Bruckard, G.J Sparrow, J.T. Woodcock, Investigation of silver extraction from a silver-sulphur flotation concentrate from the electrolytic zinc plant of CompanhiaParaibuna de Metais, Juiz de Fora, Brazil. In: Mining Latin America / MineríaLatinoamericana. Springer, Dordrecht, (1994), https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-1216-1\_31
- 2. I.P Frazier, C.E Jamison, The extraction of gold and silver from ore by the cyanide process, Bachelors Theses. 216 (1900) https://scholarsmine.mst.edu/bachelors- theses/216
- X. Wang, Y. Long, Q. Wang, H. Zhang, X. Huang, R.Zhu,P. Teng, L. Liang, H. Zheng, Reduced state carbon dots as both reductant and stabilizer for the synthesis of gold nanoparticles., C A R B O N., 64 (2013) 499-506
- 4. S. Ghosh, S.S. Satapathy, K. Ghosh, S. Jauhari, S. K. Panda and S.Si, Carbon Dots Assisted Synthesis of Gold Nanoparticles and Their Catalytic Activity in 4-Nitrophenol Reduction, Chemistry Select., 4 (2019) 3416–3422
- Y. Zhuo, D. Zhong, H. Miao, X. Yang, Reduced carbon dots employed for synthesizing metal nanoclusters and nanoparticles RSC Adv.,5 (2015) 32669-32674
- T. Nozaki, T. Kakuda, Y. B. Pottathara H. Kawasaki A nanocomposite of N-doped carbon dots with gold nanoparticles for visible light active photosensitisers Photochem. Photobiol.Sci., 18 (2019)1235-1241

## **Chapter 7** SUMMARY, HIGHLIGHTS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES OF THE WORK

7.1	Summary of the Present Research Work
7.2	Major Highlights of Present Work
7.3	Sugar Derived Fluorescent Carbon Dots – Scope and Future outlook

This chapter is devoted for summarizing the entire thesis. Herein, major highlights of our research findings and future scope of the prepared system are discussed briefly. As the material "carbon dot" is still remaining as a "mystic star in the nano-world", bright scope of scientific investigations is of course awaited.

#### 7.1 Summary of the Present Research Work

As is evident from previous chapters of the thesis, this was a genuine attempt for developing a novel strategy to carbon dots that ensures environmental compatibility, economic viability as well as effortless experimental procedure for designing bright luminescent carbon dots with promising features that could be exploited for a wide range of applications. For this, we have conducted a detailed literature survey regarding previous works on fluorescent carbon dot systems for significant applications in various fields, spending more time on numerous scientific reviews detailing their structure and properties. Owing to the increased thirst for environmental benign synthesis of any material, we focused our research on fabrication of promising carbon dot systems from abundantly available natural precursors. Interesting features of sugar prompted us to choose commercially available table sugar as the staring material for synthesising fluorescent carbon dots, which obeys one of the significant criteria of green chemistry i.e., safest raw material. Herein, we have utilized microwave energy for the successful formation of carbon particles of desired dimensions (below 10 nm) from table sugar-ammonia aqueous mixture within few minutes of irradiation. In this manner, the present research attempt can be viewed as a successful step for designing a benign, economic and easy formula to bright emitting carbon dots with promising features. Adequate characterisations confirm the formation of quasi-spherical carbon particles with average size of 3.8 nm with characteristic UV-Visible absorbance and fluorescence emission features. Spectroscopic studies confirm the presences of surplus

Oxygen bearing functionalities over the core of carbon dots. Carbon dots thus obtained are utilized for various applications including sensing of significant analytes, fabrication of efficient luminescent security markers, as well as a potent green alternative for chemical reducing agents.

The solution exhibited bright cyan emission with admirable photostability. The solution was also found to be highly bio-compatible in nature. Bright cyan emission of carbon dot solution was well exploited for the preparation of fluorescent markers with two different consistency; (i) luminescent ink and (ii) luminescent gel by mixing with naturally available binding agent, gum arabic/gum accacia, collected from the exterior bark of accacia tree. Luminescent ink was filled inside the cartilage of gel pen and successfully employed for patterning purposes. The prepared markers exhibit excellent applicability as it possesses strong adherence and patterning ability over various substrates, ranging from fabrics, plastics, glass plates and paper. Hence, these fluorescent carbon dot-gum accacia markers can serve as a promising anti-forgery/anti-counterfeiting tool for ensuring security to valuable files. documents and various branded commodities.

Apart from the fabrication of fluorescent markers, the system could serve as an excellent platform for quantitative monitoring of various significant analytes. The system offered naked eye monitoring of extremely lethal heavy metal ion, Pb<sup>2+</sup> even at minute concentrations, i.e., 14 parts per billion, highly commendable when compared to the

allowed concentration levels of the said ion in aqueous bodies. This novel observation was further scientifically corroborated well with the extra-ordinary affinity of Pb<sup>2+</sup> ions with surface, carboxylate groups of carbon dot structure. Combination of carbon dot solution with sufficient quantities of xanthene dye, Rhodamine-6G, forms efficient FRET pair, which further serves as a promising sensing medium for highly toxic heavy metal, Hg<sup>2+</sup> ions with appreciable detection limit in picomolar concentration (98 pM). Practical applicability of the system was also validated by conducting real sample Hg<sup>2+</sup> sensing assays. Negligible error percentages associated with these experimental results confirm its adaptability as a common man's Hg<sup>2+</sup>sensing device. Along with metal ions sensing, present carbon dot solution also offers quantitative monitoring of a set of nitro aromatic molecules with nitrobenzene parental frame work. The class of nitro aromatic molecule includes Nitro benzene, 4-Nitro aniline,4-Nitro phenol,4-Nitro toluene,4-Nitro benzaldehyde,4-Nitro benzoic acid and 4-chloro nitro benzene. The system enables highly selective and sensitive monitoring of all these analytes of similar structural origin with detection limit as low as femtomolar concentration. The reason for this aforementioned observation is explained well with the aid of widely accepted computational tools including global descriptors and donoracceptor mapping. A plausible mechanistic route to the sensing action was also suggested based on the observations. Experimental reactivity order of all the nitro aromatic compounds was found to be in good agreement with the computational results(combined effect of global descriptors and the corresponding DAM plots). Apart from the

Summary, Highlights and Future Perspectives of the Work

luminescence based applications, these particles are also projected as a potent benign alternative for chemical reducing agents. Owing to the presence of abundantly available surface oxygen groups (hydroxyl, carboxyl, carbonyl etc.,) the sugar derived carbon dots enable successful extraction of metallic silver via extremely facile experimental strategy form metal salt solution (AgNO<sub>3</sub>). The excellent reducing ability offered by sugar derived carbon dot solution was further extended to instantaneous synthesis of gold nanoparticles via benign and economic reaction route. The gold nanoparticles thus obtained exhibit commendable catalytic efficiency as evident by the successful conversion of 4-Nitrophenol to 4-Aminophenol.

### 7.2 Major Highlights of Present Work

- ✓ Novel attempt for designing benign and economic synthesis strategy to fluorescent carbon dots form commercially available table sugar via well-known Maillard reaction.
- ✓ This is the first report discussing the utilization of naturally available gum accacia/gum arabic as a binding agent for making fluorescent gel and fluorescent ink.
- ✓ This is the first report on naked eye sensing of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions via simple aggregation of carbon dots.
- ✓ Quantification of  $Pb^{2+}$  ions using simple turbidimeter is achieved.

Summary, Highlights and Future Perspectives of the Work

- This is the very first report on utilization of computational tools including global descriptors as well as donor-acceptor mapping for probing the sensing ability of carbon dot system.
- ✓ Present work discusses the first ever successful attempt for the extraction of metallic silver by means of an extremely facile strategy by from metal salt solution, utilizing the strong reducing ability of carbon dots. This extraction procedure was found to be highly economic, benign and commendably effortless.
- ✓ Small concentrations of carbon dots are utilized for instantaneous preparation of gold nanoparticles with excellen catalytic ability through an economic procedure using trace amounts of benign capping agent (starch solution).
- ✓ The prepared fluorescent markers (PL-Gel and PL-Ink) exhibit commendable adherence over a wide range of substrates including cotton thread, glass plate, plastic sheet and paper.

# 7.3 Sugar Derived Fluorescent Carbon Dots – Scope and Future outlook

- Bio-Markers/bio-imaging tools: Owing to its excellent biocompatibility as well as commendable photo-stability, they can be further utilized for fabricating promising imaging tools for tracing the functioning of various body cells/tissue.
- Drug Delivery applications: As carbon dot structures were reported to be extremely sensitive towards structural

modifications including heteroatom doping/surface functionalisation etc, fine tuning of its structural frame works will mould them as promising carriers for various drug molecules to the target sites. Extreme biocompatible nature possessed by the carbon dots ensures safe delivery of drugs within living body cells without any harmful side effects.

- Pesticides/insecticide sensor: As the fluorescence intensity of the carbon dot solution was found to be quenched by the addition of some external agents including heavy metal ion and nitro aromatic molecules, the class of introduced analytes can be extended to large organic structures too, comprising of significant insecticides/pesticides.
- Extending the optical sensing feature towards other analytes by fine tuning the structure of carbon dots: by Structural modifications of surface means passivation/functionalisation/ hetero atom doping will tailor the features of TS-CDs for desired applications. By tuning the surface functional groups, luminescence behaviour of the carbon dot solution gets altered and may thereby result numerous possible quenching interactions with a wide spectrum of external agents including ions (cations and anions), organic molecules, bio-molecules, reaction parameters including pH, viscosity, temperature etc.,
Great scope for scientific investigations on structure as well as photoluminescence mechanism of carbon dots: Despite the innumerable research efforts in the field of carbon dots, the unavailability of a widely-accepted structural format as well as unanimous fluorescence mechanism leaves this area as a hot spot for intense /meticulous research and investigations. Thus, carbon dot research is still in a developing phase. This will open many doors to research efforts including alterations in synthesis strategy such as tuning of reaction time, temperature, pH, solvents, energy source and concentration of reaction mixture. Systematic analysis of various characterization results of each product obtained after aforesaid alterations in the synthesis procedure will definitely shed light on the structural aspects well as the underlying fluorescence as features/mechanism of the system.

Some studies were conducted in this regard by altering the adopted synthesis procedure of table sugar derived cyan emitting carbon dots. For this, we have conducted the carbon dot synthesis by changing some reaction parameters such as pH, pyrolyzing temperature of sugar, time of irradiation as well asthe synthesis strategy. Corresponding results are summarized in table 7.1.

## **Reaction Conditions**

## **Present Work**

- Microwave irradiation of sugar slurry and dilute ammonia solution at 120 °C for 3 minutes (pH = 5.6)
- Same reaction conditions, except the change in pH to 4.5 with the addition of 0.1N HCl
- Same reaction conditions, except the change in pH to 1.3 with the addition of 1N HCl
- Except the pyrolysis conditions, all other parameters kept as same

( pyrolysis temperature- 150 °C &irradiation time- 5 minute)

#### Digital image of solution under 360 nm excitation in UV chamber



Intense cyan Emission



Intense white Emission



Intense yelloworange emission



Intense yellow emission



Deep probing in to the optical features of the solutions is believed to bring some scientific conclusions regarding the fluorescence mechanism, as well as the structural features of the sugar derived carbon dot system. Many research efforts in literature end up with some vague statements regarding the interpretation of exact structure and fluorescence mechanism of carbon dot systems. We strongly believe that meticulous analysis of characterization results of these samples will definitely pave way to significant findings regarding the structure and fluorescence feature of sugar derived carbon dots. Studies in this direction are in progress.

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS



5		Antagonistic interaction of Pb <sup>2+</sup> - Al <sup>3+</sup> ion pair with Sugar derived Carbon dots: Visual monitoring of Al <sup>3+</sup> ions , V.A. Ansi, N.K. Renuka , <i>j. Colloids Surf. A. 593 (2020)</i> 124632 (Elsevier) DOI:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2020.124632
6	materials letters	Table sugar derived carbon nanodots for the extraction of bulk silver, V.A. Ansi, N.K. Renuka, <i>Mater. Lett.</i> , 284 (2021) 128985 (Elsevier) DOI:10.1016/j.matlet.2020.128985
7	<page-header></page-header>	Table Sugar derived Carbon Dot - A promising Green Reducing Agent, Ansi V.A , Sreelakshmi P, Raveendran Poovathinthodiyil, Renuka N.K Mater.Res.Bull.,139 (2021) 111284(Elsevier). DOI: 10.1016/j.materresbull.2021.111284
8	<text><text><section-header><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></section-header></text></text>	Acetic acid derived carbon dots as efficient pH and bio-molecule sensor, Ansi V.A, Ritu G, Thasleena panakkal, Aji A Anappara and N.K Renuka, <i>int j environ an ch.</i> , 2019.10.1080/03067319.2019.1669581 (Taylor and Francis) DOI: 10.1080/03067319.2019.1669581



# LIST OF PRESENTATIONS

- Oral presentation at International conference on energy environment and advanced materials for sustainable future, ICEEAMSF-2017 at Kongu Engineering College, Erode [ISBN No 978-81-933005-2-7]
- Oral presentation at International conference on advanced materials for technological applications,ICAM-18 (2018) held at PSGR Krishnammal college for women, peelamedu, Coimbatore
- Oral presentation at National seminar Frontiers in chemical sciences (FCS-2020) Advances in electrochemistry and materials science held at Calicut university, Thenjipalam 29-31 january 2020